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PROFILE OF THE GROUP

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“Top Spring” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”, “we"” or “us”) is a
conglomerate group integrating the real estate investment and development,
industrial operation, commercial property management, formative education
and emerging industries investment businesses operating in the mainland
(excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan Province, “Mainland China”) of
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”) and the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong").

The Group always adheres to the positioning of building quality property. With
a strong focus on the commercial and residential property investment and
development, asset management, industrial operation and other businesses
in the Greater Bay Area (as defined below), the centres of which are Hong
Kong, Shenzhen and Guangzhou, as well as the economically dynamic regions
including Shanghai, the Group actively leverages multinational operations and is
familiar with the characteristics of Hong Kong and Mainland China to integrate
global resources and develop sustainable metropolitan industry communities
through city-industry integration, serve urban development and industrial
upgrading and strive to become a practitioner on diversified investments in
facilitating the achievement of national strategies.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the Group recorded an aggregate of pre-sales of properties and car
park units of approximately HK$784.5 million (2023: HK$600.4 million), pre-
sold saleable gross floor area (“GFA") of 14,269 square metres (“sgq.m.”) (2023:
7,540 sq.m.).

In 2024, the Group’s rental income from investment properties was
approximately HK$223.1 million (2023: HK$217.2 million), representing
an increase of approximately 2.7%. As at 31 December 2024, the overall
occupancy rate of the Group’s investment properties was approximately 88.0%.
As at 31 December 2024, the total leasable GFA of the Group’s operating
investment property portfolio was approximately 301,768 sq.m. In addition,
as at 31 December 2024, the accumulated total area of properties managed
by the Group amounted to approximately 13,220,000 sg.m., of which
approximately 8,990,000 sg.m. was properties not developed by the Group and
approximately 773,000 sg.m. was commercial property management projects.

As at 31 December 2024, the land bank (that is, the net saleable/leasable GFA)
of 17 property projects of the Group was approximately 402,853 sq.m. In terms
of land bank strategy, the Group will primarily focus on the Greater Bay Area
and the first-tier cities in China, such as Shenzhen, Shanghai and Hong Kong.
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BUSINESS ANALYSIS

The pace of global economic recovery continued to diverge in 2024. The
macroeconomy in China was still able to achieve a year-on-year growth of
approximately 5.0% despite the challenges of intensifying international trade
frictions and escalating geopolitical risks and others. However, structural
conflicts became prominent with the industrial sector demonstrated robust
momentum while the recovery of the service sector is relatively lagging.
Insufficient consumer confidence of residents has led to sluggish domestic
demand with core CPI hovering at a low level and the supply-demand
imbalance had not been fundamentally reversed.

Under the strengthened policies on both the supply and demand sides, the real
estate industry is gradually entering a phase of bottoming out and stabilisation.
Central and local governments have released market potential through a basket
of measures to loosen demand side restrictions, such as “moderately loose”
monetary policies, the complete removal of purchase restrictions, the reduction
of mortgage rates, and the lowering of transaction taxes and levies. Throughout
the year, over 700 policies have been introduced across various regions, clearly
aiming for a “stop the decline and stabilise”. In addition, the government is
also alleviating debt pressure by issuing ultra-long-term government bonds and
special bonds, while simultaneously supporting employment and consumption,
injecting confidence into industry recovery.

In facing the complicated macro-environment and industry situation, the Group
always maintained its business strategy of seeking progress amidst stability.
While closely tracking the policy dynamics and market signals, the Group
deepened the assessment on industry trends, precisely controlled development
pace and resources allocation to consolidate enterprise resilience through
systematic risk management.
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For our urban industrial community business, Shanghai Top Spring International
Centre (with a GFA of approximately 100,000 sq.m.) was fully integrated into
the construction of Yangpu District Knowledge Innovation Zone, contributing
to the development of the “1+2+3+4" innovative and modernised industrial
system. The project construction focused on the digital economy industry and
attracted enterprises from the emerging sectors such as artificial intelligence,
online new economy, and creative design to settle in. Through continuous
optimisation of industrial carriers, services, and ecosystems, the project has been
developed into an urban industrial community with a comprehensive set of
industrial, commercial, cultural, financial and residential functions. It leveraged
the advantages conferred by industry policies and regional resources such
as artificial intelligence and big data (cloud computing) industries in Yangpu
District, Yangpu Area of Greater Zhangjiang Hi-tech Park and “Headquarters
Economy (%2 ZB 4% 5% )" and “Two Priorities (F% {E & 5¢)" policies of Yangpu
District, and focused on the incubation function of technological innovation
to enhance commercial solicitation attractiveness. Through constructing the
“Top Spring Space (3 %8 f&)” incubator and Top Spring Enterprise Service
Center, we built a one-stop enterprise service window for the Bay Valley
Technology Park, forming a multi-functional exhibition center for investment
solicitation, enterprise service, meeting and negotiation, and providing full-
cycle and diversified industrial services. Renowned companies such as Huawei,
Henkel (China), Rox, Tian Yu Eco-Environment, BONC, and Antong Holdings
have successively established their presence in Top Spring International Centre.
Meanwhile, we also supported the development of a number of innovative
enterprises, incubated and nurtured numerous specialised, refined, special,
novel enterprises, high-tech enterprises and unicorn companies. Relying on the
robust development of the low-altitude economy industry in Yangpu District,
we actively promoted the establishment of unmanned aerial vehicle landing
sites by Shanghai Geliheng (/& & 37 18), an enterprise that has just settled
in the Bay Valley Park, forging a demonstration project for the multi-scenario
application of low-altitude unmanned aerial vehicles in Yangpu District.
Through multi-dimensional synergistic efforts, the projects comprehensively
enhanced the brand influence, product competitiveness, and enterprise
agglomeration of the urban industrial community.
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For our urban renewal projects in Mainland China, the Group focused on
promoting the Jishengchang project in Longgang District, Shenzhen. Currently,
in accordance with the draft of the “Shenzhen Land Consolidation and Benefit
Coordination Measures” (I T £ 1 2 5 ) 28 H5 £ %8 5%)) that has been
released for public consultation, the Group has submitted a request to the
government of Longgang District for approval as a residential land project. The
project has been included in the “Shenzhen Land Consolidation Plan 2024"
(CFRINTH 2024 F Z L3 AEETE)) in October 2024 and was reviewed at a
meeting of Shenzhen Longgang District Government. It was also submitted to
the Municipal Government for review. We expect it to be approved for project
initiation in the fourth quarter of 2025. For the old factories renovation project
in Nansha District, Guangzhou, 52.5 mu of land has been included in the
“Dagang Annual Urban Redevelopment Planning 2024" (X i $82024 4 ¥
ME BB FE5H&])) and the “Guangzhou Annual Urban Redevelopment
Planning 2024" (E MM 2024 Sk T EHIE B FE 5 &1)). Subject to the
review and approval by Nansha District regarding the “Adjustment Plan for
the Control Regulations” (% #i ¥ 75 %)) of the planning units where the
land parcels are located, the Group will initiate the process of entering into an
agreement on land acquisition with the government of Nansha District.

For the development and construction of projects under construction in
Mainland China, the Shenzhen Upper Residence, a high-end residential and
apartment project with a GFA of approximately 77,800 sq.m. and a total
value of approximately RMB2.5 billion was launched for sale in late September
2020 and has registered sales of approximately RMB2.1 billion as of the end
of 2024. Shenzhen Topspring International Mansion and Shenzhen Jianshang
Commercial Building, with an aggregate GFA of approximately 101,700 sq.m.,
are scheduled for sale in the second quarter of 2025. The districts where
these two projects are located have been included in the core urban zones of
Shenzhen and fall within the boundaries of Hongshan central business district
in Longhua District, Shenzhen. As the surrounding areas evolve into a cluster
for medium-to-high-end consumer brands, along with further improvements
in ancillary commercial facilities, the overall value of the projects will be further
enhanced.
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The Group's projects in Hong Kong were progressing as scheduled. The
128WATERLOO project in Hong Kong has launched new high-floor units
(The Upper Collection) for sale in the market, including the A, B, C units on
the 19th floor, and the GH units on the 20th floor (which are connected by
custom designs). The innovative design is expected to drive sales. Since the
project went on sale until the end of 2024, a total of 83 units have been sold,
achieving over HK$1.5 billion in sales revenue, including parking spaces. The
customers include many celebrities and professionals, and the connected units
of the project are highly sought after in the market. The Town Planning Board
has approved a plot ratio of 6 for the Sheung Shui Ma Sik Road Project (with
a site area of approximately 142,000 square feet), located in the Northern
Metropolis of Hong Kong, which is currently undergoing a land exchange
application. The Group is also preparing to discuss the land exchange matters at
the meeting of the Lands Department in the first quarter of 2025 as scheduled.
The Group also continues to actively explore various channels to identify
investment opportunities in premium projects, ensuring sustained investment
and development in the Hong Kong market.

For commercial and property management, the Ministry of Commerce of
China positioned 2024 as the “Consumption Promotion Year”, emphasising
domestic demand expansion. However, insufficient growth momentum of the
domestic commercial consumer market caused consumption potential difficult
to fully unleash in the near future. In facing the market changes toward
cautious consumption, Top Spring Commercial also faced the higher pressure
of soliciting tenants in addressing its rental shortfall and stabilising business
operation. As of the end of 2024, the average occupancy rate of Top Spring
Commercial’s projects was 90%, with 164 merchants signed throughout the
year, a year-on-year increase of approximately 21.7% in rented area. Top
Spring Commercial focused on introducing renowned fashion chain brands.
Similarly, the domestic property market in Mainland China was affected by
the fluctuations in the economic environment, with the residential properties
facing three reductions (reduction in property charges, collection rates, and
satisfaction) and one increase (increase in property exchange frequency), and
the competition in non-residential properties gradually evolved into “red sea”
layout. Top Spring Property has taken various cost reduction and efficiency
improvement measures to stabilise property revenue and profit. Currently, we
have managed 98 property projects under contract with an aggregate GFA of
13.22 million sgq.m., among which 3 have been awarded the title “Exemplary
Residential Communities with Excellence in Property Management at Provincial
Level” and 7 have been awarded the title “Exemplary Residential Communities
with Excellence in Property Management at Municipal Level”. The operating
income of the projects under management remained stable.
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In the coming year, for the commercial business, the Company will focus
more on balancing its cash flow and profit, and is committed to the effective
improvement in various aspects such as introducing popular brand merchants,
and optimising commercial business portfolio to ensure maximising asset return.
For the property business, while optimising the project mix and stabilising
business revenue, it will expand into premium projects developed by other
developers and promote the development of the property service market in the
non-residential segments (including urban facilities, public buildings, schools), in
a bid to achieve a stable development.

For the education business, with it entering the social and economic adjustment
period and the complicated and ever-changing external environment, the
education team had actively addressed the challenges and took multiple
measures to consolidate the foundation, promote steady development, and
achieve progress amidst stability. In terms of strategic layout, we studied
the adjustment of campus distribution areas and formulated new campus
construction plans, whilst also optimising student enrollment strategies and
expanding student enrollment scale to gradually form a regional school
network layout. In terms of brand building and market expansion, we actively
participated in public activities to escalate brand recognition, and at the same
time established strategic partnership with mainstream media to reach a wider
spectrum of audience. Simultaneously, we also paid attention to improving
teaching quality, and upgrading some core courses to ensure them remained at
the forefront. Further, we strengthened the construction of the teaching squad,
improved the quality supervision system, and established a long-term evaluation
mechanism for employees. With attempts in the technological application, we
constantly promoted the integration of technology with education and utilised
advanced educational technologies to offer more interactive and personalised
education models. We synchronously introduced advanced teaching facilities to
achieve intelligent campus renovation.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK

Firmly anchoring on the development opportunities in the
core cities and regions in the Greater Bay Area

The synergistic effect of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area will continue to be unleashed, with the regional industrial chains deeply
integrated, the infrastructure connectivity and the augmented population
agglomeration effects continued to enhance, providing long-term growth
momentum for the real estate market. The Group will closely follow the
strategic planning and key areas on the construction of the Greater Bay Area,
focus on the core cities like Shenzhen and Guangzhou, and advance the
development and delivery of existing projects. Meanwhile, we will actively
explore strategic investment opportunities in those areas such as urban
redevelopment and industrial parks.

Maintaining and moderately expanding rental properties
that generate stable income

The counter-cyclical nature of commercial and office properties will continue
to provide stable rental income to the Group, which is a key component of
the Company’s stable cashflow. The Group is committed to optimising the
operation of premium property assets with its sound asset management
capabilities, aiming to enhance rental income and profitability while preserving
and increasing the value of our properties.

Focusing on Hong Kong while actively seizing overseas
investment opportunities

The Group is full of confidence about Hong Kong’s pivotal role within the
Greater Bay Area, as well as the development potential in its northern
metropolitan area. Against the backdrop of enhancing regional collaboration,
with the facilitated population immigration through the continued expansion of
a number of talent schemes such as the “Top Talent Pass Scheme” and also the
return of expatriates, the advantages of Hong Kong being a financial, shipping
and trade hub will become more prominent. The Group will continue to keep
an eye on the investment opportunities in Hong Kong, and leverage our
strengths to build high-end boutique properties. While deepening its presence
in the Hong Kong market, the Group will expand high-quality projects.
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Gaining insight into potential investment opportunities to
foster new business growth points

The Group will continue to monitor market dynamics and industry trends and
focus on new economic development opportunities. In line with its actual
development needs, the Group will integrate resources and invest prudently,
facilitating synergistic development of its diversified businesses and core real
estate business by capturing business breakthroughs and growth points to
boost the robust growth of the Group’s business.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all our colleagues for their
hard work and dedication. The trust and recognition of our shareholders are
our driving force in such era of uncertainties. We will continue to create the
maximum value for our shareholders and contribute to our society on an
ongoing basis.

Wong Chun Hong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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HONOURS AND AWARDS
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CERTIFICATE OF HONOR

CORMpAHOD

S w2023 ) WA
AR HE SR

ﬁﬂ)‘é‘ﬂ(" Ei&?ﬁi‘!ﬁﬁyﬁ!
2024537 12 5 H A SR |
RRENEAERAR |

AL EA A
| #2023 EREHLTRL

.3
2 _edba, &)
REBBREBRERAR KE RS S
204 HEEREEKE MRS S =Y g
BIE SRR KT EEHE

Top Spring International Holdings Limited
2024 Qutstanding Real Estate
Management and Teamwork

Guardian Index Academy

Chengdu Fashion Mark

Community Business Contribution Award
Chengdu Retailers Business Association

B T A 5 ol B 5 AT IR

*% BB KN R AR ! DB ORGP
OETEMEE: UROFPER. RRONBARFEIN: DE
OBEHRE. AEETHYRREEY !

FHNRRBEEXERAF

RETRRAFEERARAA

2024 F BT B BR 5% RX AT AR
MAEHEETIZRER BB T M & A L

Changzhou Top Spring Landmark Real Estate Co., Ltd.
2024 Tax Contribution Award
Party Working Committee of Nandajie Street

Chengdu Topspring Commercial
Management Co., Ltd.
Certificate of Appreciation
Chengdu Blood Center
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RERRE
HONOURS AND AWARDS

BRSMRRESNSS
HRT HEZEY HS.

REERTEENER D
(2R REEE

KREEH

RRRTREERRAHBAILUHEZES

Property Service Center of Laimeng Spring Garden
Honorary Certificate of “Star of Joint Management”
Hongshan Community Committee, Minzhi Street,
Longhua District, Shenzhen, China

FREFRERALBLT

ERRRS TERIF

LiEHHERFIHRNEALES
Zozm&E+—8

N
AR

RYTRRDERBER D F] RRBIREELEAT
A mRERERMETE-ZHZE R BARRKA BB L

A mRERERMETERS

Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.

Property Industry of Futian District, Shenzhen -
Beautiful Home Community
Property Industry Association of Futian District,
Shenzhen

LETHRRMINALSREALRES

Shanghai Branch of Top Spring International Holdings
Future Valley Intelligent Connection Station of Bay Valley
New Social Stratum Association of Yangpu District,
Shanghai
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OVERVIEW OF OUR BUSINESS

TRV -_F-_MF+-_A=1+—BRM
17EMEEBNHAFAHE A HERE
HRER (HERIMEREE D) -

Under
Development
GFA

P 5K

sg.m.

Completed
GFA

P 5K

sg.m.

The table below sets forth the net saleable and leasable GFA information of
our 17 property projects in terms of planned use of the properties as at 31
December 2024.

EARNBTEE
HIEERE

X £+ i iR
BEER
Contracted

to be Acquired

or under
Application
For Change In
Land Use GFA

P 5K

sg.m.

BIEHEWE Properties held for sale
= Residential 6,585 - 6,497
E3-3 Retail 28,285 58,020 -
Na Sub-total 34,870 50,820 6,497
FEREME Properties held for investment
TE/WRE Retail/Office 302,892 - -
R Campus 574 - -
NE Subtotal 303,466 - -
FAHERTHERELMEME Netsaleable and leasable GFA 338,336 58,020 6,497
REERBRETESNEH ZFUHERTHEEEERE
RZBE_NFE+_A=+—H
Estimated net saleable and leasable GFA by development status and city
as at 31 December 2024
1.6% 0.4% 2.1%
19.8%
33.4%
REREERE D RS
HREEH AT RS
GFA by GFA by
Development Status ‘ City
6.5%
9.5%
24.2%
= ®TIER Completed projects 338,336 ® R R E5E Shenzhen and 134,537 K Tianjin 16,660
= £EIEA Projects under development 58,020 DoqcvRiy m EM Changzhou 79,649
" BETAS TR E S Projects contracted to be 6,497 = bE SN T 2218 = Ef Kunming 1,415
IEfEER B T3 acquired or under application R EB Chengdu 38,325 S
A#EmIER for change in land use . o e 26,264 i Hong. Koy A 48,477
HEEEE Total GFA 402,853
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:ﬁ:miiﬁ@@
(1) FEEE

REVIEW OF BUSINESS IN 2024

(1) Pre-sales

E"_g_llfl¢ AEEBEMEREE
I TEE 58 A £ 4784,500,000% JT (H &
#9779,800,000 8 TR EMFXTEERE) -

B -E - ZFEIN4307% c AEBETE
%,ﬁ@ﬁi SEIEL B14,269F K & —

T =ENIAI89.2% c R Z U4

ZISEI:E@%,\:.%’J’%{?‘;(WY:J%FJ)
BT KA 54,6499 T (ZE =45
BEFK47835548t) KT =
FTRMBH303% AEBMYEBETFY
EETHRDEEAR T _NFEFHR
HMHAMEBEE FHEER_T_=
FHRFEHEBRESEAE - I &
EER T -_NEMNEENBEENE
4,700,000 7T ©

REBRBE-_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—
Etiﬁﬂﬁ%%&%ﬁu 78 & 42 %8 A3 4
E PN,

(a) MEREH

BE - BAXHR

Project - type of project

In 2024, the Group recorded an aggregate of pre-sales of properties and
car park units of approximately HK$784.5 million (of which approximately
HK$779.8 million was from pre-sales of properties), representing an
increase of approximately 30.7% as compared with 2023. The Group’s
total pre-sold GFA was approximately 14,269 sq.m., representing an
increase of approximately 89.2% as compared with 2023. The average
selling price (“ASP") of the Group’s pre-sales of properties in 2024 was
approximately HK$54,649.9 per sq.m. (2023: approximately HK$78,355.4
per sg.m.), representing a decrease of approximately 30.3% as compared
with 2023. The decrease in ASP of the Group’s pre-sales of properties
was mainly due to the pre-sales of properties in Mainland China in 2024,
which has a relatively lower ASP as compared with 2023. In addition, the
Group's pre-sales of car park units in 2024 was approximately HK$4.7
million.

A breakdown of the total pre-sales of the properties and car park units of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out as follows:

(@) Pre-sales of properties

CHEREER BEH
Pre sold GFA Pre-sales

BEFHER
Pre-sales ASP

BEAT B/ K
HK$ million HK$/sq.m.

X2 Tianjin KAERSH Tianjin Le Leman City

—f¥E ~ residential 3,485 24.4 29.1 3.7 8,350.1
w31 Shenzhen #YIKHEEERE Shenzhen Upper Residence

-/ ¥ - residential/commercial 4,443 311 248.9 320 56,020.7
&% Hong Kong A% 128 WATERLOO  Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO

-fFE ~ residential 1,178 8.3 4725 60.6 401,103.6
®M  Changzhou  HE#HE—FM Fashion Mark - Changzhou 3,340 234 212 2.7 6,347.3
BR Nanjing KR X — R The Sunny Land - Nanjing 1,106 7.8 4.0 0.5 3,616.6
R  Nanjing KHER R The Spring Land - Nanjing 717 5.0 4.1 0.5 57183
#it  Total 14,269 100 779.8 100 54,649.9
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(b) FEALEEHE

Project

(b) Pre-sales of car park units

EREFENHE RER REFHER

Number of pre-sold
car park units

Pre-sales Pre-sales ASP

& BEAT B/
HK$
million HK$/unit

®M  Changzhou  HE#E—FM Fashion Mark - Changzhou 18 29.0 17 36.2 94,444 4
ER  Nanjing RS —FR The Sunny Land - Nanjing 42 67.7 2.9 61.7 69,047.6
R Nanjing KEER-ER The Spring Land - Nanjing 2 33 0.1 2.1 50,000.0
62 100 4.7 100 75,806.5
(2 R=ZB-MERXNRAKRNER (2) Projects delivered and booked in 2024

HE-ZE-_WMF+-_A=1+—HLFE"
REBRKE - FILEENMERRE
E¥BEEMEHERA (TEIEFEAHE
) 47804,300,000/% 7T ' [A B E FER K
Al EREABELN A8644F F K BE
BT ZHF+_A=+—HIEFEED
B AN4I99.9% RKILMNLIA1.1% - BLEZ
T-_WNFE+_A=+—HBHILEFE F&%
EHEMENCHERFEHEBHAEF
FK93,04728 L - BEZZTZMF+=
A=+—HLEFE BERAFLHEEE
M 7%  HEEHRAEEREED
FEEBEBMERRYEHESE (FEER
BAHE)MMEEPER (ZEEENTE
HEBEERS) AT

HE_T-_WNE+_A=Z+—ALF
B AEBX H&ﬁﬁw1~$u$ﬁ )
2,500,000 7T + & I 39 fE{F Bz

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s property development
business in Tianjin, Shenzhen and Hong Kong achieved revenue from sale
of properties (excluding sale of car park units) of approximately HK$804.3
million with saleable GFA of approximately 8,644 sq.m. being recognised,
representing an increase of approximately 99.9% and an increase of
approximately 41.1%, respectively, as compared with the year ended 31
December 2023. The recognised ASP of the Group’s sale of properties was
approximately HK$93,047.2 per sq.m. for the year ended 31 December
2024. The approximate 41.7% increase in recognised ASP was primarily
attributable to the fact that a significant proportion of the recognised
sale of properties (excluding sale of car park units) was contributed by the
Group’s residential projects in Hong Kong, which have a relatively higher
ASP during the year ended 31 December 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group delivered and
recognised the sale of car park units of approximately HK$2.5 million from
the sale of 39 car park units.
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AEER-_Z_NFEFHEROIVWERESE Details of sale of properties and car park units of the Group recognised in
HEFBITROT 2024 are listed below:
[EPN:
e [BF: =R
BEEER MEHEERE FHEE
Saleable Sale of
GFA properties Recognised
HE - HAER Project - type of project booke: recognised ASP
K BE&AT B/ TRk
HK$ million HK$/sg.m.
KE  Tianjin KA Tianjin Le Leman City
—{F=E - residential 2,936 20.7 7,050.4
Yl Shenzhen YK E ER Shenzhen Upper Residence
—Ex TE — residential/commercial 3,205 229.5 67,769.1
&#  HongKong &/ 128 WATERLOO Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO
—fF=E - residential 1,786 550.0 398,046.3
R Nanjing K EFER—BER The Spring Land — Nanjing 717 41 5,718.3

8,644 804.3 93,047.2

SRR
[EPN FEA =%
FENHE SHEH FHEE

Number of Sale of car

car park park units Recognised
Project units booked recognised ASP
f BEET ;

unit HK$ million HK$/unit

%  Nanjing KIS H — R The Sunny Land - Nanjing 39 25 66.666.7
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REEEERENYEIN REETTH
g8l AR EMEEAE  TERE
BYEE HEAERL  TEFERE
By AR B A A K E R R -
BMNEZHE RXKZHEPL M
ISR EE DL SRIIKEIIEED - Bk EBHE
S LEER EREMHEEXER
FYEMERES  ARMNREBHN
EEAGHEA - R_T-_NE+_A
—t—H AEEREMENBAAE
{E#) %6,378,400,000/8 70 ' 1E AEBEE
EMRELN38.4%  AEBIREWMEALAEGH
T%ﬂ%%@@ AT IEH) 5301,768F 75 K ©
E-Z-_NF+A=+—RHLEFE "
REERS &ﬁ%%@ﬁf@@ﬁ@wf
IEFEFIE) £7915,900,0008 7T (B = —
*:¢+*H*+—E¢¢ﬁ-&§%¥
EoBEABELENRENELAAEBE
U %549 13,200,000 BT (FIRRELERIE) ) ©

AEERBEENERTEMN  BRME
WHEER mHEHASKERHEPHNE
REEZZRAZBLAERKEAS - K
EEWSIARBEENAS BYOREAEER
RABEEEBE ASEHZZNEEN
HEFIERPEFAEENHOER
HEBREZENE R  EHEREEN
MEBEBAREREBOTEREERS -
RZEBE-_WNF+_A=+—H0 £A&£H
WMBENBER(BE—REMEREREE
HEEHERRLEEEBIB10.0%) T
il EFM$%I%@¢&§%%
MAEEEmEN379% (R _E-_=F
+—A=+—H8 :429.6%) °

AEEREMENEREERR-_T ==
F+-_RF=+— Hmws%ﬁmi_?
“HFE+=ZA=+—H#%88.0% - &EH=
T_WNE+_A=+—HBLFE" m%
B E A4 4 U A 49223,100,000 7 7t © %
BE-_ZE-_=#+=-A=+—HItEE
#9217,200,000 BTG INAI2.7% © B E —
“HFE+-—A=+t—BHLFEEAEH
EERREMENAARSKRANES
FHAK82B T (BE_E-_=F+_A
=t+—BLEFE: OBETFHKEI3IH
JT) °

In addition to the sale of properties developed by the Group, the Group
has also leased out or expects to lease out its investment property
portfolio comprising mainly shopping malls, community commercial
centres, retail shops and car park units in The Spring Land — Shenzhen,
Changzhou Fashion Mark, Dongguan Landmark, Hangzhou Landmark,
Shenzhen Water Flower Garden, Chengdu Fashion Mark, Shanghai Bay
Valley, Kunming Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula and Shenzhen Excellence
Times Square in Mainland China and Kowloon Tong Rutland Quadrant
Project in Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2024, the total fair value of
the investment properties of the Group was approximately HK$6,378.4
million, representing approximately 38.4% of the Group's total assets.
The Group's investment property portfolio had a total leasable GFA
of approximately 301,768 sq.m. The Group recorded approximately
HK$915.9 million (net of deferred tax) as loss in fair value of its investment
properties for the year ended 31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31
December 2023: approximately HK$13.2 million (net of deferred tax) as
gain in fair value of its investment properties and investment properties
classified as held for sale).

The Group carefully plans and selects tenants based on factors such as a
project’s overall positioning, market demand in surrounding areas, market
levels of rent and development needs of tenants. The presence of large-
scale anchor tenants which the Group has attracted enhances the value of
its projects. The Group enters into longer-term and more favourable lease
contracts with such anchor and reputable tenants which include well-
known brands, chain cinema operators, reputable restaurants and top
operators of catering businesses. As at 31 December 2024, the GFA taken
up by these anchor and reputable tenants, whose leased GFA was over
10.0% of the total leasable GFA of a single investment property, made up
approximately 37.9% (as at 31 December 2023: approximately 29.6%)
of the Group’s total leasable area in its investment properties under
operation.

The occupancy rate of the Group’s investment properties increased
from approximately 82.5% as at 31 December 2023 to approximately
88.0% as at 31 December 2024. The Group generated rental income of
approximately HK$223.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing an increase of approximately 2.7% from approximately
HK$217.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The average
monthly rental income of the Group's investment properties under
operation for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately
HK$84.2 per sq.m. (for the year ended 31 December 2023: approximately
HK$69.3 per sg.m.).
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The PRC
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Kunming Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula

R-Z-_mWFE+=-A=+—H

“HE+ZA=ZT-BHWL

IR
Chengdu Fashion Mark

17 property projects

WA7EYxEE as at 31 December 2024
® 2R TIER Completed projects
® TERIER Projects under development

@ FHERRERKEFL
B TBENREERFNE
TIAERNIEE

O RESREEOTERT

Projects held for future
development or contracted to
be acquired or under application
for change in land use

Major city with high speed railway

High speed railway
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(4) Land bank as at 31 December 2024

gy

R
ianjin Le'Leman City

Iy =3

&
— Changzhou Fashion Mark

EiEERIER
Shanghai Bay Valley Project

HUMSEER R s

Hangzhou Landmark

REREREEFR D

.,uc %o onggu A ,— Dongguan Landmark
& D,

gzho | Hong Kong i LKEERER
. Hong Kong Sheung Shui
ﬁv;‘ﬂll h Ma Sik Road Project
Shenzhen #7128 WATERLOO

Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO
giﬂlhkﬁf ERNEEEREEE
Shenzhen Water Flower Garden Hong Kong Kowloon Tong

RYR L Rutland Quadrant Project
Shenzhen Hidden Valley
KEEFERX -

The Spring Land - Shenzhen
RN RS

Shenzhen Excellence

Times Square

RINE LR KR
Shenzhen Jianshang
Commercial Building

RYIABE £ RE
Shenzhen Upper Residence

YR EIRR A E
Shenzhen Topspring
International Mansion
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AEBRPEXNER RT=AM FEh -
RERBAMLBEEENTREBOER
REBUREEZMENERRBEE - K
SERPEKNER RTI=AM FEP-
RERKAMLBEEENTREBOER
REEAREEMENERREE

RZE-_WNE+_A=+—8 K&EH
BEALI7TEERTREREERNYE
BE BREGTFIHEE AHEEE
E1E#338,336 F A KMERTIEE « 1
AT EEE A M E B S A 458,020
FHKRMERELE REHFAHEE 7
THEREmELNG6,497 F XN BT A5
THRENEERBFRE L MARNIESR
FTEEE MG FIHEE MHAERE
FEAF# A402,853F 5K EREFFE
LU

HEAR

Project

no. W

Region/City

B®RIER
Completed Projects

Project

The Group is specialised in the development and operation of urban
mixed-use communities and the development and sale of residential
properties in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta, the Central
China, the Beijing-Tianjin and the Chengdu- Chongging regions in the
PRC.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 17 property projects
in various stages of development, including an estimated net saleable/
leasable GFA of completed projects of approximately 338,336 sq.m., an
estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of projects under development of
approximately 58,020 sg.m., and an estimated net saleable/leasable GFA
of projects contracted to be acquired or under application for change in
land use of approximately 6,497 sq.m., totalling an estimated net saleable/
leasable GFA of approximately 402,853 sg.m., the details of which are as
follows:

A BAHE
AHEREEE
Estimated net
saleable/
leasable GFA

AEEEGREE
Interest
attributable to
the Group

HEER Type of project

1 A Shenzhen RYIKAE L Shenzhen Hidden Valley FE Residential 996 100.0

2 A Shenzhen KER - R The Spring Land - Shenzhen % Commerdial 33,454 100.0

3 3l Shenzhen IR ER Shenzhen Water Flower Garden 7% Commercial 4,992 100.0

4 BN Changzhou  ENEEHE Changzhou Fashion Mark [EES Commerdial 79,649 100.0

5 R Dongguan REREHERDL Dongguan Landmark [EES Commerdial 20,172 100.0

6 M Hangzhou MMEREERL Hangzhou Landmark [SES Commercial 26,264 100.0

7 B E Chengdu RBESHEG Chengdu Fashion Mark [SES Commercial 38,325 100.0

8 Xz Tianjin REFRSH Tianjin Le Lemen City F%,/H%  Residential/Commercial 16,660 58.0

9 s Shanghai EARE Bay Valley Project [ Commercial 97,526 70.0

10 G HongKong ~ BEENEREEMEEE Hong Kong Kowloon Tong R& Campus 574 100.0
Rutland Quadrant Project

1 EH Kunming BEHEDHEYS Kunming Dianchi Lakeside [EES Commercial 1,415 100.0
Peninsula

12 sl Shenzhen RYIKBE ERE Shenzhen Upper Residence FE/7%  Residential/Commercial 6,237 100.00

13 EE Hong Kong #7128 WATERLOO ~ Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO = Residential 1,406 60.0

14 R Shenzhen R EHERES Shenzhen Excellence Times [EE3 Commerdial 1,135 100.0
Square

15 3l Shenzhen RN LA AR Shenzhen Jianshang Commercial 7% Commercial 9,531 100.0
Building

it Sub-total 338,336
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R HE
THEREER AKEEGES
5B R Estimated net Interest
Project B,/ saleable/  attributable to
no. W Region/City 18H Project HEER Type of project leasable GFA the Group
FRK %
sg.m. %
HREER
Projects under Development
16 sl Shenzhen AFRFERRE Shenzhen Topspring International  Z% Commercial 58,020 100.0
Mansion
Nt Sub-total 58,020

BANRTRESEERFARZ LU ARNER

Projects Contracted to be Acquired or under Application for Change in Land Use

17 EE HongKong & LKH#EEIEE  Hong Kong Sheung ShuiMa Sk (£ Residential 6,497 50.0
Road Project

Nt Sub-total 6,497
@i Total 402,853
REEWMHO T EESSIHI 0T Details of land bank in major cities are set out below:
fhat %
ASHE AHEE
EEmE
Estimated net
saleable/leasable
B, Region/City GFA
sq.m.
IR EBE (BIERE) Shenzhen and surrounding regions (including Dongguan) 134,537
abict Shanghai 97,526
P ED Chengdu 38,325
Al Hangzhou 26,264
PAy= Tianjin 16,660
B Changzhou 79,649
=15 Kunming 1,415
BB Hong Kong 8,477

st Total 402,853
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AEBERBEBREER  EHNEER
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EAMLH YKBEEXKEEIBR
AR ERETERN TR o utoh
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SNFEMACEE L A BERIERE NS
wEEEFLEIRR  LERXNER (2

?Eg/% /Kﬂ”&%m) &J:/
B 75 [0 R
RZZE_HWHF AEEBEEHRANE

1,369,300,0008 T * #HEL =T = = F1E 40
4435% - HE-_FE-_MNWF+-_A=+—H
IEFE AREREEBRE RKA#REFE
H(kATBRBRESFFEABRLBEEOR
1,832,600,000/8 7T * M A F &S AR R EE
BREKATBRBRESFEABGEEEN A
876,900,000 L - HE2 T -_WF+ = A
=+ —HIFE AEESNARRRRG ([RE])
BRERREEEES R AL1.2087T%1.20
BLT(BEE-_=F+-_A=1+—RHLLFE:
DAl AEH057 BT K057 L) o AR AIER
R B KA RREBLFFEARBGEREEF
BERZEZ=F+=ZRA=+—H4538BLHE
DEI245% 2T -NF+=A=+—H#%40
/%TE"

ExeTEaERNEBEE_Z_NOE+ A
ST -HEFENREBRE(BE_ZT_=F
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WAEWMEHERA - HEWARRFANER
HYEERE MAREREOBMAA R ERHEHE
MR RS BRER A A (B HIBR I E T A R Ho A
HEMBANIER AT

The Group intends to continue to leverage its experience in identifying
land parcels in and/or outside the PRC with investment potential at
advantageous times and acquiring land reserves which are or will be
well connected with transportation and infrastructure developments.
Moreover, the Group intends to continue to acquire new land parcels or
projects in locations in and/or outside the PRC with vibrant economies
and strong growth potential, in particular, the Greater Bay Area (including
Hong Kong, Shenzhen and Dongguan) and Shanghai.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

In 2024, the Group’s consolidated revenue reached approximately HK$1,369.3
million, increased by approximately 43.5% as compared with 2023. The
loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of
perpetual subordinated convertible securities (“PCSs”) for the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately HK$1,832.6 million, as compared to a
loss attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company and holders of
PCSs of approximately HK$876.9 million recorded in the previous year. For
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s basic and diluted loss per
share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) were approximately HK$1.20 and
HK$1.20 respectively (for the year ended 31 December 2023: approximately
HK$0.57 and HK$0.57, respectively). Net assets per Share attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company and the holders of PCSs decreased by
approximately 24.5% from approximately HK$5.3 as at 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$4.0 as at 31 December 2024.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31 December 2023: Nil).

Revenue represents income from sale of properties, rental income and income
from provision of property management and related services and income from
provision of education related services earned during the year, net of value-
added tax and other sales related taxes and discounts allowed.
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BE-_Z-_NFE+_A=1+—BILFEH
WABREBEE T -_=F+-_A=+—81t
F [Z #)954,300,0008 LG 1 4943.5% = 4
1,369,300,0008 7T - WWAE M FEF EHNAE
EEHERAEN BE_S_NF+=
A=+ HLEFE ALSECHERAMEHE
E 49806,800,000% 7T * 15 42 L A £758.9%
AEBERHES U A 4223,100,000% 7T * 14
BUILAK163% - AEBEERMEEIERIE
78 IR 7% e A #9293,300,00078 JT » 15 42 W A 49
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Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 increased by approximately
43.5% to approximately HK$1,369.3 million from approximately HK$954.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. This increase was primarily
due to the increase in the Group's income from sale of properties. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised property sales of
approximately HK$806.8 million, representing approximately 58.9% of the
total revenue. The Group recognised rental income of approximately HK$223.1
million, representing approximately 16.3% of the total revenue. The Group
recognised property management and related services income of approximately
HK$293.3 million, representing approximately 21.4% of the total revenue. The
remaining approximately 3.4% of the total revenue of approximately HK$46.1
million was income from education related services.

Revenue from the Group's sales of properties increased by approximately
99.0% in 2024 as compared with 2023 primarily due to the increase in sale of
properties and car park units in Hong Kong and Shenzhen.

The principal component of direct costs is the cost of completed properties
sold, which consists of land premium, construction and other development
costs, capitalised borrowing costs during the construction period, the cost of
rental income, the cost of property management and related services and the
cost of education related services. The Group recognises the cost of completed
properties sold for a given period to the extent that revenue from such
properties has been recognised in such period.

The Group’s direct costs increased to approximately HK$1,486.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately HK$1,208.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. This increase was primarily attributable to the
increase in the sales of properties for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Gross loss

The Group recorded a gross loss of approximately HK$116.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 as compared to approximately HK$253.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group reported a gross loss margin
of approximately 8.5% for the year ended 31 December 2024 as compared to
a gross loss margin of approximately 26.6% for the year ended 31 December
2023. The gross loss was mainly due to the impairment of certain inventories.

Other revenue

Other revenue decreased by approximately HK$59.2 million, or approximately
37.3%, to approximately HK$99.6 million in 2024 from approximately
HK$158.8 million in 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease
in bank and other interest income.

Other net loss

Other net loss increased significantly by approximately 336.2% to approximately
HK$173.1 million in 2024 from approximately HK$39.7 million in 2023, mainly
due to net loss on disposal of associates amounting to approximately HK$107.2
million during the year.

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses increased by approximately 236.6% to
approximately HK$257.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from
approximately HK$76.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The increase in selling and marketing expenses was primarily attributable to
the increase in commission expenses incurred in 2024 as compared with 2023,
which is in line with the revenue.
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 11.9% to approximately
HK$197.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately
HK$176.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was due
to reversal of certain expenses in prior year.

Valuation (losses)/gains on investment properties

The Group recorded valuation losses on investment properties of approximately
HK$1,195.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 as compared
to valuation gains of approximately HK$14.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The turnaround from valuation gains to losses was primarily
due to the lower rental rate of respective properties in Mainland China in 2024.

Finance costs

Finance costs decreased by approximately 5.3% to approximately HK$303.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately HK$320.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was primarily
attributable to the repayment of certain bank loans during the year.

Income tax

Income tax credit was amounted to approximately HK$250.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024 as compared to income tax expenses of
approximately HK$63.9 million for the previous year. The change was primarily
attributable to the reversal of deferred tax liabilities due to valuation losses on
investment properties.

Non-controlling interests

The loss attributable to non-controlling interests was approximately HK$64.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31 December
2023: approximately HK$23.4 million).
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash position

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s cash and bank
deposits was approximately HK$1,756.7 million (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately HK$2,191.0 million), representing a decrease of approximately
19.8% as compared with that as at 31 December 2023.

Borrowings and charges on the Group’s assets

The Group had an aggregate borrowings (including bank and other borrowings
and lease liabilities) as at 31 December 2024 of approximately HK$6,514.9
million, of which approximately HK$2,665.4 million is repayable within one
year, approximately HK$2,801.9 million is repayable after one year but within
five years and approximately HK$1,047.6 million is repayable after five years.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank loans of approximately HK$5,721.0
million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately HK$6,490.7 million) were
secured by certain investment properties (inclusive of investment properties
classified as held for sale), other land and buildings, leasehold land held for
development for sale, properties under development for sale, completed
properties for sale, pledged deposits and rental receivables of the Group with
total carrying values of approximately HK$11,071.5 million (as at 31 December
2023: approximately HK$12,247.0 million).

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s bank and other borrowings were
denominated in RMB except for certain borrowings with an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$1,168.9 million (as at 31 December 2023:
approximately HK$1,759.6 million) and HK$743.7 million (as at 31 December
2023: approximately HK$979.2 million) as at 31 December 2024 which were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and US dollars, respectively.
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The Group's average cost of borrowings (calculated by dividing total interest
expenses expensed and capitalised by average borrowings during the year) was
approximately 7.1% in 2024 (2023: approximately 6.6%).

As at 31 December 2024, the weighted average borrowing cost for the Group'’s
existing borrowings was approximately 5.7% (2023: approximately 6.1%).

On 26 October 2018, Metro Property (BVI) Limited (“Metro Property”) and
Lee Kim Tah Holdings Limited as the lenders (the “Lender(s)"”), Top Spring
International (BVI) Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as
the borrower (the “Borrower"”), MetroLKT (BVI) Limited (“Metro-LKT") (as
the security agent and the facility agent) and the Company as the guarantor
(collectively, the “Parties”) entered into a secured facility agreement (the
“Secured Facility Agreement”), pursuant to which, among other things, the
Lenders agreed to provide the Borrower with the loan in an aggregate sum of
US$120,000,000 (equivalent to HK$938,400,000) (the “Loan”) for 24 months
from 26 October 2018 with an option of 12-month extension at the Borrower’s
request subject to additional terms and conditions specified in the Secured
Facility Agreement. The payment obligations of the Borrower under the Secured
Facility Agreement are secured by the share charges and the shareholder’s loans
assignment given by the Borrower in favour of Metro-LKT. The Loan was drawn
on 27 November 2018.

On 23 November 2020, the Parties entered into the first supplemental
agreement, whereby the term of the Loan was extended for two years and the
interest rate of the Loan for the extended term was lowered.

On 11 October 2022, the Parties entered into the second supplemental
agreement, whereby Lee Kim Tah Holdings Limited ceased to be a Lender
and the term of the Loan was extended by two additional years. The third
supplemental agreement was subsequently entered into on 5 August 2024 to
amend certain terms and conditions of the Secured Facility Agreement.
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On 26 November 2024, Metro Property, the Borrower, Metro-LKT (as the
security agent and the facility agent) and the Company (as the guarantor)
entered into the fourth supplemental agreement, whereby, among others, (i)
subject to the Lender’s quarterly consent, the new maturity dates of the Loan
under the fourth supplemental agreement and the 12-month extension are
27 November 2024 and 27 November 2025, respectively; (ii) the interest rate
will be lowered to 9% per annum if the final repayment date is extended for
12 months; and (iii) an additional share charge over the entire issued shares
of Faith Luck Corporation Limited has been executed by Wan Hua Holdings
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, in favour of
Metro-LKT.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 26
October 2018, 23 November 2020, 11 October 2022 and 26 November 2024
and the circulars of the Company dated 1 November 2018, 9 December 2020,
1 November 2022 and 24 December 2024.

Net gearing ratio

The net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the Group’s net borrowings
(total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents, and restricted and pledged
deposits) by the total equity. The Group's net gearing ratio was approximately
80.0% and 63.6% as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023,
respectively.
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Foreign exchange risk

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash balances denominated in
RMB of approximately RMB1,516.9 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,612.7 million), in US dollars of approximately US$0.2 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$1.4 million).

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB against Hong Kong dollars
as a result of its investment in mainland China and the settlement of certain
general and administrative expenses and other borrowings in Hong Kong
dollars. In addition, RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies and the
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to rules and regulations
of the foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC Government. The
Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Directors
monitor the Group’s foreign exchange exposure closely and may, depending on
the circumstances and trend of foreign currency, consider adopting significant
foreign currency hedging policy in the future.

NET ASSETS PER SHARE

Net assets per Share as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are calculated as
follows:

pLEeS j —=F
+=ZA=+—8H
As at

31 December
2023

R==Z=
—HA=t+—8H
As at
31 December
2024

+

Net assets attributable to equity shareholders

(F#T) of the Company (HK$'000) 6,068,736 8,092,201
BRTEEBREE (FR) Number of issued ordinary Shares ('000) 1,412,733 1,412,733
M ARTTEE K AR HRARE S BB (F&) Number of outstanding PCSs ('000) 116,553 116,553
BETE R EEFENRMEE  Number of Shares for the calculation of net

(Fr%) assets per Share ('000) 1,529,286 1,529,286
AN B4 7 AR B B oK A AT AR RE Net assets per Share attributable to equity

REAELBREEFEET) shareholders of the Company and the

(Ht3E) holders of PCSs (HK$) (Note) 4.0 5.3

MiE ARBEERRERKAATRRESFEARES
BB EFERKATRRESFHEAR-ZT N
F+—A=+—BR=F-_=£+—_HA=+—H
BHEBOKAAARE S RRDEE -

Note: The net assets per Share attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company and the
holders of PCSs is calculated as if the holders of PCSs have converted the PCSs into Shares
as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, save for the guarantees of approximately HK$164.5
million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately HK$242.3 million) given to the
financial institutions for the mortgage loan facilities granted to the purchasers
of the Group’s properties, the Group had no other material contingent
liabilities.

Pursuant to the mortgage contracts, the Group is required by the relevant
banks to guarantee its purchasers’ mortgage loans until it completes the
relevant properties and the property ownership certificates and certificates
of other interests with respect to the relevant properties are delivered to its
purchasers. If a purchaser defaults on a mortgage loan, the Group may have to
repurchase the underlying property by paying off the mortgage. If the Group
fails to do so, the mortgagee bank may auction the underlying property and
recover any shortfall from the Group as the guarantor of the mortgage loan.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

On 4 September 2024, (i) Top Spring International (Hong Kong) Company
Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) (“TSIHK"), Leading
Model Limited (“Leading Model”) and the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement and a sale loan agreement, pursuant to which TSIHK
agreed to sell, and Leading Model agreed to purchase from TSIHK, 10% of
the entire issued share capital of Great Billion Corporation Limited (" Great
Billion”) and assign the shareholder’s loan(s) owed by Great Billion to TSIHK
for the consideration of HK$1.00 and HK$59,699,999.00, respectively;
and (ii) TSIHK, Master Best Development Limited (“Master Best”) and the
Company entered into a separate sale and purchase agreement and a sale loan
agreement, pursuant to which TSIHK agreed to sell, and Master Best agreed
to purchase from TSIHK, 10% of the entire issued share capital of Wealth
Channel Holdings Limited (“Wealth Channel”) and assign the shareholder’s
loan owed by Wealth Channel to TSIHK for the consideration of HK$1.00 and
HK$2,179,999.00. respectively.

Prior to the completion of the abovementioned agreements, each of Great
Billion and Wealth Channel was held as to 10% by the Company and
accounted for as an associate in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
The Company has ceased to hold any interest in either of Great Billion and
Wealth Channel.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 4 and 12
September 2024.
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Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any other
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

DISPOSAL OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY

On 25 November 2024, Flourish Fortune Company Limited (the “Vendor”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Shang Sin Chun
Tong (an independent third party) (the “Purchaser”) entered into a provisional
agreement for sale and purchase, whereby the Vendor agreed to sell, and
the Purchaser agreed to purchase, the piece or parcel of ground registered
in the Land Registry as New Kowloon Inland Lot No. 812 and of and in the
messuages, erections and building thereon and known as No. 6 Rutland
Quadrant, Kowloon, Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$250,000,000 (the
“Disposal”). The Vendor and the Purchaser entered into the formal agreement
in respect of the Disposal on 17 December 2024. The Disposal was approved by
the shareholders of the Company as an ordinary resolution at an extraordinary
general meeting held on 24 January 2025.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 25
November 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 9 January 2025.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of approximately 754
employees (as at 31 December 2023: 851 employees) in Mainland China and
Hong Kong, of which, approximately 43 were under the headquarters team,
approximately 87 were under the property development division, approximately
597 were under the retail operation and property management division and
approximately 27 were under the education division. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the total staff and related costs incurred was approximately
HK$196.9 million (for the year ended 31 December 2023: approximately
HK$218.6 million). The remuneration of the employees was based on their
performance, work experience, skills, knowledge and the prevailing market
wage level. The Group remunerated the employees by means of basic salaries,
fringe benefits, cash bonus and equity settled share-based payment.

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted pursuant
to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 8 June 2022. As at 31 December 2024 and the date of this annual
report, no share option was granted by the Company pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme.
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MEREBE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

FRYI K48 1L
SHENZHEN HIDDEN VALLEY

FERTEE Key Statistics
HAZH No. of phases 4 4
AR (F 5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 143,047 143,047
Ry =R Construction start date —EELEFLA July 2007
3% T B Completion date —T——%XA June 2011
fhET AR EMEE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 131,736 131,736
RZZE_ME+—A=F+—HE Estimated net saleable/leasable
EEt R tEE M HEREmE ((FAK) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2024 996 996
HEHE
Project Overview
b B Location BRAFIMELRREEE Yulong Road, Bao'an District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province
mERR Property type =% Residential
=& Highlights FIRERIEZEE 2 —WEE 25 One of the best villa projects in Shenzhen and
B e @iz B 82 R [ % was awarded “Global International Garden
TEE @ K 5 Community Nominations Award” and “China

International Garden Community Award”

AR LEEE ((ROEIEE]) (BE  Offers close proximity to central business district

BEmhOmERE+TDEER) - (“CBD”) (10 minutes drive from Futian CBD) and

i BRI B AR - BEREBA  is surrounded by suburb parks with natural living
environment

—HR T )\FRAKBIN —  Phase 1 was launched in May 2008 and became
SENFRBRINFEETEMIHBM  the best selling project in the luxury residential
HUGHEIER - AR Z=ZZZF/AF N market in Shenzhen in 2009. Phase 2 was

At - BIEEE RS RAEE launched in September 2008 and was sold out
TREREAZEHE N within a short period of time despite the global

financial crisis

SRR KL
Shenzhen Hidden Valley
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S/ SERSR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

KEEHFE X R
THE SPRING LAND - SHENZHEN

FERTHE Key Statistics
HRZ No. of phases 6 6
AR EAE (F5K) Site area (sq.m.) 166,979 166,979
apy =R Construction start date —ZETNFAA May 2009
% T A Completion date ZT—HFENA August 2014
fhEHABEEEE (F7K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 774,371 774,371
RZZEZMF+—A=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable
MEHE RIS, AT EREEETE (FA2K)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2024 33,454 33,454
HEBE
Project Overview
b, B Location BRE R ME L EEER Renmin South Road, Longhua Town, Bao'an District,
AREHE Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
REZ T Lease termof FHMAE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
MERR Property type @FERTE Residential and retail
=E Highlights {37 7 b 82§ 70 557 4R 4T 1Ly iy Located at the Hongshan Station of Subway Line
No. 4

KiggFEX =R (—E N —8) % (=8f) The Spring Land — Shenzhen (Phases 1 and 2) and

RIZE-—ZFER-_F——F55|%%5]  (Phase 3) were ranked the best and the second best-

FIIEGE R E G EER selling projects in Shenzhen for 2010 and 2011,
respectively

IKEER—ZY(RE) N =_Z—=%F  The Spring Land - Shenzhen (Phase 5) was ranked
FE=FR5 R HGIHTEIEE the best selling residential project in Shenzhen in
the third quarter of 2012

KEER—RY

L=

£
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MEEBHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

ARYIK A5 7E AR
SHENZHEN WATER FLOWER GARDEN

FEGRTHE Key Statistics
H gL No. of phases 3 3
WA mAE (FHK) Site area (sq.m.) 164,764 164,764
FAHE T A & Construction start date —TE-F=H March 2002
3% T B Completion date —ZEERETA October 2006
fhaTABEEEE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 294,638 294,638
R-ZE-_mE&E+=-A=+—HK Estimated net saleable/leasable
EEtF o tEE M HEREmE ((FAK) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2024 4,992 4,992
HEME
Project Overview
i B Location EREAFRIITERREER Xiangmei Road, Futian District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province
RETDH Lease term of KHME Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
YIEER Property type f(F=£ ZELEH Residential, retail and clubhouse
=E Highlights FESET AR OB E - SRELEEM  Situated prominently in the exclusive region of
B—E MR the city centre and offers unique view of the

LE—TT = F [ E{EECHARE
BRIUR-_BE_ER_BT=F
WA [ 4F & R B 4 4R

Honey Lake

It was awarded ‘Classical Chinese Model
Residential Property’ in 2003 and 'Real Estate of
the Year’ in both 2002 and 2003

RYIKHTER

Shenzhen Water Flower Garden
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

ENERHE

CHANGZHOU FASHION MARK

EfcHRE Key Statistics

HAZH No. of phases 4 4
AR ERE (F5K) Site area (sq.m.) 120,296 120,296
ahy = Construction start date —EETREFENA August 2005
3% T B Completion date —ZT—=fXH June 2013
fhET AR EME (F2K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 513,404 513,404
R-ZE_WE+_A=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable

EEH RO tEE M HEREmE ((FAKX) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2024 79,649 79,649

HERE

Project Overview

i 25 Location

IHEFMNMERRARE

Xiyingli, Zhonglou District, Changzhou,
Jiangsu Province

REHDH Lease term of FHHAE Medium-term lease
HEHR investment
portion
MEER Property type (A% -ZELKFAE Residential, retail and office
=H Highlights (PRSP IRESE R Located at the commercial centre of Changzhou city
ZH —ZETRE[FEEEMETAE  Ranked in “China Top 10 Mainstream Real
MEEE] - MEEMNRERE ?i}fl Estate Projects” in 2005 and Twin Stars (serviced
RNE (RBEANAE)LEI=ZZ X/  apartments) of the project was awarded “2006 Best
B &EEEAE] International Apartment in China”
—HEZHEZHTERABTAM - Phases 1-3 comprise mainly retail or apartments
PERBI &S B 150 KM ARUEEIBE  while Phase 4 is a large-scale residential project with
height over 150 metres
BREFXERP
Secured well-known anchor tenants
BMHERHE

Changzhou Fashion Mark
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MEEBHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RRREEH O
DONGGUAN LANDMARK

FEGRTHE Key Statistics
H gL No. of phases 1 1
HARERE (F 7 K) Site area (sq.m.) 18,738 18,738
B4 T B & Construction start date ZETRFRA June 2006
% T A 5 Completion date T N\FLA July 2008
fhaTABEEEE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 79,679 79,679
R-ZE-_mE&E+=-A=+—HK Estimated net saleable/leasable
EEtF o tEE M HEREmE ((FAK) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2024 20,172 20,172
EHEAHE
Project Overview
b B Location [E B A WSS TH R 5 18 K 88 55k No. 88 Hongfu Road, Nancheng District,
Dongguan,
Guangdong Province
BREHBDH  Lease termof EHHEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
YIEER Property type FE=RZTE Residential and retail
=& Highlights UARSEHRLEBE - AE¥EHP L Located in the CBD of Dongguan and the

ERE MERAN  AXKREAFE
Ho R Y KSR

dramatic setting and accessibility of the mall
substantially upgrade the local amenities

RERKBEEFL

Dongguan Landmark
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PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

UM SRR R O
HANGZHOU LANDMARK

TERTRE

Key Statistics

HAEL No. of phases 1 1
HAAERE (F77K) Site area (sg.m.) 14,780 14,780
Faa5E L A HA Construction start date —ETRE—H January 2006
3% T A & Completion date —ET+F A July 2007
fhET AR SEmAE (F 5K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 49,989 49,989
R-_ZE-_MF+—_A=+—8H Estimated net saleable/leasable
hEHFAISEE AITAERE®E ((FAK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2024 26,264 26,264
HEME
Project Overview
ih 25 Location AT TN T AR A0 = e T Ouhuazhou Avenue, Linping, Yuhang District,
BiEMAE Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
REBTH Lease term of HHIE Medium-term lease
HEHP investment
portion
MEFR Property type =& Retail
= Highlights 23T b 8 Close proximity to metro station

B R R ES
= 1B A R 2 —

BRALAMENES  FERDR

SIHMTER - MARIIEAAR

B2 4 E &1 Leveraging on high growth city attributes, Linping
is set to be one of the three high growth satellite

cities of Hangzhou

Secured well-known anchor tenants attract not
only other retailers, but also significant pedestrian
traffic

MR D

Hangzhou Landmark
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MXEEBE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RERREE
CHENGDU FASHION MARK

FERTEE Key Statistics
H gL No. of phases 2 2
HARERE (F 7 K) Site area (sq.m.) 20,727 20,727
Epcy =N Construction start date —T——%~A June 2011
% T A A Completion date —ZET—=—F+=A December 2012
fhEH R EEE (F5K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 139,265 139,265
R-EBE-_NMFE+_A=+—HH1 Estimated net saleable/leasable
EDFAHE AIEEREmE (FK)  GFA(sq.m.) as at 31 December 2024 38,325 38,325
EHEAHE
Project Overview
i B Location )11 pER T BV R R IR ER TR Hongpailou, Fourth Section of Second Ring Road,
AN Wuhou District, Chengdu, Sichuan Province
mERR Property type ZERHIAE Retail and office
= Highlights 52 3T Hb #8 = % AR SR PR K U Close proximity to Jialing Road Station of Metro
line no. 3
WBIZE T KL AR 1,426.57T  Site was secured at approximately RMB1,426.5
BE RBERATAELERIEEMNF persq.m., significantly lower than the average
19 T A AR land cost for comparable projects
REH S E

Chengdu Fashion Mark
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S/ SERSR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RERTH
TIANJIN LE LEMAN CITY

FERTEE Key Statistics
HEX No. of phases 3 3
HARERE (F 5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 114,080 114,080
FA T B & Construction start date —E——FXA June 2012
% T A A Completion date ZEZEFRA June 2020
AErREEmE (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 114,080 114,080
R-ZE-_MFE+—-_A=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable
HETFAIHE A HERLEEE (FHK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2024 16,660 16,660
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location REBMER GG EE K i Junction of Beihua Road and Jincang Expressway,
ERRENEEA Jinhai County, Tianjin
MEER Property type FE=RZTE Residential and retail
=2 Highlights BpEREmAL (FRE) 2002 Located 20 kilometres (“km") away from Tianjin
(B city centre (Nankai District)

PEBEAL R RS IRE BB U412 Approximately 12 km away from the south
BRIERRESRABLSANE station of Beijing-Tianjin high-speed railway and
5 km away from Beijing-Tianjin Expressway

REREH
Tianjin Le Leman City
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MXEEBE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

LB AEE
SHANGHAI BAY VALLEY PROJECT

FERTEE Key Statistics
H gL No. of phases TERA N/A
—T—tF 31 July
g A=R1 Acquisition date +B=+—8 2017
fhEHABEEmE (F7K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 97,854 97,854
R-ZTE_WMFE+ZA=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable
BEHFIEE MIHEEERBE (FHK) GFA(sgm) as at 31 December 2024 97,526 97,526
HEBE
Project Overview
h B Location PEGHEITEREREERE  International Community Sector, New Jiangwan
City, Yangpu District, Shanghai
YIEER Property type A= Office
=3 Highlights L AGEEIEIR L — E/8E AR Located at Yangpu Technology Venture Centre —
CBEAEFKISRIEERRASSE  Bay Valley Technology Park, with the same level
R TE L as Zhangjiang Hi-tech Park
EEERIER

Shanghai Bay Valley Project
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S/ SERSR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

EBNEREEREEE
HONG KONG KOWLOON TONG RUTLAND QUADRANT PROJECT
FERTHE Key Statistics
HA & No. of phases TEA N/A
AR EAE (F oK) Site area (sq.m.) 958 958
Y i B A Acquisition date —E-N\F 7 February
—AtH 2018
RZE_NMFE+_A=+—B& Estimated net saleable/leasable 574 574
HETF Al E A AERLEME (FHK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2024
HEBE
Project Overview
h B Location ERNERERME6R No. 6 Rutland Quadrant, Kowloon Tong,
Hong Kong
YIEER Property type #& & Campus
=& Highlights BB E U L1755 DB 5-minute walk from Kowloon Tong MTR Station

HRENEERREEAR

Hong Kong Kowloon Tong Rutland Quadrant Project

S

BN ERERAEEE
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YIREBEERBE

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

EREMHEFXS

KUNMING DIANCHI LAKESIDE PENINSULA

FERTEE Key Statistics

H gL No. of phases TERA N/A

AR EAE (F75K) Site area (sq.m.) 558 558

Y i B A7 Acquisition date —E-N\F 31 January
—RA=+—H 2018

RIE-NF+_A=+—HK Estimated net saleable/leasable 1,415 1,415

et F A E, AT EREmE (F oK)

GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2024

EHEBE

Project Overview

i 25 Location EEEEERNFHEBIEREN  Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula Business Center,
VB B RS Liujia Sub-district Office, Guandu District,

Yunnan Province

YIEER Property type = Residential

=3 Highlights WEREMKE  RIREW - BE Close to the waterfront of Dianchi with superior
Fagic] and comfortable living environment

EREBEMHELS

Kunming Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula
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S/ SERSR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RIIKBE ERE
SHENZHEN UPPER RESIDENCE

FERTHE Key Statistics

HA & No. of phases 1 1
465 T A B Construction start date —ZT—t&MA April 2017
3% T A & Completion date —E-—FMMA April 2022
et EmE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 73,228 73,228
R-Z-_NMFE+_A=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable 6,237 6,237

EEH R iEE M EREmE (CFAKX) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2024

HEME
Project Overview
b 2h Location BRE R TEEERNEANER Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province
MEER Property type f{f= Residential
= Highlights BB BT EYEMEENS - 67T Highly accessible with a 5-minute walking
55 distance from Shangtang Metro Station

RIKBE FRE
Shenzhen Upper Residence
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MXEEBE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

% %128 WATERLOO
HONG KONG 128 WATERLOO

FERTEE Key Statistics

H gL No. of phases 1 1
AR EAE (F75K) Site area (sq.m.) 1,692 1,692
Epcy =N Construction start date —ZE-N\ENAR August 2018
W% T A A Completion date —E=—F+—A8 November 2021
MBEEEE (FHK) Total GFA (sq.m.) 7,966 7,966
RZZ_MFE+=—A=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable 1,406 1,406

EstF o tEE M HEREmE ((FAK) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2024

HEBE

Project Overview

ih B4 Location BENEEGITEE 1285 No. 128 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong,
Hong Kong

mERR Property type = Residential

=% Highlights A N EE A RMEE ST Luxurious landmark residence located in

prestigious school district in Kowloon Tong

7% 128 WATERLOO
Hong Kong 128 Waterloo

AR A

128 WATERLOO
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S/ SERSR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RY| = A ES
SHENZHEN EXCELLENCE TIME SQUARE

FERTEE Key Statistics

HA & No. of phases TEA N/A

HARERE (F 5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 1,822 1,822

GA=1 Acquisition date ZTERF 29 November
+—AZ=+nNA 2006

RZB-WFE+-RA=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable 1,135 1,135

et F s MHERERE (FAK) GFA(sg.m.) as at 31 December 2024

HEBE

Project Overview

b B Location R A% A & 55 A IR Yitian Road, Futian District, Shenzhen

MEER Property type 5% Commerdial

=8 Highlights £z PRI 0 755 [ A B P B AR Located in the southern central axis of Shenzhen
CBD

RIYI = RS

Shenzhen Excellence Time Square
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MEEBHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RYIREKREBRKE
SHENZHEN TOPSPRING INTERNATIONAL MANSION

FEGRTHE Key Statistics

H gL No. of phases 1 1
Fga e T A & Construction start date —ZE-NFENA August 2019
TEER T HER Expected completion date —E-RFARA June 2025
fhEHAEEEEE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 107,281 107,281
R-Z_WNE+-_A=+—HBH Estimated net saleable/leasable 58,020 58,020

REFE S AR EEEmE (FAK)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2024

HEHE

Project Overview

Ith Bh Location BRERYITEEE R ANER Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province

mERR Property type Z&ERHAE Retail and office

=3 Highlights AR BRIT ER ML Convenient transportation and close to

Shangtang Metro Station

RN HER B K E
Shenzhen Topspring International Mansion
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S/ SERSR A
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RYIE LA AR
SHENZHEN JIANSHANG COMMERCIAL BUILDING

FERTHE Key Statistics

HA & No. of phases 1 1
Fa 46 5 T A A Construction start date —ZT—AFNA  September 2019
% T HEH Completion date ZEZMFEZA February 2024
hEtaEEmE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 21,829 21,829
R-ZB-_NFE+_A=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable 9,531 9,531

EEH RO iEE M EREmE (CFAKX) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2024

HEBE

Project Overview

b Fh Location BEREFYMEEETRAE Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province

YRR Property type ZEEHAQE Retail and office

= Highlights FE - BT IR s Convenient transportation and close to

Shangtang Metro Station

RIS L AE

Shenzhen Jianshang Commercial Building
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MXEEBE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

EBLKEERIEHR

HONG KONG SHEUNG SHUI MA SIK ROAD PROJECT
FERTEE Key Statistics
H gL No. of phases TERA N/A
AR T A5 (7 77 K) Site area (sq.m.) 9,098 9,098
Y i B A7 Acquisition date —E—+F 11 July

+A+—H 2017

hEtaEEEmE (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 7,278 7,278
R-Z_WE+-_A=+—HBH Estimated net saleable/leasable 6,497 6,497
st Fa e M EREmE (FAX) GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2024

EHEHME

Project Overview

i B Location ERFR LKEEE Ma Sik Road, Sheung Shui, NT, Hong Kong

MEER Property type (== Residential

= E Highlights BR 3 _E 7K b 8830k A % 49 28 b 88 5 Proximity to Sheung Shui MTR Station and

Fanling MTR Station

BB LKEFEKIEER
Hong Kong Sheung Shui Ma Sik Road Project

RREWIAE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BN A8 &
HRXBEBREEERARMAZRARE #HE
rErms ((FHE])  HirEEHE—F
THFETZA=T-HLEFEERE #Hek
ER(RE HERER) THTELERE
BER A -

¥ 5 HA
RBEWAESER B _NE—-A—HE_Z
—NFE+—A=t—RHA(ZF=-HmE|x K
SHR | EASENPERFE ) MIRE -
HEREREBHHERE -

& i
AHERERTBEEEERERAR ([R2F])
REWBAR (G AE@I &M =F
RREBEFEARMAZLOEBNREREER
B RXE-REBBRENBEREE TE -
EXER WEER HELRENGEMUSE
CAKEBEMEEIMESBNERIEE
UEREEMENBRIEE  XBHREZR
Y~ EBREFEFZOWT

AHERBENRERBERER ((HRAKE
BDREREBEFEARMRFTEANLLES
RHEETORERRATEE (HER) - W
TXFE

o RYIKHNL
Shenzhen Hidden Valley
o RYIKEHER
Shenzhen Water Flower Garden
e REEXEBEEFRDL
Dongguan Landmark
o MMEREEPL
Hangzhou Landmark
o REERFH
Tianjin Le Leman City

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Top Spring International Holdings Limited is pleased to present this
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”) to provide an
overview of the Group’s management approaches affecting the operation
and performance in respect of environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
aspects for the year ended 31 December 2024.

REPORTING PERIOD

This report provides an overview of Top Spring’s ESG management approach
and performance during the year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
("2024" or the “Reporting Period”), which is in conformity with the Group’s
financial year.

REPORTING SCOPE

This Report covers Top Spring International Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”, “we"” or “us”) focuses on the
environmental and social performance of our core business during the year
under review. Top Spring is a conglomerate group with businesses focused on
boutique residences, retail, industrial parks, property management, education,
and investment. The Group specialised in the development and operation of
urban mixed-use communities, and the development and sale of residential
properties with regional footprint covering core cities including Shenzhen,
Shanghai and Hong Kong.

The environmental key performance indicators (the “KPIs") disclosed in this
report cover our offices and own assets (prior to sales) under our operational
control in Mainland China and Hong Kong during the year under review as
listed below:

o KEIREXR-RY

The Spring Land — Shenzhen
o EMER#HE

Changzhou Fashion Mark
o KEEZHE

Chengdu Fashion Mark
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R #HERERERS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BEEE
ABEN2REEBARZABERAR (&
%%xﬁﬂ) g5 EmARA ([ ERRRD) K&
—(RE - -HEgRERmERES) ([(RER -
?:I:ﬁ&a AWMEESDD MRER - REECDE
SCORE e RERAMEREIDAEM [T BT
B NREZK - AREEAATRER
AE2M -2 FPER -] Sl T7TR
SEECERMHEETTENKRE -

REPORTING BASIS

This Report is prepared with reference to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “"HKEx"). The Group has complied
with the disclosure requirements of the “comply or explain” provisions set out
in the ESG Reporting Guide. This Report summarised the Group’s performance
in corporate and social responsibilities applying the reporting principles of
“Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency” as below.

& R A
Reporting
Principles

REEE M

Application by the Group

Egia RNEBFBEFNEFEBRHAR
BEERAHEERE -

The Group identified and evaluated the materiality and the importance of ESG issues through continuous
communication with our stakeholders and taking into consideration the Group’s business operations and

sustainable development.

AHEIRE HEREREBZEAERERNE XERTAKENE

Materiality

21t REBBEEHHIEHE

TE(CIREE - WA o
The Group has taken the initiative to formulate policies and record relevant measurable data for performance
monitoring and evaluation. The Group disclosed its environmental and social KPIs quantitatively with

explanations.

LSRR A St EBURIFE A RAHERE - AREHERE M SBREBIEFE

Quantitative

i AEENFEZERER  RABRMARAKERRIIRE

FEBRBERKNAEHO N EEERE  BRAEmBEAN -
The Group has presented our performance in sustainable development and ESG issues based on objective facts
and avoided improper selections, omissions or presentation formats that may inappropriately influence a decision

or judgment by the report reader.

HEREREREZRE  LBRAEETRE

Balance

— AEBESFHARENFRRELBREVESRT T ARA —RTHER - BHABENLBRUFER
SEZRB -

The Group adopted a consistent approach annually on the disclosure scope and statistical methods used for KPIs
in this Report to provide a meaningful comparison for our performance evaluation.

Consistency

1|=| A_,\;Elﬁ

R EFRANEEMBIBERRN A EEERA
XM BEETREFMARMER - WiB B
FIEZ AREEr2nEF((EED e (&
BEDERRE HEAREEN  ERlt
MTBMEE -

BERARE
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BMARXHRABE EBTARERRQ RS
Ifihttp://www.topspring.com K & 7 Bif 32 FiT 48 1k
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SOURCE OF INFORMATION

Information and data contained in this Report are derived from the Group’s
formal internal documents, statistical reports and public information, after
verification by relevant departments. This Report was reviewed and approved by
the board (“Board"”) of directors (" Directors”) of the Company who takes the
responsibility for the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of its contents.

ACCESS TO THE REPORT

This Report is available in electronic version in Chinese and English languages.
Should there be any discrepancy between the Chinese and English
versions, the English version shall prevail. You may access the Company’s
website at http://www.topspring.com and the website of the HKEx at
www.hkexnews.hk for an electronic copy of this Report.
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CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes all stakeholders to provide their opinions and suggestions.
Stakeholders can provide valuable advice in respect of the Report or the Group’s
performances in sustainable development by email to IR@topspring.com.

ABOUT US

We are a conglomerate group integrating the real estate investment and
development, industrial operation, commercial property management,
formative education and emerging industries investment businesses operating
in the mainland (excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan Province, “Mainland
China"”) of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”) and Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong").

The Group always adheres to the positioning of building quality property. With
a strong focus on the commercial and residential property investment and
development, asset management, industrial operation and other businesses
in the Greater Bay Area (as defined below), the centres of which are Hong
Kong, Shenzhen and Guangzhou, as well as the economically dynamic regions
including Shanghai, the Group actively leverages multinational operations and is
familiar with the characteristics of Hong Kong and Mainland China to integrate
global resources and develop sustainable metropolitan industry communities
through city-industry integration, serve urban development and industrial
upgrading and strive to become a practitioner on diversified investments in
facilitating the achievement of national strategies.

ESG GOVERNANCE

Sustainable development remains a top agenda in the business world and
stakeholders are demanding more actions from corporations to address
emerging ESG challenges. We operate with a mission to explore relationship of
privity between men and city, to make positive impact on communities in which
we invest, and to lead a quality and environmental-friendly lifestyle.

The Group commits to the incorporation of sustainability into our business
strategy, planning and overall governance structure. Recognising the
importance of ESG-related matters, the Board carries overall responsibility
for overseeing the Group’s ESG issues, ESG strategy and reporting, relevant
policies, and initiatives. It is also the responsibility of the Board, to evaluate
and determine the ESG-related risks, and ensure appropriate and effective ESG
risk management and internal control systems are in place. The management
monitors the implementation of relevant policies and measures to ensure the
Group is on track to achieving our ESG-related goals and targets. Reports are
made to the Board for their review and confirmation.

ESG Management Structure

To ensure the efficacy of ESG management, the Group has established ESG
management structure with a three-tier hierarchy consisting of the Board,
senior management and the ESG function group, each of which is responsible
for well-defined duties and work in a coordinated manner.
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The Management
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Decision-making and approval level

IRIR BRI AR

Supervision, Coordination and implementation level
EE - BRERERER

As the highest decision-making body of the Company, the Board has a
primary role in oversight for the Group’s overall ESG governance issues, and
incorporates sustainability into our Group’s long-term business development
strategy and value creation. The Board regularly assesses risks and opportunities
associated with the ESG issues as highlighted by the management; reviews and
approves the implementation of the ESG strategies, goals and performance;
reviews and ensures the risk management and internal control system are in
place.

The management is responsible for monitoring the implementation of relevant
policies and measures to ensure the Group is on track to achieving our ESG-
related goals and targets. Reports are made to the Board for their review and
confirmation.

ESG Management Approach and Strategy

Every year, through the risk identification, stakeholders engagement, materiality
assessment and the review of policy formulation process, the Board approves
the management approaches on ESG issues that are material to our Group and
bases on the regular review on ESG performance with the strategic goals and
targets to make constant progress and improvement on ESG issues in our daily
operation responding to the stakeholders’ expectations and jointly promoting
the sustainable development of the Group.

In order to assess the effectiveness and the appropriateness of the ESG
strategies, goals and targets, regular review on the progress achievement is
necessary for any rectification if the progress falls short of expectation. To
promote a long-term sustainability and develop a realistic roadmap, the Group
formulates ESG strategies with strategic goals to achieve in five years.

Review of Progress against ESG-related Goals and Targets

The Board is responsible for reviewing the progress of attaining ESG-related
goals and proposing direction for the Group’s ESG development going forward
based on the progress.
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BEEE

Issues of Concerns

&

Stakeholders

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business depends on the
support from our stakeholders, who (a) have invested or will invest in the
Group; (b) have the ability to influence the outcomes within the Group; and
(c) are interested in or affected by or have the potential to be affected by the
impact of the Group’s activities, products, services and relationships.

The Group engages with our stakeholders to understand and respond to the
concerns of our stakeholders, develop mutually beneficial relationships and
seek their views on its business proposals and initiatives so as to promote
sustainability in the marketplace, workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained from our
stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest in the Group’s business
activities. The Group has identified our key stakeholders that are important to
our business and established various channels for communication. Through
general communication with stakeholders, the Group understands the
expectations and concerns from stakeholders. Their feedbacks allow the Group
to assess the impact of our decisions on ESG issues, but also to adjust our
direction of business development and growth. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with each of
our key stakeholders.

The following table provides an overview of the issue of concerns of the
Group’s key stakeholders, and various communication channels and methods
used to reach, listen and respond.

BT R BB HE .
Government and
regulatory
authorities

laws and regulations

o ZEHMABK
Proper tax payment

s EBEBUTEEK

Response to the

government’s policies

BFRAOERRER

Compliance with the rules,

SHERE B8

Engagement channels Practices

e FEBTIFEEZE - TIEMmE o BREBEZEREREE-
RERIEREIL AR EIR N AT
ek Operated, managed and paid

Research and discussions taxes according to laws and

through work conferences, regulations

work reports preparation

and submission for approval ¢ ELARFEE - BEK
BRGE

s FHEDEH
Annual reports and

Cooperated with
government’s supervision,

announcements inspection and evaluation
review
e REHEU
Company website o REWEREMIFE R
HEER
o FERR Disclosed and reported
Annual filing information in a timely and

accurate manner
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B0 E BEEE SHERE BR
Stakeholders Issues of Concerns Engagement channels Practices
BRRIEEE e FEEBRBRARER e FH HH/RIE o LRN{EHARARSEERE
Shareholders and Information disclosure and Annual and interim reports RIEROAEE R E
Investors transparency and announcements Made relevant disclosures
about Group’s business
[2\ B K [B] 57 o NEIHHUL development in a timely

(=1

Employees

Risk and returns

RERRIER R A FHEF

AR

Protection of interests
and fair treatment of
shareholders

B
Remuneration packages

BERELRZE
Occupational health and
safety

THERER
Working environment

BEIRES
Career development
opportunities

Company website

BERRE

General meetings

Bl RS - TYETT
&

Training, seminars,
workshops, briefing sessions

ML REBEEED
Cultural and sport activities

WEEE - B RRE

Intranet, emails and notice

EBEHAL
Employee surveys

manner

MEZEBRANKREESY -
REREENRNE
Carried out different forms

of investor activities with an
aim to improve investors’
recognition

BRBRERERE

Convened general meetings

TE At AR S 5% R 1 &) B
BARHEBITHRARSEER
REBEBX

Disclosed company contact
details on website and in
reports and ensured all
communication channels
available and effective

RERERZEZHTERER
Provided a healthy and safe
working environment

AR R EEE TE
Organized occupational and
professional staff trainings

VNS R0l S AN il
Developed a fair promotion
mechanism on career path

RESEBBEERBNED
Organized care and welfare
activities for employees
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B E
Stakeholders

EF .

Customers

HEBREBAIE o
B

Suppliers and Business
partners J

TEBE .

Industry associations

BEEE

Issues of Concerns

e MEEE M MR
Safe and high-quality
products and services

LBl ER P HK
Responsive to customers’
needs

BIEER
Mutual trustworthy
relationship

RHGERIR

Long-term partnership

ERBHONREE
Performance and obligation
under contracts

R

Tendering process

K NS
Ko =

Experience sharing

B

Cooperation

ATHE
Fair competition
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BHRE
Engagement channels

NEE - METF - B
W EFRRAE
Company website,
brochures, notice boards,
annual reports and
announcements

mEERE
Satisfaction surveys

B R# 2 AR

Customer service hotline

EFEFHERRER
Mobile application for
customers

(Bes HERSH -
B RE

Business meetings, supplier
conferences, phone calls
and interviews

RISEZNIRE
On-site audit or checks

ES V4 i
Industry conference/seminar

B
Site visit

B

Practices

RHBERLZE2HRBERME
Provided a clean and secure
environment and community

TEEFPRFEEKS
Improved customer complaint
handling process

FBFHERIZN RIS
ek BEF R

Enhanced intelligent functions
and customer experience
through mobile application

BiaVANSEEEE ey 1ol
Established a fair tendering
mechanism

neg HEBE  HEEMHE
FRkEBEEIRASHE
B R

Enhanced daily
communication, and
established long-term
cooperation with quality
suppliers and contractors

RETEHREUESE
Provided regular feedbacks for
improvement

HEATHES BRAXAE
BRERRDZER
Maintained fair play,
cooperated with peers to
realize win-win situation and
shared experiences

ZINTEMN G - LAHES)
TEAFERR

Attended industry seminars to
promote industry sustainable
development
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. AEBEEREZEERAMMINGEE
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RATERIE) B E XA 2 ERIRE -
HehERRBENERNRE AR
RREEER T EIAETTHEF RAHE -

RR-EEEAEHE

. AEEERERBEEDNNFTNE
SHEERETH R LEBBZRER
HeEkEABEHAEEEKFEL
AREENERIEE -

. AEEERERRMELEEBERE
BEEVZERRE #HeRkEREES
RARETAZ2H B ETGRE
HakERHERES) -

Materiality Assessment

The Group has evaluated the materiality and attached the importance in ESG
aspects through the steps: (1) material ESG area identification by industry
benchmarking; (2) key ESG area prioritization with stakeholders’ engagement;
and (3) validation and determining material ESG issues based on results of
communication among stakeholders and the management. Hence, this can
enhance understanding of their degree and change of attention to each
significant ESG issue, and can enable us to be more comprehensive when
planning our sustainable development work strategy in the future. Those
important and material ESG areas identified during our materiality assessment
were discussed in this Report.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the Report by
understanding the key ESG issues that are important to the business of the
Group. All the key ESG issues and KPIs are reported in this Report according to
disclosure requirements set out in the ESG Reporting Guide.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG aspects
through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification - Industry Benchmarking

o Relevant ESG areas were identified through benchmarking analysis,
with consideration into industry trends, regulatory and market
requirements and corporate development strategies. In accordance
with the ESG Reporting Guide, ESG issues were categories into
four areas: Environmental Protection, Employment Management,
Operating Practices and Community Involvement.

Step 2: Prioritization — Stakeholder Engagement

o The Group obtained the opinions and expectations from key internal
and external stakeholders including those identified in the section
"Stakeholders Engagement” during daily operation on key ESG
issues identified above to ensure all the key aspects to be covered for
prioritization and assessment.

Step 3: Validation - Determining Material Issues

o The Group's management discussed based on the result of
benchmarking identification and stakeholders’ engagement, and
determined the materiality of each ESG issue in relations to our
business characteristics and daily operation.

o The Group’s management ensured all material ESG issues, which were
important to our business development, were reported in this Report
and in compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group identifies the most relevant ESG
aspects on an ongoing basis by reviewing our business operation, latest market
landscape and relevant legislations to understand and address the concerns
of our stakeholders. There were no major changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities, hence our latest list of material issues has remained
unchanged on the basis of the materiality assessment conducted in previous
year. 15 material ESG issues across environmental, social and governance
aspects have been identified as impactful and significant to the Group and its
stakeholders.

BIE e )
Environmental Social Governance
o FEKEREFA MK e HEKRE o EER
Water consumption and Community Investment Corporate governance
conservation e EmAMR o EEFEE
o BUIRMUERENBETEIE Product responsibility Business integrity
Energy efficiency and conservation o  ffEGEE S
o EEWER Supply chain management
Waste management o TR
e ZERNEREEXR Labour practices
Indoor air quality e BEEHEZE
o ERBEM Health and safety
Air emission e [EEERKEI
o RIREAZEREBHEMN Employee development and training
Climate change and GHG emission o B T#&7#|

FELapIRp - BPE— TR LA EE R
ROEREENNEEEH - RPIBROR T H#
RZEFH YARKNERE BERHLEER
IR - HERERTIF -

Employee benefits

Within the list above, we have further identified eight most significant issues to
our Group and stakeholders. We are committed to adequately address these
issues and maintain comprehensive and transparent disclosures of our ESG
efforts to our stakeholders.
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Em
Aspects

-84
Environmental

e
Social

RN
‘BA

Governance

EEEE ESG Material Aspect

EXBEHE

Material issues
ENEREE

Indoor air quality

FEKE RETH K
Water consumption and conservation

BE IR R PE I EP e TR e
Energy efficiency and conservation

EmEE
Product responsibility

R % 2
Health and safety

& 8 %R MIF|

Employee development and training

©EER

Corporate governance

BRER

Business integrity

i ] 1%

Relevance

FREARMETHENENEZEREZRUREEETER
Improve living quality with enhanced indoor air quality in our
residential projects

EHMRF REBHYES - BBEKRGRES ARG
BEKTHEKBEREBRER  BRIMBERAITKEE
BRARBEUEE

Improve water use efficiency through water efficient designs
in our designed and managed properties; recycle and reuse
of water in our construction sites as much as possible; ensure
wastewater discharge on our construction sites meet relevant
discharge standards

FRE R R RE B E RN B R T R B S ae
R HEEERRER  RESHDER

Improve energy efficiency through the adoption of energy-
efficient designs and equipment in our designed and managed
properties; continue monitoring of energy consumption to
promote energy conservation

BRMEHEERAEEVENRE  BREKENEPERE
FHERE

Ensure the quality of property projects and educational supplies;
ensure customer information collected is well protected
MRETIAZALZE2MNITERE  WEEEEEISO 45001
B % 62 22 42 2 B ¥ B8 K (Occupational Health and Safety
Management System) 5278 © [ 8 TR 7 B g i 2 2457l
Ensure safe working environment for our staff; property
management is certified with ISO 45001 Occupational Health
and Safety Management System; provide regular health and
safety training for staff

FHiRPAT R E TREABEI R E B RFEEEEET
TR

Continue staff's development by providing in-house training to
front-line staff and sponsoring further studies by application
BRAQRMMA - BRREBFI - WHEREAQANEE
e RERNE

Ensure system of rules, practices and processes are in place and
that the Company is managed in the interest of shareholders
EREHMEERRTNER  BFEEHR RERRHEE -
REE=ZTHMBEE  UARDIEREFITH

Manage issues surrounding ethical conduct of business,
including compliance, anti-corruption and bribery, protecting
intellectual property rights of third parties, and preventing anti-
competitive practices

o

s T

\
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Green designs and features

WEN R R

RIEE@
TR R EME—BErEIT -
NEEBEETREATEIREERER
BIEATRM(FEARLMBEIRFRE
EY (R EARLFMBEARSEPAE) -
(REE A REMBEITRITAE) (P&
AR B E 2R 5 R RIBE I AE) -
(CREARKEMBEHOERE E - A
EEREEETIHEEEER B AE
T EFR RS WAl AL B E R IR B L -
AEBEERBEHEAENELTIRES
BERX WHEES TISOI4001REE
BREARE BRHEERETERREN
EEHEBEE  URERMOLCEETSY
REMTE - RSB AEEWTHN
FHEBERTRREZEHEMNEMER
FEH(ZEZ=F : &)

L E
EMeEaecgERamARZENE
mEH e HMENFE RAZHEIB
BR BMe2BREeEEWTHEE
(Assessment Standard for Green Building)
(GB/T 50378-2020) & 4 o R IEM R B
Ko BBFBALLEH ERNARBA -
PREIERE - BREFK  BEMBEL R
BEGEAR ST EOEE - ZMET
ERRZERENZERE -

Passive building design

BEIR AR E [ B e e o
Energy efficiency and conservation
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT

Guided by our vision to be the provider of ideal living space, the Group is
in strict compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations
in PRC, including but not limited to the Environmental Protection Law
of the PRC (/% A R 2L AN 3R 35 (R 7 J&) , Protection and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution of the PRC {/ #E A R HEF B K J5 2B 8%),
the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC {# # A R 3£
MEIKS B8 7%), the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes { 1 ZE A R $£ F B & 82
FEWYS IRIBE N A E), the Energy Conservation Law of the PRC {1 A
REMBIEILIEEJR%). Our Group would be subject to payment of fines
and penalties, and our reputation may be damaged if there is any failure
to comply with these laws and regulations. The Group has established
an environmental management system based on its operating models
and continuously obtained the certification of ISO14001 Environmental
Management System intending to promote the improvement and
development of the environmental management system and mitigate
the impacts of our operations on the environment. During the Reporting
Period, the Group is not aware of any non-compliance issue (2023: nil) in
relation to the environmental laws of Hong Kong and the PRC.

Property Design

The green building concept is incorporated into the lifecycle of our
buildings. From the development and design phases to the construction
of properties, we refer to green building guidelines and requirements,
including the Assessment Standard for Green Building (GB/T 50378-2020).
By taking into account various aspects such as public green space, indoor
natural ventilation, sound insulation quality, building lighting, construction
material optimisation, thermal insulation and shadings, we are creating
green buildings with lowered environmental impacts.

TH B

Relevant measures

MARB R LR URZ BRAIBALRFSZIMRANR

Incorporating passive building designs to improve ventilation and optimise
sunlight exposure

EEREETEEERRERAS  WEERNEERY

Installing smart temperature and humidity sensors in each unit to enhance living
conditions of residents

LEEREEE (WLEDER)

Installing energy-efficient fixtures such as LED lighting

2 &R B A SR B 88 & B ae O I E Rt M E R M e

Improving energy efficiency with designs such as variable speed ventilation
drives and heat recovery

REANGREBEERES

Exploring renewable energy opportunities such as solar energy
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Green designs and features Relevant measures

PR R T 87 40 FR 7K o (ERAMEIKEBEZH KRS

Water efficiency and conservation Using water-efficient designs such as water-saving features
EANEREER e LZERERFERBUEZENERER

Indoor air quality Installing air purifying equipment to improve indoor air quality
gl o  EIEZEREAKZL

Green space

T ith
EMERETRAMNEERIRGERS
HERSBETREE BRELEHE
TEETHBENRBEEZREN BHEZ
ERBARARMEETIHNRERY
M WRADESMITENEmEE -

Greening of rooftops and vertical walls

Construction Sites

We ensure full compliance with the relevant environmental laws and
regulations at operating locations by enforcing various monitoring and
control measures in different key construction site management aspects.
Implementing the measures promotes the environmental friendliness
of our construction sites and reduce its negative impacts on the nearby
communities.

EEEM HHBAE I
Management aspects Relevant measures
REHEH e MEBEERAENIH -HERSEAEHREZEEEI61E100% I ([61E
Air emissions 100%])
Implementing the “Six 100%"” ("6 & 100% ") measures of dust pollution
prevention and control at construction sites under regulatory requirements
o IRBE MBS T RS KR HIIE B RS B 69 520 51 1 BE Bk AR
Measuring and limiting the exhaust smoke of diesel engines for non-road mobile
machinery as required by local government
REEYE R o IMSRIEE BRI ERITIRE K EREEMNEE

Waste management

K E 1 .
Wastewater management
RIFEE .

Environmental management

Reinforcing the management of the disposal and recycling of construction
wastes in response to the latest requirements
EREERNBREREZERENEERTEY

Sourcing qualified vendors to ensure proper treatment and disposal of hazardous
wastes

TEHE AR 2 AT A% T30 EE 7K B 38 52 AT 4R 7K 7

Treating wastewater at our work sites to acceptable limits before discharge
THHRBEABDEETHNRE K2 REERBETTERRE

Arranging regular inspections on the environmental, safety and health measures
conducted by construction contractors
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MEEE Property Management
BMBEBRDSERREE  BERSEEY We continue to enhance the environmental performance of our self-
¥MRRER - TR AFEREERME operating properties by adopting various green measures. Below are the

POIREFEMERNNEREE -

EEEE

major initiatives carried out during the year to manage the environmental
impacts of our activities.

HEEE

Management aspects

ERE R

Energy management

REER

Environmental management
HPE2H

Tenants’ engagement

&= %
Recycling

RKKERER

Rainwater collection and reuse

MEERE

Property management

Relevant measures

o BHREARSITRRLEDEER
Upgrading lighting systems with LED fixtures

e RO RHEFHHNRAKEERS
Reducing the amount of lighting used in common areas

o HEFFISO 14001 RFE B RHHRE
Maintaining ISO 14001 Environmental Management System certification

e EBEPKER(E - KRYEER) BERERE
Encouraging tenants to minimise their resource consumption (electricity, water
and material use)

o MMEPREMEBIWEERNE - LURDEY
Providing tenants with recycling facilities for waste reduction

e HMREASHLZER/BRETEEETDUTRBHELBLEXRY TERER
AT UXHEMBNNEXRDBRBRES
Supporting the old clothing recycling activity of local government by providing
venues for equipment and publicity activities and encouraging tenants to donate
old clothes to those in need

o HMBBEKFKESKSE RieLHERREAREAEE,PETLS
R IE F8 HE 4R 11 175 B
Assisting construction contractors to implement safety protective measures for
tenants during construction work by separating rainwater from sewage

o WMRBBEBREBZREARERERD BEEAZREMARERER
BV S
Ensuring strict compliance with relevant regulations when using pesticides and
cleansing agents, and aiming for zero incidents regarding their use and storage

o REFMATHEBHEZERFAMETRER
Treating waste cooking oils from restaurants before being discharged

o REBERRMFEEEELRABMETK  EYRRE
Managing community wastewater, waste and noise according to national and
local standards
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ERUBEERTE  BERETEERER
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REERRNER PN FHhHERREES
AETE YHEBELRBRERTHEZE—TRA
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ETERESEFRNAEES

A1 BERYD

=R SRR

AEBMPEROERSAMEIEREGHE
HOEFERRE - RS BEEBRASR
BRGNS SRR E R
OB S E B EE N = RS R
Moo AEBEMBERN -—T=FF
ERITRAMHHRR T —EHA10% -

RIBEMHE - ZRSRYHFRAT ¢

ZRSRYER

A1:

Education-related business

As part of our environmental protection efforts, the Group emphasises
energy conservation and reduction of paper use in the operation of our
education-related business. Through the replacement of paper-based
office administrative systems with the electronic office automation (OA)
system, we are promoting paperless practices across our offices. We have
also raised environmental awareness of employees as they are encouraged
to turn off electronic appliances when not in use, reuse paper and adopt
double-sided printing whenever possible.

In terms of provision of educational products, in addition to strictly
complying with the stringent requirements of the Education Bureau of
Hong Kong on quality of educational supplies, we are advocating the
adoption of energy-efficient and environmental-friendly products such as
supporting the transitioning from traditional paper books to e-books and
will work towards this direction in the course of book publications. We
have also provided recyclable teaching supplies to schools by storing them
in warehouses when not in use.

EMISSIONS

Air Pollutants Emission

The air pollutants emitted by the Group mainly come from the fuel
consumed by electric generators. We encourage employees to adopt
alternative communication means, such as continuing to actively
implement carbon reduction measures in order to reduce air pollutants
emissions that arise from operations. Furthermore, the Group targets to
reduce the emission of air pollutants by 10% by 2030 as compared to
2022.

During the reporting period, the air pollutant emission was as follows:

Type of air pollutants

AREy (|l m)
Nitrogen oxides (NOXx)
ey (FEtym)
Sulphur oxides (SOx)
SBF RN (B2 FERL)
Particulate matter (PM)

F5 2,718.99
kg
Fr 55.46
kg
Fre 8.01
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AEERBIHRYRIRELCNARE
2 HAEFERMNRELARLHEE
BHREKAR - Bt ARERORRER

RECNTE UREBREANLED

EASERHEREHER EXEL B
E¥METE BMEHERTEEERE
BENERAEER RPN EZEER
REARMEKEERRENAERD
MR - AREZEER DT - At
BXEVHEREBE RATEEERN
BERANEERHRIREMOEREE
BRARBBUHRATERTIRE -~A5H
MEZRIN -_Z-TFIAEZREIERR
—T - FRAD10% o AEEREKE
REEERECRABRKE I ERER]
—ERIRERRAER]—& -

—E_NFRERBHERERFIEBET
TERARHEME A AEEEEBR

RIEME  REREBEHROT

BERBHER

GHG emission’
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emission

The Group recognise that the community is gradually concerned with
climate change as it affects our daily life and poses a risk to its business.
Hence the Group is committed to mitigating the effects of climate change
and protecting the health of our employees and community.

As a conglomerate group integrating real estate investment and
development, industrial operation, commercial property management,
formative education and emerging industries investment businesses,
our source of emission is mainly the indirect emission through electricity
consumption for our business operation. The Group attaches great
importance to reducing the carbon footprint by gradually establishing
emission targets, incorporating energy-saving initiatives and measures
into our daily operations and continuously exploring new opportunities
to achieve emission reduction through our environmental management
system. The Group targets to reduce the GHG emission by 10% by 2030
as compared to 2022. Details of the Group’s energy efficiency measures
and practices were summarised in the section “Use of Resources” and
green office policies mentioned in the section “The Environment and
Natural Resources”.

The GHG emission remained stable in 2024 was primarily attributable
to the effective implementation of energy-saving policies during the

Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, the GHG emission was as follows:

HENHWRES

Scope 1 emissions?
HE28EHE

Scope 2 emissions*
BERBEIREE
Total GHG emission
BRERBHNEE
GHG emission intensity

BERBERENHENENARTRATEN
ERHRBERA -

B L R B B TR T S A B 3 0 7
HERBEE Bl =T = FRBRRES -
1 AP S SR BB B A BV B o

EE 2 MEFHEEREENEL 2 ERMEHMN -

L= o 463.18 381.71
tonnes of CO,-e
WS bikg = 11,516.23 11,757.66
tonnes of CO,-e
W —E bikEg = 11,979.41 12,139.37
tonnes of CO,-e
WS biRE 2 F K 0.0077 0.0078

tonnes of CO,-e/m?

The calculation of the GHG emission is based on the “Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standard” from GHG protocol.

The year 2023 data has been restated for enhancing comparative purpose and more
advanced and updated scientific calculation models and methodologies have been
adopted.

Scope 1: Direct emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by the Group.

Scope 2: Indirect emissions include energy indirect emissions from the generation of
purchased electricity.
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BEREEERREY

RNEHE AEENKEIH T EY
REGER M EXNBTBEENED - #
VHEABDFE - FELNEZEE
MEZR/M DMK EERE—RE
ZY - REEREEREY  AKECAH
BMERERAEETIHEFENESIE
EEMHEENAEERE AREHERE

=/ 48
B2 o

REEGEZLIRERMOEE HEAZK
g AR D EA MR AR - &
BEABEABRELEESFRIE R WKE
Y - BMgRRARTZEMEEEHER
GetEEe o BUANBARIRERE
B MBI BEREKBIE -
EMEENRAELE KMFEET R
RRRAEIR] — TR I HOZ BN N
Ko BRINFRTLETHLE &K
MEESI NN ELEEEEMNESERE
BRI -_Z=FMEENEETEEY
BT FED10% e

—E_NFEANEERENRDTIE
ZEEANRENEEREEHEBR
REBEME AEEELENEZTEREY
mr

EENEZERY

Non-hazardous waste generated

EEH—REEY

General waste generated

E AR REER
Construction waste generated
EENBEREYEE

Waste generated intensity

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operational activities do not
involve the production of finished products and the hazardous waste
to be generated is minimal so it is not significant to concern. The non-
hazardous waste generated was mainly general waste such as office
paper, domestic waste, etc. As part of our waste management, the Group
have formulated detailed guidance for all front-line and back-office staff
to follow in our operating places and offices to mitigate our impacts on
the environment.

The Group plans to establish steps to gradually increase the garbage
sorting spots in our communities under management to facilitate
recycling and to engage contractors to undertake and handle the recycled
waste in a timely and orderly manner. We will promote the concept of
a green community by conducting various community activities so as to
strengthen public awareness of environmental protection and establish
the habit of garbage sorting and recycling. In our daily office operation,
we continue to adhere to the green office policies listed in the section
“The Environment and Natural Resources”. Given these current operating
practices and plans, we continue to strive to prevent hazardous waste
generation and target to reduce the generation of nonhazardous waste
by 10% by 2030 as compared to 2022.

The decrease in non-hazardous waste generated in 2024 was primarily
attributable to the effective implementation of energy-saving policies
during the Reporting Period.

The non-hazardous waste generated by the Group during the Reporting
Period was as follows:

—E-mEF
2024

A 12,330.23 18,490.75
tonnes
72 - -
tonnes
W, 5K 0.00790 0.01181
tonnes/m?
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A2: Use of Resources

In our daily operation, energy and water are the major sources of resource
consumption. The Group consistently aims to implement energy and
water efficiency initiatives to reduce energy and water consumption.
The Group also motivates all its employees to participate in resource
conservation activities and encourages them to save energy and water.

Energy Consumption

The Group considers environmental protection as an essential component
of a sustainable and responsible corporate. With aims of resource
conservation and implementation of energy-saving measures, the
Group actively promotes the concept of energy saving and emission
reduction into the entire process of its development and operation. In the
meantime, the Group puts effort into raising employees’ awareness of
green behaviour by implementing green office policies (extracted in the
section “The Environmental and Natural Resources”), including switching
off all the lights and applicable electronic office equipment by the end
of the work day. Air-conditioning temperatures are set to 25.5°C. In our
daily operation, purchased electricity is the major source of our energy
consumption.

In order to further mitigate our impacts on the environment from
energy consumption, we target to establish in steps by applying in our
community’s management for lighting systems with sensor functions;
investigating the feasibility of the implementation of solar panels and
incorporating the assessment with energy-saving characteristics when
making new quotation for equipment. The Group targets to reduce
energy consumption by 10% by 2030 as compared to 2022.

The increase in energy consumption in 2024 was mainly attributable to
the demand of heating and hot water supply in the PRC offices during the
Reporting Period.



68

REEREEERAT —T_FR

RiE - -HEREBRSE
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIS AEERBATAFMES
BB R T -

RERH #E

Energy consumption

BAENERE
Purchased electricity consumption
SehIERE

Diesel consumption
RIARIHERE

Natural gas consumption
RS

Towngas

sERH AR R

Total energy consumption
BEREREEE

Energy consumption intensity

FKE
KEAEERELEFHREENEARE
B2 — - NIREMME AR AEEEEE
Fith 75 BURS BT ER (A KR - MU S B
EAMASKEUER KRB E - REBE
BERFERLEKEBBECRAE
BRIESEIHOBKED WIRES
TREE/KBEDE & B & 04 v (oK IR
EHE2RMEZE - AEBERYER K
MIEEHEAKEETEADITUER
EEEE AEENEER =T =F
FRKER - - _FEFHL10%

TENERKERD D EIEZHEENR
= HIRA M E A KBUR -

HRECEBRENRERTEERMENNFER
STEERESE AR T -=FHRE WS -

During the Reporting Period, the energy consumption of the Group
attributable to the purchased electricity was as follows:

—E-mF
2024
JKFL B 14,604.63 14,790.92
MWh
JK FL B 56.38 33.15
MWh
JK FL B 2,008.10 887.15
MWh
JK FL B 20.23 23.81
MWh
JK FL B 16,689.35 15,735.03
MWh
JRELRF 5 K 10.69 10.05
kWh/m?

Water Consumption

Water is one of the most important natural resources for the Group’s
daily operations. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have
any issue in sourcing water as we use water resources provided by the
regional government legally. The Group actively seeks ways to mitigate
water consumption by raising employees’ awareness of water saving
through green office policies such as reminding employees to turn the
faucet off tightly and conducting regular inspections and maintenance of
our water supply pipelines to prevent leakage and blockage. The Group
closely monitors and performs monthly analysis of the water usage in the
communities under management to spot any abnormal consumption.
The Group targets to reduce water consumption by 10% by 2030 as
compared to 2022.

The decrease in water consumption in 2024 was mainly attributable to
the effective implementation of water-saving policies during the Reporting
Period.

The year 2023 data has been restated for enhancing comparative purpose and more
advanced and updated scientific calculation models and methodologies have been
adopted.
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MG  REBEFKENOT : During the Reporting Period, the water consumption of the Group was as
follows:

FEKE BA —E-mF

Water consumption

FEKE SR 361,479.00 514,787.40

Water consumption m?

FREERE SMHARSFIK 0.23 0.33

Water consumption intensity m3/m?
RERRXAER A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
RAKEEMNEEMS ML TNEBM Regarding the operation of our Group, we are not aware of any significant
MEBEHIRBE M RAERENEATE - impacts of our activities on the environment and natural resources.
R4 BRI - AN B 2 B 1515014001 3R During the Reporting Period, the Group has obtained the certification of
REBERRE L/(i%%ﬁf?ﬁﬁﬂf&ﬁﬂl the 15014001 Environmental Management System in recognition of our
RUBNBLEHREBERRARBRNZE efforts in incorporating the environmental policies to minimize the impacts
NE B G EETISOZAE ‘%z?ﬁ’].(‘%—f%ﬁ on the environment and natural resources. The Group will continue to
E O WEAREEAEERETRREHRE - adhere to the international requirement from the 1SO Standard System
R ERRASEEER - and implement environment-friendly practices in the Group’s operation in

order to enhance environmental sustainability.

REMABUR Green office policies

BHN&ERABERELES - AK- Our green office policies incorporate the management and consumption

MR R AAROE ﬁ&/ﬁ FEER of electricity, water, paper, and office supplies intending to reduce

DR BHEER R ERBRE - (timER emissions and conserve energy and resource consumption achieving

BLEERMEETFNERMNA - KMZ i optimal utilization of resources in our operation ultimately. We have

RERDZER A ABRRENER  H persistently adopted effective green office policies throughout the years,

HREE which include:

e BEHFAREHREML255T e Setting of air-conditioning temperature to 25.5°C;

o HFMAERHENE  =HKEMN - e Turning off the lights, air-conditioners and computers when they
TEREEIRM A R A leave the office to ensure efficient use of energy;

e REUNEFHXAREBEARLEASE e Advocating the electronic means to replace paper and implementing
FTREFHRS the digital operating approval system;

e BBMEARFRAREE KL e Reducing paper consumption by using recycled paper and double-
R D 4K 5RE#E sided printing or shrinkage modes;

e HERAAMEBEBRA BREINK e Promoting the replacement principle for office supplies requisition to
ZHEREE avoid unnecessary purchases;

e BMANEIEERNREER e Sorting office waste to facilitate waste handling and recycling;
Bl

o HEERE SRR ITENDR e Promoting virtual meetings to reduce carbon emissions caused by

BERK travel;
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A4:

o Proactively promoting the staff’s environmental awareness and
energy conservation knowledge in daily operations through
publication or educational activities;

o Performing regular inspection and maintenance of equipment in
good condition for operational efficiency; and

e Boosting environmental-friendly vibes in workplaces by posting
posters, and slogans and organising staff activities.

Climate Change

The Group acknowledges that climate change has caused frequent
extreme weather events, global warming and rising sea levels and
bringing impacts and challenges to the world, while increasingly stringent
environmental laws and regulations can potentially raise compliance
and operating costs of the Group. This impact can threaten corporate
operations, and our operations are no exception.

Given this, we incorporate and address climate-related risks in our overall
risk assessment that may impact us taking into consideration its frequency,
possibility and intensity. We collaborate with available national data,
local information and expert knowledge in the risk assessment process in
order to identify existing and future risks and opportunities. Through the
risk management process, we aim to diversify the risks with our business
strategy and contribute our efforts to the community to confront climate
change.

We continue to keep our awareness of climate change regarding
monitoring of carbon footprint in our daily operation. Our Group
assesses how the business should respond to climate-related risks and
takes the initiative to monitor and mitigate our impact by reducing the
environmental footprint.
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Climate-related Issues

During the Reporting Period, the Group classified the climate-related
risks into physical risk and transitional risk, which have impacted and/or
may impact our Group, as well as steps taken to manage these risks, as
follows:

BEXE BEEAEERARRANEE

Steps taken to manage the risks

Potential impact

BERER
Physical Risk

BEERER

Acute physical risks

o RMRAFMUKZRF SR KRS
R sER REREREEEM -
Increased frequency and severity
of immediate extreme weather
events such as typhoons and
floods.

REHEEEAR

Chronic physical risks

o MRKEAMNRAELRRERE
=B IR 2 1
Long-term changes in
precipitation patterns and
extreme variability in weather
patterns.

RRBRABESI R M RME R
#iEHIREE  EREBKTE X
EINEERE o

The weather phenomenon may
result and damage our equipment
and facilities leading to business
interruption and increasing
operating costs.

FRE L RS FHERME
FSE W B AR A0 3
PR R AL -

Prolonged rising temperatures in
summer or frost in winter may
lead to higher energy consumption
and increased operating and
maintenance costs.

YT E _EA R BT ROMOK - I
REEEENRIEE -

Rising sea levels may bring
flooding and cause damage to the
building structure.

i E B =
B e
Formulate an emergency plan in
response to the worst weather
scenario.

AR B AHAR

BEBEHBEMHHRRRIFES
WHEZES M ERTFRERER
REFZMVELPIEBEAZR -
Attend to the official announcement
of the weather/climatic warnings
and remind our customers to be
aware of personal safety through
mobile applications when warnings
in issued.

HREETOITIRE MR LIEIR
% WHIEBIRIEEHZEN
T ) R LR o

Conduct routine inspections on the
equipment to maintain order and
reduce the potential risk of business
interruption as affected by climate
events.
ALK REBRER &Y ERED
HEIFT o

Install flood gates for properties with
higher flood risk.

EITEHRE - UERRIEFL R
KEERFHE - DU K0S
THEANZE -

Conduct regular inspections to
ensure manholes and drains, etc are
unblocked to reduce the impact of
floods or rising sea levels.
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Steps taken to manage the risks

Potential impact

1B Rk

Transitional Risk

ERRE

Legal risk

e HRBNEGHARREENL
B E BB B AR ROE R AR o
Exposure to tightening laws and
regulations on climate change
issued by the government.

B i 2 B
Technology risk

ERAE TR E BT R Beig
IMEEING & FRPKAR

Any failure in compliance may
increase additional compliance
costs.

T B E B R ITAE 2 B -
Change in requirements and
standards for property supervision
by the government.

THR R BB B & BT R BT B9 &
B R B T HER B P R B
B WA RESHREK
KRIFEEFL o

Upgrading our systems and
equipment with low-carbon and
energy-saving technologies may
foster our business development
but may involve higher investment
costs and R&D expenses.

EREMRRARRIERNER -
Monitor the updates on relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

REBER SR MEIBIERFB AT -
Maintain proper emission records
and data for internal analysis.

EREERMBRREIM L BEERE
AR EEN AT R -
Examined the feasibility and benefits
of applying the latest environmental
technologies and renewable
resources into our operation.

SEFFMTERENRRER
S

Continuous update and optimize the
environmental management system
of our enterprise.
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BESE BB EH R Ak FTERE Y B
Potential impact Steps taken to manage the risks
TIEREERR o HFENEFERMATAAISHEMME o RABRPEMEBEESWARBE
Market and reputational risk TEBNHREBRETRPMA BAR -
ERERNEE - Continuously incorporate the

Lagging behind new technologies
may weaken our competitive

edges and reputation in respond

to customer satisfaction to win

new engagement. o

concept of emission reduction and
energy conservation into our service
management.

BT FERL - AR EM R
RETHAR -

Apply government subsidy to
purchase materials and upgrade
equipment.

o  HEMFHNEIEEBGERRES
RATEAN®ERA BTN -
Organise green environmental
campaigns and cooperated with
local government with high
degree of recognition to raise our
competitiveness in the industry.

BB RIE R EIR R R BB
FIRIRBAEER W ROME - Pl
e R B R R R EIE S EEMA
BAKBERBREN A N ESEFRRERT S

By adopting the measures reducing our environmental footprint, we
recognise opportunities arising from the climate-related issues such as
saving operating cost in long-term with energy-efficient equipment and
technologies, reducing energy consumption cost, and gaining new access

RS  RMBEEERHEE ¥
BFREFHE UBRRIRERES
R D BB R B R B

AREERREER B NOR E R8P e
BERARFEREREEERIKIEHRR
REBRMEEERNTENBRIER -
REBEEHEMZEEST  FU AR
PEERERBRONERIL -

to environmental-friendly markets. We will continue to explore further
new opportunities together with our stakeholders to develop climate
resilience and reduce their operational carbon footprint.

Our Group regards the energy consumption and GHG emission indicators
are the key metrics used to assess and manage relevant climate-related
risks and their impact on our operation. By regular tracking of these
indicators, our Group can assess the effectiveness of emission reduction
initiatives and targets.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECT

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

B1: Employment

51 5%k A _E 51 or above

The Group believes our employees are essential assets, which are
also the foundation for the success and development of the Group.
As such, we aim to attract and retain talents, ensure a safe and
equal working environment for our employees, provide development
opportunities and promote employee health and well-being. The
commitment is incorporated into our staff handbook. The staff
handbook covers the Group’s standards in respect of compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods and other benefits and welfare.

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group fully complied with
all of the relevant laws and regulations in the region we operated,
including the Labour Law of the PRC.

Below are the employee breakdowns by gender, age group,
employment position and geographical region.

RERERNE S
By Employment Type

3%,
1%

96%

o REE
General staff

hAREIEE

Middle management

=ARER
Senior management

Rt EE D
By Geographical Location

2\

92%

® &7 Hong Kong A& PRC
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The employee turnover rate during the Reporting Period by gender,
age group and geographical region are as follows:

—EMEF
EERARLER Employee turnover rate 2024
=R &S By gender
e Bt e Male 51% 61%
o It e Female 39% 37%
RERAR B D By age group
e 30T e Age 30 or below 86% 90%
. 31-50% e Age31-50 42% 47%
e SImREMALE e Age 517 or above 4% 14%
RESE D By geographical region
e FHE e Hong Kong 27% 17%
e F e ThePRC 48% 54%
g Overall 47% 51%

HHERS  BERABMATNE
RASEBRRAENEETR -
PMREEBENRR &R RARK
REREBRMABRF HOFHMEFE -
NEZREHAKENESRH -
BES - AR D E T EBA R ROA
B REERHESREBIEEA
e

BB ETREMELANCREA
RAEMBELHE) (BBHARE)
CRAKEFE ANREE) A N B 5 & IR
B BREEA  TERH - RE-
FERE ZHEE RERALE
fi 48 ) R AR AL AE B A0 Ho A B DA 2
A DRRBEXRRERZ 2
BREETREERES  BRBLE

EAEANER - (B THRBEES
EY (EHMBRBERGE) (&
RABERGIE) R(HRIBERE
EREIDERREESIHRE B
B-w@ikHFm TR £
EIEETTEARE RIFEDBEAL -

Remuneration is an important tool for us to attract, retain and
motivate talents in achieving key goals of the Group. We provide
competitive remuneration packages for our employees according to
their performance, experience and relevant skill set in recognition
of their invaluable contribution to the Group. In addition, we fully
complied with relevant laws and regulations to provide social
insurance and housing provident funds for our employees.

We strictly comply with the Labour Law of the PRC{H # A R £ A0
2 &)%), the Labour Contract Law (% &) & [E] /%), the Law on
the Protection of Minors (R Ak & A {R# %), and other relevant
laws and regulations in relation to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare, in where we operate, ensure occupational health and safety,
optimise employee career development mechanism and strictly
prohibit any form of discrimination. Our policies and guidelines,
such as the Recruitment Management System, the Attendance and
Leave Management System, the Assignee Management System,
and the Guidelines for Career Planning for Officers, outline the
provisions and conditions of employment, recruitment, benefits and
remuneration, code of conduct, attendance management, etc.
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We are an equal opportunities employer who endeavours to create
a diverse, anti-discrimination and inclusive workplace where all
our employees are treated with dignity and respect. The principle
of equal opportunities is applied in all employment practices and
policies, in particular to aspects of remuneration, recruitment,
training, career development and promotion of employees. In
addition to our commitment in promoting equal opportunity, we
have designated grievance channels in place such that employees
can report suspected non-compliance or misconduct without fear of
reprisal. We encourage our employees to report any alleged unlawful
practices or misconduct and maintain two-way communication
through networking activities and feedback sessions. Upon receipt
of the suspected case, we will address their complaints or grievances
according to our predetermined formal procedures.

The Group promotes fair competition and prohibits discrimination
or harassment against any employee on their gender, age, marital
status, religion, race, nationality, disability or any status protected by
law.

The Group offers fair promotion opportunities which serve as a
motivation for employees to continue learning and improving work
performance. We conduct performance appraisals regularly on
employees’ working ability, behaviour and development potential
to rank and adjust job positions. We are devoted to helping our
employees to demonstrate their capabilities in line with their own
career ambitions and the business objectives of the Group.

All of our employees are entitled to paid annual leave (adjusted by
seniority), paid sick leave, compassionate leave, maternity leave or
abortion leave, work injury leave and etc are provided on top of
statutory holidays, aiming to support their work-life balance and
accompany their needs. In accordance with statutory regulations, all
eligible employees are enrolled on a defined contribution mandatory
provident fund scheme in Hong Kong or a social insurance scheme
in Mainland China.

Staff Activities

The Group is dedicated to create a caring and harmonious working
environment to achieve a balance between the work and cultural
lives of our employees. During the Reporting Period, we held various
recreational and teambuilding staff activities to strengthen employee
cohesion, enhance their sense of belongings to the Group and
establish a motivated corporate culture.
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B2: Health and Safety

The Group has always placed the highest priority on securing the
health and safety of our employees. We strive to provide a safe and
healthy working environment for all employees to protect them
from occupational injuries or accidents. With our efforts, we have
continuously obtained I1SO 45001:2018 Occupational Health and
Safety Management System certification in recognition of our service
quality. Our safety plans include the following aspects:

e  Provide safety guidance to our employees and conduct
education and training in occupational health and safety.
Promote the culture of “Safety First” so that the employees
can foster and enhance their occupational safety awareness
and acquire necessary knowledge in preventing safety risks;

° Carry out regular fire drills and trainings with communities; and

e  (Care for employees’ physical and mental health, conduct
regular interviews to understand employees’ concerns and
launch surveys to learn more about employees’ needs.

We are committed to creating a safe and comfortable work
environment that allows employees to thrive and succeed.
The Group strictly adheres to local health and safety laws and
regulations, including the Law on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases of the PRC(/ #E A R X FI B B /K
JAJ%&), the Provisions on the Supervision and Management of
Occupational Health at Work Sites{ T{ES TR WA EBE B IEMR
7E ), the Regulation on Work-related Injury Insurances{ T {5 {R & fi&
1) and other relevant laws and regulations. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance (2023: nil)
with the relevant laws and regulations in providing a safe working
environment.

During the Reporting Period, there were 2 work injury cases (2023:
5, 2022: 4) and 110 lost days due to work injury (2022: 310, 2021:
348) in our business operation. There was no work-related fatality
case (2023:1, 2022: nil) in 2024.
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Safety Training and Prevention Demonstration

Annually, we held a series of practical trainings and seminars
to enhance the occupational safety awareness of our staff and
provided best practice guidance on management services to enrich
their occupational knowledge and strengthen their adaptability.
The Group believes that providing training to our staff with respect
to their soft skills in crisis management as well as upgrading the
safety hardware in the community are both important pillars to
safeguard the health and safety of staff and also the property
owners. Fire safety management, flood prevention management,
elevator maintenance and epidemic control and prevention are
our core aspects to safeguard workplace safety. Regular fire drills
were conducted to rehearse the set emergency plans to enhance
our employee’s resilience during accidents. Safety equipment is
subject to regular inspection under closed-loop management to
ensure in proper order and allow strict rectification of any problems
timely noted with the applicable requirements. With these safety
prevention measures, we aim to further improve the safety
awareness of our staff and also our customers and establish a safe,
stable and harmonious workplace and community.

Epidemic Controls and Prevention

Safeguard the health and safety of our customers and employees in
our communities under management and workplaces are always our
mission. During the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic and under the
circumstances of regular epidemic control and prevention, the Group
actively responded and implemented precautionary and control
measures to fight against the pandemic with the society:

. Regular sanitation management in public areas, buildings and
facilities and perform frequent disinfection in key areas;

. Strict prevention, access control, identification track and
temperature checks at community entrances and exits;

e  Frequent temperature checks daily on staff to monitor any
irregularities;

e Promote remote lift control by user through mobile application
to reduce direct physical contacts;

e Arrange designated garbage bins to collect the used epidemic
prevention materials and centralise the disposal process
properly to reduce transition;
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e  Facilitate and coordinate the daily grocery shopping for
property owners at safe and convenient conditions during
necessary quarantine period;

e Require mask-wearing by staff and customers in indoor area.

Our staff coordinated the anti-pandemic work for our properties
under management. Comprehensive disinfection and sanitation in
key areas including green zones, public facilities and drainage pipes
were conducted twice daily to minimise the spread of the virus from
the source. Our staff remained accountable and stayed on guard
paying additional attention in the underground carparks, sewage
systems and garbage stations which are the severely affected areas
during flooding to conduct the sanitation work.

All members of the Group are united to build a frontline force
and cooperate with the government’s prevention and control
arrangement to defend our communities.

Development and Training

We actively support the continuous development of our employees
to help them develop in their both existing roles and future careers.
In accordance with our internal policies and guidelines such as
the Training Management System, the Guidelines for Assignment
Management Training and the Internal Trainer Management
Guidelines, the Group continues to allocate resources to promote
the long-term professional and personal development of our
employees that align with their professional ambitions and goals.
The proportion of our trained employees to the total workforce and
the composition breakdown of trained employees by gender and
employment position were as follows:

BN
Proportion of

ZES LB (%) trained employees (%) 2024
®RER &S By gender
° B ° Male 100% 93%
o Ik e Female 69% 87%
RS S By employment position
e SREREE e Senior management 100% 100%
o HFREEE e Middle management 46% 95%
s EBEBT e General 100% 94%

e Overall 95% 91%
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Besides, the average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employment position were as follows:

—EMEF
55 A HI M F 3G R B Average training hours completed
(I ES) (hours/employee) 2024
BRI &S By gender
e Bt e Male 36.93 31.16
o XIE e Female 40.08 30.31
BB E D By employment position
s SERERE e Senior management 7.50 6.00
s HREREE e Middle management 10.91 8.84
e EEBT e General 42.24 33.69
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The professional growth of our people is essential to the
advancement of our business. Training Plan are developed annually
to ensure the training provided aligns with the needs of the Group
and employees, keeping them abreast of the latest developments
in the industry. To nurture our talented workforce, we offer tailor
on-the-job training and self-learning programmes to build an elite
team that is long-last, professional and highly efficient. For example,
employees under the education division are provided with training in
curriculum development and facility management to enhance their
knowledge in the education services industry. Meanwhile, employees
under property management division are offered job-specific training
on topics such as standardised management, emergency response
and epidemic prevention and control.

To foster a culture of lifelong learning and continuous pursuit of
excellence, we also encourage our employees to participate in
courses organised by professional organisations which are beneficial
to their career development, enhancing their professional knowledge
and skillsets.

We care about our employees’ well-being and encourage them
to achieve work-life balance. Through organising different team
building events, we aim to enhance cohesion and teamwork among
staff and deepen their sense of belonging to the Group.
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The Group is committed to upholding the elimination of all forms of
forced and compulsory labour and supporting the effective abolition
of child labour. The Group strictly complies with the Labour Law of
the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC and other applicable
laws and regulation. We have formulated strict regulations on
managing the prohibition of child labour. To prevent unlawful
recruitment of employees under the age of 16 as child labour,
employees are required to provide identity proofs to the human
resources department to verify their age as part of the recruitment
process. All work should be voluntarily performed and shall not
involve forced labour. If any violation of laws and regulations in
relation to labor standards is found, we would investigate the
incident, and impose appropriate penalties to accountable staff
subject to the severity and review any defects in the human
resources system in place.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance (2023: nil) in relation to the employment of child labour,
forced or compulsory labour in any of our operations.

&EE G OPERATING PRACTICES
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AEBEBRARERLREHEDE
- BMBEABRFSEEREN
MECEBEER R B
BUBRBAMERE -

RIS ERT - AEBEES 14851
EE(ZE-=F : 165AHER) -
Z2EHURFPE - AEEERAFA
FRAVERAIFHEERFENE
= RBREEINERLRESRE -
MR -EEREHSHEHLETT
RETHE  BE(EBERRE) -
LMBFE el ERNESE
FHETTER — R WRBLRAEN -
EREREATEHEENETTESY
T BREAEBNREEE
REREREEES(ARBRER
ZEYPMG - REBBIEZ,RERS
BERXTEI(EREFZEIN
AR -

The Group works with various product and service providers. We
integrate sustainability into our supply chain by purchasing products/
services from reputable enterprises that uphold high corporate
standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 148 suppliers
(2023: 165), which were 100% location in the PRC. With the
principles of fairness and impartiality and incorporation of sustainable
development factor, the Group makes comprehensive appraisals on
suppliers based on factors such as suppliers’ quality of the goods
and services, efficiency, qualifications and experience to determine
our Qualified Supplier List. We review the background information
of suppliers at least once a year and classify them into different
grades according to their performance, qualification and credit. To
ensure the service quality of the Group, disqualified suppliers will
be removed from our Qualified Supplier List. Procurement tender/
quotation invitation will only be sent to suppliers on our Qualified
Supplier List.
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For our education-related business, we regularly evaluate our food
suppliers and school bus operators to assess their alignments with
our strategic visions and guarantee the delivery of quality products
and services.

The Group also emphasizes on the selection of products that cause
minimal impacts on the environment, for example, we purchase
green cleaning products and/or reusable goods instead of single-
use disposable ones. To raise environmental protection awareness
and engage our suppliers to contribute to sustainable development,
we welcome suppliers who demonstrate their commitment to
environmental sustainability. Suppliers with I1SO certification will also
be considered with higher priority during procurement assessment.

Product and Services Responsibility

As a property management service provider, we commit to taking
our responsibility of quality management over our product and
service. The Group follows the Regulation on Property Management
of PRC and has formulated and implemented the Property
Management Quality Management Measures and other applicable
laws and regulations. With our effort, the Group has continuously
obtained ISO 9001 Quality Management System certificate for our
property management service. To improve our service, the Group’s
complaint handling policy is strictly in accordance with regulatory
standards to ensure that customers’ opinions are heard and
responded in a timely manner.

For our property management services, we stick to the following
objectives in delivering quality services to our tenants:

Develop quality properties that embrace innovation and
enhance the neighbourhood;

° Provide sincere service and constantly improve our property
management;

° Strive for high standards by building scientific and standardised

property management, and achieve customer satisfaction; and

e  Provide a tasteful living and working environment with
standardised service.
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Safety is of paramount importance to our business. To ensure
the quality of property, we carried out assessment on a variety
of criteria in our property development projects, including actual
measurements, safety and civilisation, quality risk and management
measures. Furthermore, we commissioned independent third-party
professionals to carry out additional inspections, including delivery
risk inspection, quality inspection and sentience evaluation, to obtain
impartial and unbiased opinions on delivered projects. For major
defects identified from the assessments, we would explore relevant
improvement measures and review annually, thus allowing us to
adopt more appropriate construction methods and further improve
the construction quality in our future projects.

We place the health and safety of students and staff in our schools
as a top priority. We have established a hierarchical quality control
system in managing the quality of our day-to-day food supplies. To
ensure that food quality is up to standard after the long delivery
journey, we have appointed dedicated personnel to manage food
supplies in specific areas of each school. Regular inspections on
the hygiene conditions of food processing, handling, storage and
distribution are also conducted.

During the year under review, the Group had no non-compliance
(2023: nil) with relevant laws and regulations concerning health and
safety relating to products and services provided.

Customer satisfaction and recognition

We aim to achieve service excellence by thoroughly understanding
the needs of customers and surpassing their expectations. As a
regular practice, the Group conducts a customer satisfaction survey
to gather honest feedback on our service quality. Through assessing
the survey results, we are better equipped to achieve our objective
and make meaningful improvements. For our property management
business, we have consistent protocols and solutions for handling
customer complaints in a closed-loop management approach.
Through our offline and online platforms, we promptly handle
complaints and comments from our customers, providing them with
timely and detailed responses. During the reporting period under
review, the Group addressed customer complaints related to our
products and services, with a 100% prompt processing rate. We
also arrange customer site visits to our commercial projects quarterly
and our residential projects biannually. These site visits enable us to
better communicate with our customers and quickly respond to their
needs.
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B7:

Protection of Customer Data Privacy

The Group recognises the importance of our customers’ information
and their privacy, we have formulated a series of internal policies to
identify the rationale for the collection of personal information and
detail how we responsibly collect, manage and store data, including
but not limited to the Guidelines for Information System Security
Management and the Staff Non-disclosure Agreement. These policies
abide by relevant laws and regulations, including the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong. These measures include customer
data that is only accessible by delegated employees; statements
and declarations for information collection for business use to
inform customers with their consent. All employees are required
to stringently comply with all internal guidelines relating to the
collection, handling, transferring, storage, and disposal of customers’
personal information.

During the Reporting Period, there were no complaints (2023:
nil) of leakage of customers’ data and information or violation of
customer’s privacy.

Protection of Intellectual Properties

We consider intellectual properties as our crucial business assets,
key to our customer loyalty and essential to our future growth. The
success of our business depends substantially upon our continued
ability to use our brands, trade names and trademarks to increase
brand recognition and foster brand building. We strictly comply
with the Intellectual Property Law of Hong Kong, the Patent Law
of the PRC and other applicable laws and regulations relevant to
advertising, labelling, and intellectual property rights, so as to protect
our trademark and the book authors’ intellectual properties from
infringement. During the Reporting Period, there were no reported
non-compliances (2023: nil) regarding intellectual property and
copyright, and advertising and labelling of our products and services.

Anti-Corruption

The Group maintains a high standard of business integrity
throughout its operations. We have no tolerance for any form
of corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering and
embezzlement. We request our employees to conform to our
requirements on anti-corruption outlined in staff handbook. Once
a misconduct case is discovered and confirmed, the employee will
be subject to disciplinary action and the case will be reported to law
enforcement authority when necessary.
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The Group has established a whistle-blowing policy to provide
employees with a confidential platform to raise concerns about any
suspected cases of misconduct and malpractice through email and
hotline. All reported cases are promptly and thoroughly investigated
by the internal audit department under the audit committee. The
Group will absolutely ensure the identity of the whistleblower and
the contents of the report are strictly confidential.

The Group adheres to the Criminal Law of the PRC{/ # A R 3£ F1
B 3% ), the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC{F 2 A R 4t
B & IEE 55 %) and other applicable laws and regulations.
During the Reporting Period, no legal case concerned (2023: nil)
with corrupt practices has been brought against the Group or its
employees.

We encourage our employees to understand explicitly several areas,
which include the provisions of anti-bribery and corruption. We
invited our solicitor to provide structured training to our directors
and senior management on the topic of anti-corruption during the
reporting period.

There was no anti-corruption training (2023: nil) organised during
the reporting period. Nevertheless, the Group will try to manage
anti-corruption training for our staff to raise their awareness of
integrity and anti-corruption in the future.

COMMUNITY

B8: Community Investment

The Group recognizes that our community constitutes the
foundation for the Group’s sustainable development. Adhering
to our mission of “providing warm services”, we promote our
warm services for customers and also extend to our community.
As a socially responsible property services company, the Group is
committed to understanding the needs of the communities in which
we operate and dedicates to providing support and contribution to
our communities, with aims to promote our corporate culture and
deliver the concept of caring needy in our community neighborhood
and spreading to our society.

Since the establishment in 2013, Shenzhen Top Spring Charity
Foundation has collaborated annually with institutions such as
Beijing Green and Shine Foundation (t RiEZE A ZE & @), Beijing
Zhonglun Charity Foundation (1t = R f 2 22 & £ &), and Shanghai
Cedar Highrise Public Welfare Foundation ( E/ 82 R E £ &).
Through multiple targeted donations and care, the foundation has
supported and assisted children in impoverished areas such as Gansu
Province, Sichuan Province, and Guangxi Province in their daily lives
and education. Additionally, the foundation periodically invites Top
Spring’s employees to participate in charitable teaching activities in
the sponsored areas.



86

REFEMEMARAR — T PIFH

RiE - -HEREBRSE
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BiR  HERERRE RS

TEER-

TEC=FE-TNFHME
BMEFILAEBEEESCTRE
MARBEESSHBHEALTMN
ABHEEESE -BAZSHIEA
TREMBEENE N KMEEA
W RERHRNE - AEERMER
BRREREREENKS -

In the period of 2023 to 2024, we, together with Beijing Green
and Shine Foundation (Jt RHEZBZEE £ E) and Tencent
Charity Foundation (A& & EE S E), invited compassionate
individuals to join the charitable cause. With the efforts of these
compassionate individuals and ourselves, we aim to bring light to
more children in mountainous regions, providing them opportunities
to change their futures and roads toward their dreams.
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BIEA13
KPIA1.3

BREY
BEA4
KPI AT1.4
BREN
BIEALS
KPI A1.5
BREN
BIEALE
KPI A1.6

A2:

BREN
BIZA2.1
KPI A2.1
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Environmental
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Emissions

—REE

General Disclosure
PERE R RORR U

The types of emissions and respective emissions data

BER (BE1) RigRHEE (BE2) RERBHNER (NER)
g

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions and, where appropriate, intensity

FELEEBRENAER (WER)BE

Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate,
intensity

FELREEENRER (NER)XE

Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate,
intensity

WHPTET L B2 B R R e RE L B B Rma S8R
Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them
HREREEREEEENN AL  RIEAFET LA AR
BRAEINELERARBRNTR

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them

ERER

Use of Resources

—MRBE

General Disclosure
REREADNERRSHEEREEEREE

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and
intensity

it

Disclosure

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed
NER
Not applicable

BEHE
Disclosed
BEHE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

B

Section

[REEE]
"Environmental Aspect”
AL - BRI EMH

A1, Emissions — Air Pollutants Emission

ALBEEY - REREHN

A1, Emissions — GHG Emission

AEEREERRUBELEBERERY -
The Group did not produce hazardous waste during the
operation.

A BB -BEREEEED

A1, Emissions — Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes
ALBEERY - B E R

A1. Emissions — Emission Targets

ALBER - BB &

A1. Emissions — Emission Targets

A2 ERER
A2. Use of Resources
A2 BRER-8RER

A2. Use of Resources — Energy Consumption
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KPI A2.5
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EIRA3
KPI A3.1
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BIZA4T
KPI Ad.1

BRKEREE

Water consumption in total and intensity

RLPTET L M08 R 2 A E B R R R E DR & B R ATIRERE
TR

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them

$eh SKERGE A KR | AT B AR TR R DA B A T S 80 R K e
BRRARERELE RARRN TSR

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them

AR mAABRMENEER (NER) BEEBNGER
Total packaging material used for finished products and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced

BERRRER

The Environment and Natural Resources

—MRBEE

General Disclosure
HREBRHURERARERNEAYERERNERE
P ENTD

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them

RERE

Climate Change

—MRBE

General Disclosure

HHEERT e ETAELYENEARRERTE
REHTTE

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them
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Disclosure

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed
ERE
Disclosed

TER
Not applicable

BHE
Disclosed
ERE
Disclosed

[REi
Disclosed
[REiE
Disclosed
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B

Section

ALERER-FKE

A2. Use of Resources — Water Consumption

N EFRFER-EREEEE

A2. Use of Resources — Resources Management Targets

N EFRFER-EREEEE

A2. Use of Resources — Resources Management Targets

FEAREERBTEEERRMBENE
No packaging materials for finished products was produced by
the Group during its operation.

A BRERAAAR
A3. The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 BRERAAAR
A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

A4 RIREE
A4. Climate Change
A4 RIREE
A4. Climate Change
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Disclosure  Section
Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
B. e
Social
EBERSIER
Employment and Labour Practices
B1: ER
Employment
—RBEE BRE  BLEB
General Disclosure Disclosed B1. Employment
BEm RIER BERER  FRAFREASNEELY BERE B1.EER
JE1ZB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and Disclosed B1. Employment

KPIB1.1  geographical region

BiEy RUR - FREGIHRESHEERALE BERE BI.EER
JE12B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical Disclosed B1. Employment
KPIB1.2  region

B2 BEEZ2
Health and safety
—R%E ERE  BLREFEZZE
General Disclosure Disclosed B2. Health and Safety
BiEy BEZF(REERFE)BFAITHMABRLE ERE B2l 2

JE12B2.1  Number and rate of work-related fatalities that occurred in each Disclosed B2. Health and Safety
KPIB2.1  of the past three years including the reporting year

BigEn EIGEBEXIERE BERE B2EERELS
JE12B2.2  Lost days due to work injury Disclosed ~ B2. Health and Safety
KPI B2.2

BREY HOMEANBEERER2HEE WREHERTRERS ERE BLigRERE

EiZB23 &

KPIB2.3  Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, Disclosed B2. Health and Safety
how they are implemented and monitored

B3: BE R

Development and Training

—R%E ERE  BLERRSE

General Disclosure Disclosed B3. Development and Training
MER RUEDREEEANEINXIEERAIL ERE B3. & & K&

J812B3.1  The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Disclosed B3. Development and Training
KPIB3.1  category

MER RUBREEENED  BEEETHRIINTARY ERE B3. # & NI

1812B3.2  The average training hours completed per employee by gender Disclosed B3. Development and Training
KPIB3.2  and employee category

B4: EIER
Labour Standards
—RBE BEHE B4. 4 T 8|
General Disclosure Disclosed B4. Labour Standards
BREN HORTEEENNEENEEETIREHST e B4 & T 8|

1E1ZB4.1  Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid Disclosed B4. Labour Standards
KPIB4.1  child and forced labour
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B1%B4.2
KPI B4.2
SEEA

HREZERERENSEREBELARBRN SR
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered

Operating Practices

B5:

BREN
J81EB5.1
KPI B5.1
BREN
j81%85.2
KPI B5.2

BREN
1812853
KPIB5.3

BREN
181ZB5.4
KPIB5.4

B6:

BREN
1812 86.1
KPI B6.1

BRER
181286.2
KPI B6.2
MR ER
1812863
KPI B6.3
MR ER
181Z86.4
KPI B6.4

HEEEE

Supply Chain Management
—MRBE

General Disclosure
BRI o OHERHRE

Number of suppliers by geographical region

fitE AR AEEENED  mERTABENNHERE -
NEIERS T RERT

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they
are implemented and monitored

MO EBSAHERGRRGNORE R RRAEH - A
REBRTRER X

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored
HREREHERREEZARRERRRBOEN - UK
EEHTREETE

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored

EmEAHE

Product Responsibility

—MRBE

General Disclosure
BEAEERERBR TR ERERAMANKNH A S
t

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons

BREBRERMRBNRFHE AREHAE

Number of products and service related complaints received and
how they are dealt with

BEE RIS A AR WA R )

Description and practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights

S S T B N E m [ AR R

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures
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Disclosure

ERE
Disclosed

BHE
Disclosed
BHE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed
TER
Not applicable

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

NiER
Not applicable
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B

Section

B4 & TR
B4. Labour Standards

B5. fIEREE
B5. Supply Chain Management
B5. ffEREE
B5. Supply Chain Management

B5. ffEREE
B5. Supply Chain Management

B5. /B EE
BS5. Supply Chain Management

B5. ftfEREE
BS5. Supply Chain Management

B6. EmE (T

B6. Product Responsibility

TEEYE2REREERRE -

The Group was not involved in product production and
manufacturing.

B6. EmE £
B6. Product Responsibility

B6. EmE E
B6. Product Responsibility

AR ED R R
The Group did not involve in product production and
manufacturing.
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BREN HEBEEHRERLBIE  UREBERTREETA BERE B6.EmE (T

1651ZB6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, Disclosed B6. Product Responsibility
KPIB6.5  how they are implemented and monitored

B7: R&S
Anti-corruption
—REE BRE BLRER
General Disclosure Disclosed B7. Anti-corruption
BREN ABREANUBRTASARERNVEEENESHFARN BHE TEEFRENBOHARNS -
BEB7. WA KGR Disclosed  No concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices was noted.

KPIB7.1  Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting

period and the outcomes of the case
BiER HahEERRERER  AREENTRERFE BHE B7.RE)5
JE1%B7.2  Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Disclosed B7. Anti-corruption
KPIB7.2  procedures, how they are implemented and monitored
BitEn HOmEEREIREMNREFE BERE B7.R&)5
JE12B7.3  Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and Disclosed B7. Anti-corruption
KPIB7.3  staff

HE

Community
BS: HERE

Community Investment

—RBE BHE B8 itE&RE

General Disclosure Disclosed B8. Community Investment
BitEn DIEEEE (NME BREE SIRK EE U BE) ERE B8 itE&RE
JE12B8.1  Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental Disclosed B8. Community Investment
KPIB8.1  concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport)

MREN ERIRBMYRER(MeERERE) ERE B8.itRIE
JE12B8.2  Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area Disclosed B8. Community Investment

KPI B8.2
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code"”) during the year ended 31 December
2024 and, where appropriate, adopted the Recommended Best Practices set
out in the CG Code, except for the following deviation:

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. WONG Chun
Hong performed his duties as the chairman and the chief executive officer of
the Company. The Board considers that vesting both roles in the same person
ensures consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient planning of long-term strategies and implementation of business
plans. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately
ensured by the operations and governance of the Board which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals, with more than half of the Board
members being non-executive or independent non-executive Directors. The
Company will review the current structure when and as it becomes appropriate.

The Directors are committed to upholding the corporate governance of the
Company to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to
protect and maximise interests of the shareholders of the Company.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for supervising and overseeing all major matters of
the Company, including the formulation and approval of overall management
and operation strategies, reviewing the internal control and risk management
systems, reviewing financial performance, considering dividend policies and
monitoring the performance of the senior management, while the management
is responsible for the daily management and operations of the Group.

Between scheduled Board meetings, senior management of the Group provides
to the Directors, on a regular basis, monthly updates and other information
with respect to the performance and business activities of the Group. It enables
the Board to make informed assessment of financial and other decisions.

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, namely Mr WONG
Chun Hong, Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley and Mr WONG Sze Yuen, two non-
executive Directors, namely Mr YIP Hoong Mun and Mr KUI Qiang, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr CHAN So Kuen, Professor WU
Si Zong and Mr CHAN Yee Herman. Mr. WONG Chun Hong is the chairman of
the Board. Mr. WONG Sze Yuen is a son of Mr. WONG Chun Hong.

In compliance with Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan So Kuen, who
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 30 September
2024, obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D on 20 September
2024, and Mr. Chan has confirmed that he understood his obligations as a
Director.
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The Company has established mechanisms to ensure that independent views
and input are available to the Board, a summary of which is set out as follows:

In terms of composition of the Board, (i) at least one-third of its members
are independent non-executive Directors; (ii) the Company would receive
independence confirmations from its independent non-executive Directors
annually pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and (iii) the Board
composition and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors are reviewed by the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) of the Company on an annual basis (in particular, for
independent non-executive Directors who have served for more than nine
years).

In terms of conduct of Board proceedings, (i) all Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) are provided with regular updates
of the Group’s performance, position and prospects to enable them to
make informed decision; (ii) all members of the Board and the Board
committees may seek independent professional advice when necessary to
perform their responsibilities at the Company’s expenses; (iii) the Directors
shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution
approving any contract, arrangement or any other proposal concerning a
matter that is significant to the Company’s business in which such Director
or any of his/her close associates has a material interest, save as otherwise
permitted under the Listing Rules; and (iv) the chairman of the Board shall
meet the independent non-executive Directors at least once annually.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the above
mechanisms on an annual basis.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set
out in Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code and performed the following
duties in 2024:

develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

review and monitor the training and continuous professional development
of the Directors and senior management;

review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors; and

review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report.
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During the year under review, the Board held six Board meetings (exclusive
of meetings of the Board committees constituted by the Board held during
the year under review). The attendance of each Director is set out in the table
below:

FRE Ay

Number of
attendance/Total

HITES Executive Directors

HEREEE (EEFHTHAAZR) Mr WONG Chun Hong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 6/6

MERL L Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley 6/6

EERREE Mr WONG Sze Yuen 6/6

HTES Non-executive Directors

BERENXEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun 6/6

BRss s & Mr KUI Qiang 6/6

B #iﬁlﬁﬁ? Independent non-executive Directors

B E (R_T_MFENLA=+HEHME) MrCHENG Yuk Wo (resigned on 30 September 2024) 3/3

ROMREIZ Professor WU Si Zong 6/6

PR {6 55 A Mr CHAN Yee Herman 6/6

PRERES A Mr CHAN So Kuen (appointed on 30 September 2024)
(RZZ_mMFNA=THEZE) 3/3
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The non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors are
typically appointed for a term of three years under their respective letters of
appointment. Each appointment letter may be terminated in accordance with
the provisions therein by either party giving to the other not less than three
months’ prior written notice.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election at
the annual general meeting at least once every three years in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).

TRAINING AND COMMITMENT

To ensure that a newly appointed Director will have a proper understanding
of the operations and business of the Company and is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under all applicable laws and regulations (including the Listing
Rules), he/she will be provided with a comprehensive, tailor-made and formal
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment.
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The Group also provides trainings, briefings and materials to the Directors and
senior management from time to time to help and ensure that they are apprised
of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory environment in
which the Group conducts its businesses and to refresh their knowledge and
skills on the roles, functions and duties of a director of listed company. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, materials relating to various latest amendments
to the Listing Rules, new guidance letters and listing decisions were distributed
to the Directors as part of their continuous professional development trainings.

The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
as follows:

A
BFET

Latest
amendments to

Name of Director the Listing Rules

Executive Directors
Mr WONG Chun Hong
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley
Mr WONG Sze Yuen

NSNS

Non-executive Directors
Mr YIP Hoong Mun
Mr KUI Qiang

NS

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr CHAN So Kuen (appointed on 30 September 2024)
Professor WU Si Zong

Mr CHAN Yee Herman

Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (resigned on 30 September 2024)

AN NI NN

Remarks:
v represents compliance

The Company has received confirmations from the Directors that they have
provided sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group. Besides, the
Directors have disclosed to the Company their interests as director and other
office in other public companies and organisations in a timely manner and have
updated the Company on any subsequent changes. Each of the Directors has
complied with Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code.
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Name of Director

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and
the chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. With effect from 1 March 2018, Mr WONG Chun Hong has
become the chairman (the “Chairman”) and the chief executive officer of
the Company. The Board considers that vesting both roles in the same person
ensures consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient planning of long-term strategies and implementation of business
plans. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately
ensured by the operations and governance of the Board which comprises
experienced and high caliber individuals, with more than half of the Board
members being non- executive or independent non-executive Directors. The
Company will review the current structure when and as it becomes appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL MEETINGS

During the year under review, the Company held one annual general meeting
on 23 May 2024 (2024 AGM"). The attendance of each Director is set out in
the table below.

—E-MEF

BRREFAE
2024 AGM

HITES Executive Directors
BERERE Mr WONG Chun Hong

(F/FFHITHABH) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) v
MERLZ L Ms LAM Mei Ka Shirley v/
H5ERRELE Mr WONG Sze Yuen v
HITES Non-executive Directors
BRI EE Mr YIP Hoong Mun v
PR ok 2 A Mr KUl Qiang v
BIYKHTES Independent non-executive Directors
AL E (R T _WEF Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (resigned on 30 September 2024)

NA =+ HEHE) v
ROMREIZ Professor WU Si Zong v
PRI& A Mr CHAN Yee Herman X
PREBEEE(R_Z_EF

NA=THEZE) Mr CHAN So Kuen (appointed on 30 September 2024) N/A 7~ i FB

et

v EHE
X HEERE
N/ATETE R

Remarks:
v represents attendance
X represents absence

N/A represents not applicable
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) is Mr CHAN So Kuen. As at the date of this
annual report, the Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director,
Mr WONG Chun Hong and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr
CHAN So Kuen and Professor WU Si Zong.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for
remuneration of Directors and senior management and on the establishment
of formal and transparent procedures for developing such remuneration
policy. The duties of the Remuneration Committee are detailed in its terms of
reference which is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

In determining the remuneration of the Directors and the senior management,
the Remuneration Committee would consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors
and the senior management, performance and contributions of the Directors
and the senior management and the change in market conditions.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year under review.
The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is set out in
the table below:

HERE EH

Number of

attendance/Total

BREESLAE (T/E) Mr CHAN So Kuen (Chairman) 11
(RZZ-WFNA=THEZME) (appointed on 30 September 2024)

BRERR A (/) Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Chairman) 11

(RZZTZWMFNA=THEHT) (resigned on 30 September 2024)
EERERE Mr WONG Chun Hong 2/2
RN R Professor WU Si Zong 22
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For the year under review, the Remuneration Committee determined the
policy for the remuneration of executive directors, assessed performance of
the executive Directors, approved the terms of executive Directors’ service
contracts, recommended to the Board on the year-end bonus of executive
Directors and the senior management of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024. No Director was involved in deciding his own remuneration or
options granted.

The Company adopted Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) out of the two models
suggested by the CG Code. As a result, the Board as a whole is responsible
for determining the remuneration of non-executive Directors whereas
the Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management of the Company and its subsidiaries as well as share options
related matters. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors and senior
management of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group
and in the section headed “Remuneration for Senior Management” under the
Directors’ Report of this annual report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Professor WU Si Zong. As at the
date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee consists of one executive
Director, Mr WONG Chun Hong and two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr CHAN So Kuen and Professor WU Si Zong.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review the structure,
size, composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience required)
and diversity of the Board on a regular basis; (ii) to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become board members and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships, having
due regard to the board diversity policy and the nomination policy of the
Company, when a vacancy occurs on the Board by reason of disqualification
resignation, retirement, death or an increase in the size of the Board; (iii) to
make recommendations to the Board on matters related to the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, and
any other area where action or improvement is needed; (iv) to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (v) to review the
board diversity policy as appropriate and make recommendations on any
required changes to the Board for consideration and approval, and monitor
its implementation so as to ensure its effectiveness, and make disclosure
of its summary and the progress of its implementation in the corporate
governance report; (vi) to review the nomination policy for directors and to
make disclosure of the summary of nomination policy in annual report of the
Company annually; and (vii) to ensure the disclosures required by the terms of
reference are set out in the circular where the Board proposes a resolution to
elect an individual as an independent non-executive Director. The duties of the
Nomination Committee are detailed in its terms of reference which is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The chairman of the Nomination Committee shall attend the annual general
meetings of the Company to answer questions raised by the Shareholders on
Directors’ nomination and other nomination policy matters.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a “Nomination Policy” on 1 January 2019 in relation
to the nomination, appointment, re-appointment of new Directors and the
nomination procedure of the Company, which provides that in evaluating
and selecting any candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee shall
consider the candidates’ character and integrity, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience, independence, diversity on the Board,
willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member
and such other criteria that are appropriate to the business of the Company.

Before a prospective Director’s name is formally proposed, opinions of the
existing Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) will be
solicited. The proposed appointment will first be reviewed by the Nomination
Committee, taking into account the balance of skills, knowledge and experience
on the Board. Upon recommendation of the Nomination Committee, the
proposed appointment will then be reviewed and, if thought fit, approved by
the Board after due deliberation. If necessary, the Company may also engage
external search firm to assist in the sourcing and identification of appropriate
candidates for Board appointments. The Company will also consider the
prospective Director’s time commitment to the role being applied for and any
potential conflicts of interest identified, if he/she has outside mandates.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a revised “Board Diversity Policy” on 1 January 2019 in
relation to the nomination and appointment of new Directors, which provides
that the selection of Board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and specific needs,
including but not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural background,
educational background, industry experience and professional experience. The
above measurements were also reviewed and adopted when the Nomination
Committee reviewed the composition of the Board. After assessing the suitability
of the Directors’ skills and experience to the Company’s business, the Nomination
Committee confirmed that the existing Board was appropriately structured and
no change was required. The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity
Policy annually. The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis.

The Board’s composition as at the date of this annual report under diversified
perspectives is summarised as follows:

BEES B % % 51
Education background Designation : Gender
2 ) 3
6 3 7
2+ Bachelor @ f/f %t 4 Postgraduate @ #177 E = Executive Directors ® = male %1 femnale
JE# 77 E = Non-executive Directors
7 IEH7TE F Independent non-executive Directors
FHeAE R (BR) PR 75 £ A
Age group (years old) years of service
1
\ 2
2
2
3
4
®31-40  41-50 ©51-60 ®61-70  71-80 -5 ©6-10 @11-15

EEREREE—RBRMUESERMUNZ L -
EXEfNESEREPHAREL R EE
F-RTBREFSEECHIERBUERN
RAEITE  RRAREEESRERERBLMNIK
EARRIGERNERRER W2 TRaA
BIEMERZ TTE A & -

R-ZE-_MNE+-_F=+—H EBEAHE
AR5 B A L5 9 Bl B 65% K 35% ¢
UEhERERBNEEEZENEF 5 5 A
91% & 9% - EIt - R AFMEE AE KSR
EREAHBERBHELENERZ T - AR
AEEATEGEEERBENRZTEER
B % T bR A o

The Board achieved gender diversity as it has appointed one female Director.
The Board will maintain at least one female Director to be a member of the
Board. To develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to achieve
gender diversity, the Company has adopted relevant hiring policies for
considering candidates of senior management positions which would take into
account diversity perspectives including gender diversity.

As at 31 December 2024, the ratio of male and female in the workforce is
65% and 35%, respectively; and the ratio of male and female in the senior
management is 91% and 9% respectively. As such, the Company’s workforce
and the senior management have both achieved gender diversity between
males and females. The Company would continue to take into account of
diversity perspectives including gender diversity in its hiring.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year under review.
The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the
table below:

HERE Y

Number of

attendance/Total

SNSRI () Professor WU Si Zong (Chairman) 11

E=HEREE Mr WONG Chun Hong 11

PRERELE Mr CHAN So Kuen

(R=ZZZMFNA=1TRHEZE) (appointed on 30 September 2024) 0/0
BRERAN S A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo

(RZZE-_WFNLA=+HET) (resigned on 30 September 2024) 11
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During the year under review, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board in accordance with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, and recommended the re-election of the retiring Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) is Mr CHAN So Kuen. As at the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, Mr
CHAN So Kuen, Professor WU Si Zong and Mr CHAN Yee Herman.

The Audit Committee reports to the Board and is authorised by the Board
to assess, review and monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the
Company. The Audit Committee oversees all financial reporting procedures
and the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
system, advises the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of external
auditors, and reviews and monitors the independence and objectivity of
external auditors and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
the applicable standard.

The Audit Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board on matters
related to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors, which is subject to the approval of the Board and the Shareholders
at general meeting of the Company. For the year under review, the Board has
not taken a different view from that of the Audit Committee regarding the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors. The
Audit Committee meets with the external auditors annually in the absence of
management to discuss matters relating to any issues arising from audit and
any other matters the external auditors may wish to raise. The duties of the
Audit Committee are detailed in its terms of reference which is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year under review. The
attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the table
below:

RE B

Number of

attendance/Total

PBREMESAE (F/F) Mr Chan So Kuen (Chairman) 0/0
(RZZ-WFNA=THEZME) (appointed on 30 September 2024)

ERER RN A (£ /) Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Chairman) 212

(RZZEZWFNA=THHT) (resigned on 30 September 2024)
ROMREIE Professor WU Si Zong 2/2
PR {2 55 A Mr CHAN Yee Herman 2/2
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At the above meetings, the Audit Committee considered, reviewed and
discussed the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group,
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, the
interim results of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2024 and the
effectiveness of financial reporting, internal control, consultancy services,
internal audit function, risk management systems and its other duties under the
CG Code.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total fees paid/payable to the
external auditors of the Company, KPMG, in respect of audit and non-audit
services are set out below:

ﬁ:l: — 7 L ﬂi

+=A=+—H

LFE

For the year ended

31 December 2024

THExT

HK$'000

EZR Audit services 4,800

H b BR A5 (KT 3E) Other services (Note) 1,675

Bt Total 6,475
M R BRIBERFESZREIH  REBEIMNEZE Note: Apart from the provision of annual audit services, KPMG, the Group’s external auditors,
MESHETMELMTRAEE P BB HEE also provided review services on half yearly financial results, audit services on the financial
RUBHRE  RAEEMNE R R B RERIEHE statement of the Group’s subsidiaries and an assurance service on a major disposal of the

ZEIRT  ARRAEENEA L ERERERT

Group.



S

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

101

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEHUBRRMEANEE

EEMARSARBREEE_T_MOF+_H
=T RLEFENVBRRAEE T LHER
MHEBREBERAFHRREBFENER B
RBBEROEAEMRTEREAEANFER - KQA]
SNEBENE SR ST BBt AL E
A 75 3R 3R PR B0 BR R {2 AR U AN F S B Y
B8 3L I B $R -

P B 422 %l
EES2E B EEFZEMA A REREHIH
B WEHIRMZBIEER T &8 ARES
[ B B I R EL A 5 T OB AR RR - IAMRIBARIR
MRERARRNEE - NEBEFER EF
SEHAKERE Ll )y m AR E R KA
EHIBRORAETERERN EFSTNE
BFEEERIARAEE:  NEEX LI
BEVEITENER BEITEREREREIER
#WoARBETHRIRERERBEERTRR -
B2 W NABTAEARAAEBES REREE
g9 MAMERBEEBRREREERHR
b - WRR AR A PR ER R I 6 N R R E R =
BERMRA BE_FT_NF+_A=1—
BILFE  ARA-—BEETEEERTRAET
) R B 3R % P A4 b1 < IR S

ARARNAMEZAIIEEECHERREZAR
SENIZMBRELEY ZETENEN
RHER A EDIE I 00 IE & (E R Z F B 1T % 7B P
BWEE -

[ Bz & 12
SESCEARARERER BEARTA
ERERMERESNEBEAR -

EZLZEEREERNIIESG RERE R
B MEREAER  FEREEABAR
HoEFERLAEEERERRTEEED I
THREZEEZER -

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, and confirm that the
financial statements give a true and fair view for the year under review, and
are prepared in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and
accounting standards. The statement of the external auditors of the Company,
KPMG, in relation to their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report enclosed with this
annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is fully responsible for maintaining proper and effective internal
control system and for regularly reviewing the operational efficiency of the
financial, operational, compliance controls, risk management and other aspects
of the system in order to safeguard the investment of Shareholders and the
assets of the Company. During the year under review, the Board has conducted
an annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system of the Group covering the above aspects. The Board has also
considered the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function,
and their training programmes and budget during the year under review. The
Board is not aware of any significant internal control and risk management
weaknesses nor significant breach or limits of risk management policies, and
considers the existing internal control system and risk management systems
effective and adequate. The Company has complied with the risk management
and internal control code provisions under the CG Code for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The internal audit department of the Company is responsible for regular review
and audit of the Group’s major finance and operating activities. The purpose of
such work is to ensure the normal operation of internal control and the playing
of its due role.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management framework,
and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s objectives.

The Audit Committee is delegated with overseeing the effectiveness of internal
control and risk management, while management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems. The Board office is responsible
for coordinating risk management activities, and to report regularly to the
Board.
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Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment of
principal risks from the external and internal environment at different
organisation levels. The assessment considers the changes in nature and
extent of significant risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment. Action plans have been developed and
risk ownership has been assigned for each key principal risk. The risk owners
coordinate the mitigation measures to ensure proper implementation of these
action plans. The process is closely monitored by the Board office. The internal
control and risk management systems and the effectiveness of internal audit
function are reviewed by the Board on an on-going basis to ensure they are
effective.

Taking into consideration the principal risks and mitigation actions, the Board
believes that the Company has the ability to respond to any such changes in
our business and the external environment.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the “Dividend Policy” on 1 January 2019 in
recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits and enable the Company to retain adequate reserves for
future growth, which provides that subject to the approval of the Shareholders
and requirement of the relevant law, the Company shall pay annual dividends
to the Shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is stable
and there is no significant investment or commitment made by the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties that may cause the Group’s financial
conditions or results materially different from the expected or historical results
are described below:

Risks with regard to the property market in the PRC

Most of the Group’s property projects are located in Mainland China, and
some in Hong Kong and overseas, and most of the Group’s revenue is derived
in the PRC. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 17 projects at
various stages of development. As such, the Group is therefore subject to the
risks associated with the PRC property market. The Group’s operations in the
PRC may also be exposed to the risks of policy change, interest rate change,
demand-supply imbalance and the overall economic conditions, which may
pose an adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition or results
of operations.
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Risks with regard to funding of property development

The property development business is capital intensive. The Group funded its
land acquisitions and property developments primarily through bank loans,
internally generated cash flows (including proceeds from the pre-sale and
sale of the Group’s projects), note payable, convertible bonds and loans from
substantial Shareholders. The Group’s ability to obtain adequate funding
depends on a number of factors, some of which are beyond the Group’s
control, such as general economic conditions in the PRC, the performance and
outlook of the property development industry in the PRC, the Group’s financial
strength and performance, the availability of credit from financial institutions,
and regulatory measures instituted by the PRC government. There is no
assurance that the Group will be able to obtain adequate financing for land
acquisitions or property developments at all and/or on terms that will allow the
Group to earn reasonable returns.

Risks with regard to redevelopment projects

Redevelopment projects in the PRC involve many uncertainties and are capital
intensive. The Group is required to obtain numerous government approvals in
relation to the Group’s urban redevelopment projects and to obtain consents to
relocate all of the existing residents. There is no assurance that the Group will
be able to obtain all of the necessary consents to relocate the existing residents
or that the Group will be able to obtain all necessary government approvals.

Risks with regard to property leasing

The rental rates and the occupancy rates depend on various factors, including
but not limited to, prevailing supply and demand conditions, economic
conditions as well as the quality of the properties. There is no assurance that
the Group will be able to look for new tenants within a short period of time or
procure new leases or renew existing leases at the prevailing market rates.

Operational risks

The Group’s operation is subject to a number of risk factors distinctive to
property development and property related businesses. Default on the part of
the Group’s contractors, buyers, tenants, and strategic business partners, and
inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and systems or other
external factors may have various levels of negative impact on the results of
the Group's operation. In addition, accidents may happen despite systems and
policies set up for their prevention, which may lead to the Group’s financial
loss, litigation, or damage in reputation.

Interest rate risks

Most of the Group’s borrowings are floating-rate bank loans, which expose the
Group to rising interest rates. We will closely monitor the interest rate risk and
when appropriate adopt measures to manage the associated risk, including
but not limited to, the issuance of fixed rate bonds, and use of derivatives such
as interest rate swaps and management of the ratio of fixed or floating loan
portfolio. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had not carried out any hedging
activities to manage its interest rate exposure.
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Currency risks

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB against Hong Kong dollars or
US dollars as a result of its investment in Mainland China and the settlement
of certain general and administrative expenses and other borrowings in Hong
Kong dollars, United States dollars or Australian dollars. We will closely monitor
the fluctuations of the RMB exchange rate and give prudent consideration as
to entering into any currency swap arrangement as and when appropriate for
hedging corresponding risks. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had not
carried out any hedging activities to manage its foreign exchange rate risk.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and dissemination of inside
information which sets out the procedures and internal controls for handling
and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner in such a way to
avoid placing any person in a privileged dealing position. The inside information
policy also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to ensure proper
safequards are in place to prevent the Company from breaching the statutory
and listing rule disclosure requirements. The Company has appropriate
internal control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company, according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its code of conduct for securities transactions by the
Directors. After having made specific enquiries with all Directors, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in
the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and based on the confirmations from
the Directors, there has been no change in the information of the Directors
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since
the date of the Company’s 2024 Interim Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
Mr WONG Tak Chun, is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively
conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence to proper Board
processes and the timely preparation and dissemination to the Directors of
comprehensive meeting agendas and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings
and Board committees are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary
to record in sufficient details of the matters considered and decisions reached
by the Board or Board committees, including any concerns raised or dissenting
views voiced by any Director. All draft and final versions of the minutes of
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are sent to Directors and
committee members respectively for comment and record and are available for
inspection by any Director upon request.

The Company Secretary, under the supervision of the Chairman, is responsible
for ensuring that the Board is fully apprised of all legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments relating to the Group and that it takes
these into consideration when making decisions for the Group. From time to
time, he organises seminars on specific topics of significance and interest and
disseminates reference materials to the Directors for their information.

The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the compliance of the
Group with all obligations of the Listing Rules and the Codes on Takeovers
and Mergers and Share Buy-backs, including the preparation, publication
and despatch of annual reports and interim reports within the time limits laid
down in the Listing Rules, the timely dissemination to the Shareholders and the
market of information relating to the Group.

Furthermore, the Company Secretary advises the Directors on their obligations
for disclosure of interests and dealings in securities of the Company, connected
transactions and inside information and ensures that the standards and
disclosures required by the Listing Rules are observed and, where required,
reflected in the annual report of the Company.

During the year under review, Mr WONG Tak Chun attended no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS'
RIGHTS

The Company has adopted the shareholders’ communication policy with
the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders and potential investors are
provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company (including financial performance, strategic
goals and plans, material development, governance and risk profile).

The Company ensures that fair and transparent disclosure is made for its
business and financial performance through a variety of formal communication
channels. Information regarding the Company is published in its website:
www.topspring.com. Interim and annual reports, circulars and notices of the
Company are despatched to the Shareholders. The website of the Company
provides information such as e-mail address, correspondence address,
telephone numbers for enquiries, and provides information on the business
activities of the Group. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing either by email to IR@topspring.com or direct
mailing to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

The Company’s annual general meeting is a good opportunity for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. Notice of annual
general meeting and related documents will be sent to Shareholders pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association, and are
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Directors and the members of various committees would attend and
answer questions raised at the annual general meeting of the Company. The
auditor of the Company would also attend the annual general meeting to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content
of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

The chairman of the annual general meeting will exercise his power under the
Articles of Association to put each proposed resolution to the vote by way of a
poll. The procedures for demanding and conducting a poll are explained at the
meeting prior to the polls being taken.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the Company.
Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, Shareholders holding not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in the requisition. The requisition must state the objects
of the meeting, and must be signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
those Shareholders. The requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary via mail to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Rooms 04-08, 26th Floor, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company shall hold general meeting within
two months after receiving the requisition. If the Directors fail to proceed to
convene the extraordinary general meeting within twenty-one (21) days of the
deposit of such requisition, the Shareholder(s) himself or themselves may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by him/her/them as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Shareholder(s) by
the Company.
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If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director
for election as a Director at a general meeting, pursuant to Article 85 of the
Articles of Association, the Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed)
duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting shall send a written
notice, duly signed by the Shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such
person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed
of his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged at the
Company’s head office or the office of the Company’s share registrar in Hong
Kong (the “Hong Kong Share Registrar”), Tricor Investor Services Limited.
The period for lodgement of such notices shall commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of such general meeting and end no later than seven
days prior to the date of such general meeting. All substantive resolutions at
general meetings are decided on a poll which is conducted by the Company
Secretary and scrutinised by the Hong Kong Share Registrar of the Company.
The results of the poll are published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. Regularly updated financial, business and other information on
the Group is made available on the website of the Company for Shareholders
and investors.

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings by sending
written notice of their proposals to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of
the Company Secretary.

The Company also meets the investment community and responds to their
enquiries about the status of the Company from time to time, so as to
strengthen the contacts and communication between the Company and its
investors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no significant changes in
the Company’s constitutional documents.

After taking into account that the Shareholders have multiple channels to
communicate their views as mentioned above as well as the steps taken by
the Board to solicit and understand the views of the Shareholders and the
stakeholders during the year ended 31 December 2024 including but not
limited to open discussion with the Shareholders during the 2024 AGM, the
Board’s review of the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy was found to be sound and adequate.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr WONG Chun Hong (E % &), aged 70
Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr WONG is the Founder of the Group and is the executive Director, Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries within the Group. In addition, he is also the founder, the
second largest shareholder and vice chairman of the board of directors of
Rainbow Digital Commercial Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. He has over 30 years of experience in the real estate business in the
Mainland China and Hong Kong, and has profound accomplishments in the
finance and retail fields.

From 1993 to 1996, Mr WONG was the deputy managing director and the
second largest shareholder of Top Glory International Holdings Limited (formerly
known as World Trade Center Group Limited), a company which was listed on
the Stock Exchange and is now privatised and was the vice chairman of China
Foods Limited (formerly known as China Foods Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. From 1996 to 2001, Mr WONG was a major
shareholder, chairman and chief executive officer of ITC Properties Group
Limited (formerly known as Cheung Tai Hong Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr WONG attended the Global CEO Programme
for China in 2007 which was co-organised by China Europe International
Business School, IESE Business School and Harvard Business School. He is the
executive chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organizations Limited, the chairman of Hong Kong Federation of Guangzhou
Associations Limited, the Permanent Honorary President of Hong Kong Real
Property Federation and a member of Guangzhou Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (&M ™ B 1% & Z). In July 2016, Mr WONG was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region in recognition of his continuous contribution to
the well-being of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region over the years, and
for his achievements towards the commercial sector and community affairs. Mr
WONG was bestowed an Honorary Doctor of social science by City University
of Hong Kong in October 2020. Moreover, in July 2023, the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region awarded Mr. WONG the Silver
Bauhinia Star (SBS). Mr. WONG is dedicated to community services and has
held key positions in a number of influential Guangzhou clan organizations.
He vigorously supported the promotion of national education and donated
his ancestral home for the construction of the Sha Tau Kok Memorial Hall
of Resistance Against Aggression in Hong Kong. Over the years, he has also
generously funded local universities to bolster their teaching and research. Mr.
WONG has been awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star for his devotion in public
interests and outstanding achievements.
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Chance Again Limited (“Chance Again”), a substantial shareholder (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company, is wholly-owned by Cheung Yuet (B.V.l.)
Limited (“BVI Co"). The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is wholly-owned
by HSBC International Trustee Limited (“HSBC International Trustee”) as
the trustee of The Cheung Yuet Memorial Trust, a discretionary family trust
established by Mr WONG (the “Wong’s Family Trust”), the beneficiaries of
which include Mr WONG's family members. Mr WONG is the settlor and the
protector of the Wong’s Family Trust. Mr WONG is also a director of Chance
Again. Save as mentioned above, Mr WONG does not have any relationship
with any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.

The discloseable interest of Mr WONG in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO") is set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its Associated Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of
this annual report.

Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley (P35 2X), aged 54
Executive Director

Ms LAM was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1 March
2018. Ms LAM joined the Company in October 2017 and was appointed as the
managing director of Top Spring Healthcare Holdings (Hong Kong) Company
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, where she was responsible for overseeing
the business operations related to education and healthcare services of the
Group. Prior to joining the Company, Ms LAM served in senior managerial
positions in a number of blue-chip property developers in Hong Kong, including
Techno Factor (Development) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Henderson
Land Development Company Limited, New World Development China Limited,
Hopewell Real Estate Agency Limited and MTR Corporation Limited. Ms LAM
has accumulated over 20 years of the management experience in the real estate
industry with a focus on real estate development, asset management and
management of shopping mall operations. Ms LAM graduated from Ottawa
University, the United States with a bachelor’s degree in business administration
and obtained a master's degree in Project Management from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. She is a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors and Chartered Institute of Housing.

Ms LAM does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Ms LAM does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr WONG Sze Yuen (Z 2 JR), aged 41
Executive Director

Mr WONG was appointed Executive Director in August 2022. With extensive
knowledge and professional experience, he plays a pivotal role in driving the
Group's strategic growth & adaptability in dynamic property markets. Mr
Wong also oversees the operation of the property developments in Hong
Kong and Greater Bay Area. Mr Wong obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree
from University of New South Wales in 2006, his Master of Commerce degree
from University of New South Wales in 2009 and his Juris Doctor degree from
University of New South Wales in 2015. His multidisciplinary background in
business, law & commerce equips him with a unique perspective to navigate
complex commercial and regulatory landscapes.

Chance Again Limited (“Chance Again”), which is a substantial shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, is wholly-owned by Cheung
Yuet (B.V.l.) Limited (“BVI Co"). The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is
wholly-owned by HSBC International Trustee Limited as the trustee of The
Cheung Yuet Memorial Trust, a discretionary family trust established by Mr.
WONG Chun Hong (the “Wong’s Family Trust”), the beneficiaries of which
include Mr. WONG Chun Hong’s family members. As Mr. WONG is one of the
beneficiaries of the Wong's Family Trust, Mr. WONG is deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by Chance Again.

Mr. WONG is a son of Mr. WONG Chun Hong who is the founder of the
Group, an executive Director, the chairman of the Board, the chief executive
officer and a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Save as disclosed, Mr. WONG does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr WONG does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr YIP Hoong Mun (¥ & XX ), aged 63
Non-executive Director

Mr YIP was appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company on 1 September 2017.
Mr YIP is the executive Director and Group Chief Executive Officer of Metro
Holdings Limited (“Metro Holdings”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Metro Group”) since June 2019. Metro Holdings is a company listed on The
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company.

Mr Yip has over 30 years of experience in executive and senior management
roles in strategic planning, operations, hospitality, real estate investment and
development. Mr Yip started his career with Indeco Engineers and later joined
BP South East Asia. Prior to joining Metro, he spent over 20 years with the
Capitaland Group, and served different roles in various strategic business units.
He was Managing Director of Ascott China in 2003 and then Chief Executive
Officer, Asia Pacific and the Gulf Region of The Ascott Group in 2006.
Subsequent to that, Mr Yip has been involved in property developments in the
Gulf Region, Vietnam and Indonesia of the CapitaLand Group.

Mr Yip has a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree with first class honours
from the National University of Singapore and a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from Stanford University, USA. He also completed a
management course at Fudan University, Shanghai, China.

Save as disclosed above, Mr YIP does not have any relationship with any
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr YIP does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr KUI Qiang (Bt 3#), aged 39
Non-executive Director

Mr KUI was appointed as a non-executive Director on 6 December 2019. He is
currently the director and financial controller of Caiyun International Investment
Limited (“Caiyun”). From December 2015 to March 2017, Mr KUl worked as
the deputy supervisor of the financial department of Yunnan Health & Cultural
Tourism Holding Group Co., Ltd. (“YHCT"). Mr KUI obtained a double bachelor
degree in E-commerce and English Studies from Northeast Normal University
(4L AN #K 28) in 2008 and a master degree in Accounting from the same
university in 2010. Mr KUl is also a certified management accountant of the
Institute of Management Accountants in the USA. Mr KUI has over 15 years
of experience in the fields of fund management, information technology, real
estate development and telecommunication.

Save as disclosed above, Mr KUI does not have any relationship with any other
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders (each
as defined in the Listing Rules).

Mr KUI does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr CHAN So Kuen (FR Z#), aged 46
Independent non-executive Director

Mr CHAN was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Audit Committee, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Corporate Governance Committee on 30 September 2024. Mr CHAN has over
20 years of experience in accounting, auditing, and financial industry. From
June 2001 to October 2003 and from January 2004 to July 2009, he last served
as a semi-senior audit clerk in Ho and Ho & Company ({a]$5 € 51 Af7T) and
a manager in KPMG. From November 2009 to October 2012, he was the chief
financial officer and company secretary of China Great Wall Electric Holdings
Limited (FF B & & R IE IR B R 2 7). From February 2014 to December
2022, Mr. Chan has been the chief financial officer of Huazhang Technology
Holding Limited (“Huazhang Technology”) (Stock Code: 1673), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was also the company
secretary of Huazhang Technology from February 2014 to November 2021.

From January 2015 to January 2024, Mr. Chan was an independent non-
executive director of Yangzhou Guangling District Taihe Rural Micro-finance
Company Limited (Stock Code: 1915), a joint stock limited liability company
established in the PRC whose H shares are currently listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. From October 2014 to January 2025, Mr. Chan has been
an independent non-executive director of Link Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
8237), a limited liability company established in the Cayman Islands whose
shares are currently listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Since January
2023, he has also been an independent non-executive director of Beijing
SinoHytec Co., Ltd (Stock Code: 2402), a joint stock limited liability company
established in the PRC whose H shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chan obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in accounting from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in November 2001. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Professor WU Si Zong (2 5R), aged 73
Independent non-executive Director

Professor WU was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
30 November 2010. Since 1997 and until now, he is a professor, a doctoral
tutor, at [A)% KX (Tongji University), where he had been the secretary of the
Party Committee and the vice dean of the Economic and Management School.
Professor WU is the vice chairman of L/ % 2 & (Shanghai Marketing
Society) and the standing director of F Bl 1% 2 € (China Marketing Society).
Professor WU lectures in economics and international trade. His main research
fields are business management, marketing and international trade. From
1994 to 1997, he was the Head of Affairs Committee of the International
Trade Faculty at Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics (T 78 B A&X K £2).
From 2001 to 2008, Professor WU published several theses and was involved
in various research projects in his fields of expertise. He also published many
books in marketing, commerce and trade from 2000 to 2007. Professor WU
received his Bachelor’s degree in Economics from (Jiangxi University of Finance
and Economics) )T 78 Bf £ K 2 in 1982. In 1995, he received his master’s
degree in economics at Shanghai University of Finance and Economics (_E &
B 4% K 2). Professor WU does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Professor WU does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr CHAN Yee Herman (B &), aged 70
Independent non-executive Director

Mr CHAN was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company on 2 January 2018. He is currently a
consultant of Y.T. Chan & Co., a law firm. Mr CHAN has more than 16 years of
experience in the legal sector. He was admitted as a solicitor of the High Court
in Hong Kong in May 2011. Prior to his legal career, he was a superintendent
in the Hong Kong Police Force and had served the public for over 36 years.
Mr CHAN obtained his bachelor of laws (LLB) degree from the University of
London in 2003 and a postgraduate certificate in laws from City University of
Hong Kong in 2005. Mr CHAN was a non-executive director of Infinity Financial
Group (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 1152) from July 2013 to June 2017.

Mr CHAN does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr CHAN does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr WONG Tak Chun (Ef£1£), aged 43
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary, Senior Vice President

Mr WONG was appointed as chief financial officer of the Company on 9
January 2018 and was appointed as senior vice president in charge of business
operation in the PRC. He joined the Group as the Company Secretary in
February 2017. Mr WONG is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and the Chartered Governance Institute.
He obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the University of British
Columbia in 2005, and a master’s degree in corporate governance from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2014.

Mr WONG has more than 20 years of experience in accounting, corporate
governance, corporate finance, capital markets, and investor relations. He
worked as an assistant manager in KPMG from August 2005 to May 2010.
From May 2010 to June 2013, he served as a company secretary and finance
manager of Central China Real Estate Limited (Stock Code: 0832). He served
as the deputy chief financial officer since February 2014 and the company
secretary since April 2014 of Modern Land (China) Co., Limited (Stock Code:
1107) until January 2016. He served as the company secretary and the chief
financial officer of Helidongsheng International Logistic Company Limited*
(R SZ R FHEEBR ¥ m EE 2 A BR A A1) in Hunan, the PRC, from March 2016
to February 2017. Mr WONG has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Dadi Education Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8417) since
17 January 2017.

Mr WONG does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr LI Guohua (Z=El %), aged 51
Vice President

Mr LI joined the Group on 26 December 2009, and is currently the executive
vice president of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he had held senior
management positions in a number of companies, including the general
manager at the Baolong Group (Qingdao) Commercial Properties Company
(ERSESSREWERAT). Mr U has engaged in real estate industry for
over 24 years and gained extensive experiences in practical management. Mr
LI obtained a degree specialized in radio communication from the South China
University of Technology in 1996. He is now attending the courses of Executive
Master of Business Administration (EMBA) at Peking University, and completed
the Private Equity Investment and Corporate Listing Programme (L 2 % ##
WA D TS ) at the HSBC Business School, Peking University in
2020. He completed the Advanced Strategy Programme for the New Practical
Real Estate (371 E B I 5 b & = AR B B #f (£ UT) at the Tsinghua Shenzhen
International Graduate School in 2023. Mr LI does not have any relationship
with any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.
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Mr LI Shouwen (Z518), aged 48
Vice President

Mr LI joined the Group in August 2018 and currently acts as the vice president
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he held various senior management
positions in several companies, including the general manager of business
development department of China Travel International Investment Hong Kong
Limited, the regional general manager of Kaisa Group Holdings Limited, the
general manager of Vanke Projects. Mr LI has over 25 years of outstanding
experience in real estates as well as cultural tourism projects. He has a thorough
understanding of the entire operation of real estate development and project
management and control of investment. He has extensive expertise and
practical management experience, as well as practical experience in cultural
tourism scenic area projects. Mr LI obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial
and civil architecture from Xi‘an University of Architecture and Technology in
1998 and got the graduate degree in industrial and economic studies from the
Central University of Finance and Economics in December 2018. Mr LI does
not have any relationship with any directors, senior management, substantial
shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr XIANG Xianhu ([@ % &), aged 42
Vice President

Mr XIANG joined the Group in July 2008 and is currently a vice president of
the Group and the general manager of the Accounting and Finance Centre.
Meanwhile, Mr XIANG has been serving as a director of Rainbow Digital
Commercial Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 002419) since September 2022 to date.
With 17 years of experience in real estate, Mr XIANG has extensive experience
in real estate business management, finance, financing and investment.

*for identification only
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is a
real estate property developer in the PRC and is specialised in the development
and operation of urban mixed-use communities, and the development and sale
of residential properties in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta, the
Beijing-Tianjin and the Chengdu-Chongqing regions in the PRC. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 14 to
the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the
Group's performance during the year and the material factors underlying its
results and financial position as required under Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) are included in the sections
of Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis of this
annual report, respectively. The future development of the Group’s business is
discussed in the section of the Chairman’s Statement of this annual report. In
addition, further details regarding the Group’s principal risks and uncertainties
are included in the section of the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report. The sections of the Chairman’s Statement, the Management Discussion
and Analysis and the Corporate Governance Report form part of this report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

An annual general meeting (the “2025 AGM") of the Company is scheduled
to be held on Thursday, 22 May 2025, the notice of which will be published
and despatched to the shareholders of the Company as soon as practicable in
accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND
REGISTER OF HOLDERS OF PCSs

For determining the eligibility of the shareholders of the Company to attend
and vote at the 2025 AGM or any adjournment of such meeting:

The register of members and the register of holders of PCSs of the Company
will be closed from Monday, 19 May 2025 to Thursday, 22 May 2025 (both
days inclusive), during such period no transfer of the Shares and PCSs will be
effected.

In order to qualify for attending and voting at the 2025 AGM or any
adjournment of such meeting, (a) in the case of the Shares, all transfers of
Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at Level 17, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 16 May 2025; and (b) in the case of the
PCSs, the notice of conversion in prescribed form, together with the relevant
certificate of the PCSs and confirmation that any amounts required to be paid
by the holder of the PCSs have been so paid, must be duly completed, executed
and deposited with the Company at Rooms 04-08, 26th Floor, Shui On Centre,
6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 9
May 2025.

The record date for such purposes is Thursday, 22 May 2025.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 273 to 276 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment and investment properties
of the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the financial statements,
respectively. Further details of the Group’s major investment properties are set
out in the Management Discussion and Analysis section in this annual report.
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PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Details of the properties under development for sale of the Group during
the year are set out in note 17 to the financial statements. Further details of
the Group’s major properties under development for sale are set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis section in this annual report.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Details of the completed properties for sale of the Group during the year are set
out in note 17 to the financial statements. Further details of the Group’s major
completed properties held for sale are set out in the Management Discussion
and Analysis section in this annual report.

LEASEHOLD LAND HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR
SALE

Details of the leasehold land held for development for sale of the Group during
the year are set out in note 17 to the financial statements. Further details of the
Group’s major leasehold properties held for development for sale are set out in
the Management Discussion and Analysis section in this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year are set
out in note 26 to the financial statements.

DEBENTURES

The Company did not issue any debenture during the year ended 31 December
2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF COMPANY'’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2024.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in note 26 to the financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders and the holders of PCSs of
the Company, as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association, was HK$4,982,621,000 (2023:
HK$5,032,610,000). Under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the
Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to Shareholders and
holders of PCSs subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In
accordance with the Articles of Association, dividends shall be distributed out of
the retained profits or other reserves, including share premium and contributed
surplus, of the Company.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2024 are set out in note 22 to the financial statements.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (“KPI")

(a) Pre-sales
o Definition and calculation: Pre-sales measures the sale performance
of the Group’s properties and car park units by multiplying the pre-
sold GFA with the pre-sales ASP.

o Purpose: The Group monitors its product mix to be launched for sale
on the basis of the pre-sold GFA and the pre-sales ASP. The pre-
sold GFA and the pre-sales ASP provide direction for the Group to
determine its sale strategies in the forthcoming year. The extent to
which this objective has been achieved is assessed by comparing the
Group’s actual pre-sales to the pre-sales target, as it is an indicator
showing the Group’s achievement in its sales planning.

o Quantified KPI data: The pre-sales, pre-sold GFA and pre-sales
ASP was approximately HK$784.5 million, 14,269 sg.m. and
HK$54,649.9 per sq.m., respectively, for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: approximately HK$600.4 million, 7,540
sg.m. and HK$78,355.4 per sq.m.).
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(b) Gross profit margin

(c)

Definition and calculation: Gross profit margin measures the
profitability that the Group generates from its revenue by comparing
the revenue net of direct costs as a percentage of the revenue. It
indicates the financial success and viability of the Group’s principal
business.

Purpose: The Group aims to enhance its gross profit margin. The
extent to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by
comparing the Group’s gross profit margin from one year to the
next, as it is an indicator showing the Group's profitability.

Quantified KPI data: The gross loss margin was approximately
8.5% for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately
26.6%).

Profit for the year

Definition and calculation: Net profit measures the revenue derived
from the Group’s business, less all expenses and taxes. It indicates
the Group’s earnings from its business operations and other related
activities.

Purpose: The Group emphasises cost control. The net profit provides
direction for a better control and utilisation of expenses. The extent
to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by comparing
the Group’s net profit from one year to the next, as it is an indicator
showing the Group’s earnings from its business operations and other
related activities.

Quantified KPI data: The net loss was approximately HK$1,896.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately
HK$900.3 million).
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(d) Net gearing ratio
e Definition and calculation: Net gearing ratio measures the financial
leverage of the Group by comparing the total borrowings net of
cash and cash equivalents, and restricted and pledged deposits as a
percentage of total equity. It indicates the proportion of equity and
debt the Group has been using to finance its assets.

o Purpose: The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a
net gearing ratio. The net gearing ratio provides direction for the
Group to optimise its financing and business development activities.
The extent to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by
comparing the Group’s net gearing ratio from one year to the next,
as it is an indicator showing the Group’s level of leverage.

e Quantified KPI data: The net gearing ratio was approximately 80.0%
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 63.6%).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to nil
(2023: HK$350,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, sales to the Group's five largest
customers accounted for approximately 11.5% of the Group’s revenue for the
year and sales to the largest customer amounted to approximately 2.5% of the
Group’s revenue for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 30.1% of the Group’s purchases for the
year and purchases from the largest supplier amounted to approximately 9.8%
of the Group’s purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in any of the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group.
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The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

BERH
Date of
resignation

HITES Executive Directors
BERERE Mr WONG Chun Hong —ETEAFNA=Z+HA 38 A
(EFFTHAEE) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 25 August 2009 N/A

MERLZ L Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley —E-)\F=A—H i A
1 March 2018 N/A

=EIRTE Mr WONG Sze Yuen —ZE-—FNAMWNA i@ A
4 August 2022 N/A

FHITES Non-executive Directors

BREXEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun —ET—tFNA—H T iE A
1 September 2017 N/A

B0k A4 Mr KUI Qiang —E-hEF+=-AAB 38 A
6 December 2019 N/A

BUFHTES Independent non-executive Directors

R AN S A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo —ZT-ZF+—-A=+H “ZE-WFEAA=TH
30 November 2010 30 September 2024

PRERES A Mr CHAN So Kuen —EZWHFNA=+H T iE A
30 September 2024 N/A

ROMREF Professor WU Si Zong —E-TF+—HA=1H I iE A
30 November 2010 N/A

PR&E A Mr CHAN Yee Herman —T-N\F—H=H 35 A
2 January 2018 N/A
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In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one- third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years. The Directors to retire in every year will be those who have been
longest in office since their last re-election or appointment but as between
persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those
to retire will (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined
by lot. Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, a Director who is
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office until the next annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Also, pursuant to
Article 84(2) of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the Board
pursuant to Article 83(3) shall not be taken into account in determining which
particular Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation. By
virtue of Articles 83(3), 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles of Association, Mr Chan
So Kuen, Mr Wong Sze Yuen, Mr. Kui Qiang and Mr. Chan Yee Herman will
retire from office and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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Professor WU Si Zong has served the Company for more than ten years. As an
independent non-executive Director with extensive experience and knowledge
and in-depth understanding of the Company’s operations and business,
Professor WU Si Zong has expressed objective views and given independent
guidance to the Company over the past years. The Board considered that his
long service would not affect his exercise of independent judgment and was
satisfied that he has the required integrity and experience to continue fulfilling
the role of an independent non-executive Director and considered him to be
independent.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that, as at the date of this annual
report, all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group
are set out in the Biography of Directors and Senior Management section in this
annual report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and based on the confirmations from
the Directors, there has been no change in the information of the Directors
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules since the
Company’s last published annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company has a service contract or appointment letter (as the case may
be) which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings.
Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, performance and contributions of the Directors and also the change
in market conditions.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements, there is no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at the end of the
financial year under review in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

REMUNERATION FOR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the senior management of the Group by bands are as
follows:

A

Number of individuals

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules,
were as follows:
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RAERXBRGREBRGNETR Long positions in Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company
BEAA
BERA BEBRE ARKRES BERAR EERTRE
‘& EA A (R) A8 (#) A (4) HERR A A BRED
Total number
Number of  Number of Share Number of of Shares and Approximate
Shares held options held PCSs held underlying percentage of
Name of Director Type of interest (Shares) (Shares) (Shares) Shares held issued Shares
(F=E1)
(Note 1)
(@)+(b)}+()
EEERE(EEED (HE2) R EER 148,500 - - 148,500 AR 17 (L) 0.01
Mr WONG Chun Hong Interest in a controlled 148,500 Shares (L)
(“Mr WONG") (Note 2) corporation
EFEEIZA 332,829,554 - 116,552,800 449,382,354 MR (L) 31.81
Settlor of a trust 449,382,354 Shares (L)
ERBEA 5,083,200 - - 5,083,200 %% (L) 0.36
Beneficial owner 5,083,200 Shares (L)
B 3 Notes:
M) [LEEERBRMOSAEEBRMHOITE - (1) The letter “L" denotes the Director’s long position in the Shares or underlying Shares.

(2)  KangJun Limited ([Kang Jun)) H®EE2EHR - (2)  Kang Jun Limited (“Kang Jun”) is wholly-owned by Mr WONG. By virtue of the SFO, Mr

REBEFHRBERD > 5% EHER BN BKang WONG is deemed to be interested in 148,500 Shares held by Kang Jun. Chance Again
Jun$% A 89 148,500 A% A% 19 # 4 A # 25 ° Chance is wholly-owned by BVI Co. The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is wholly-owned by
AgainEHBVI Co2 & ¥R ° BVI Com 2 HEH1TR HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Wong's Family Trust and the beneficiaries
RABESHBRERIEAERREERAITEAR of which include Mr Wong’s family members. Mr WONG is the settlor and the protector
BHA HXZABRREEXENRKEKE - & 5"5 of the Wong’s Family Trust. By virtue of the SFO, Mr WONG is deemed to be interested in
EEEE&%E{ EREMAIZ ARREA - BEFE 332,829,554 Shares held by Chance Again and 116,552,800 underlying Shares in relation
BB &) - &5 £ R B Chance Againfi B to the PCSs held by Chance Again. And Mr WONG beneficially owned 5,083,200 Shares.

Eﬁ332 829,554 f& A% 1 I B3 Chance Again$% /A 2ok
A AR %ﬁﬁﬁmﬂe 552,800 [ 18 B A& 1) -
Brew - FEhRENE @A 5,083,200 AR -

BEXHIEEEN RZZT_WF+=F Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or the
=+—R EFHAEARQ TEEE?:IBZAE&H?%EQ chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or
AAFHEEAHEEEE (TEREBSHKLEE  short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
IEBIEXVER) P - MBI EESFHA  or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
HERER A ()VIRBE %&Hﬂﬁﬂﬂﬂ EXVER  which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
FIRSHEBMEART MERZAT(BIEHKZE  pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
*E%unﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂmmE’JE%:{'%W&M{’EEE?&E short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under such
EBBE MR AR)  S)RIEEFESRHE  provisions of the SFO), or (i) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
1645158 352 fi& /,\uﬂﬁ’E/‘EZﬂﬂ?'JﬁﬂaAuE%ﬁ 3k (i) the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were
RIEAZETRAMNE A DR BT EZ K required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
KB e the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors are considered
to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing
Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors are entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of their
office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to
any of the Directors.

The Company has purchased and maintained Directors’ liability insurance
during the year under review and as at the date of this annual report, which
provides appropriate cover for the Directors.

DISCLOSURES UNDER RULES 13.20 TO 13.22 OF THE
LISTING RULES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no circumstances which would give
rise to a disclosure obligation under Rule 13.20 to 13.22 of the Listing Rules.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year or
subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

Share Option Schemes

Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 8 June 2022 for the
purpose of (i) motivating the eligible participants to optimise their future
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group; (ii) attracting and
retaining talents or otherwise maintaining ongoing business relationship with
the eligible participants whose contributions are expected to be beneficial to
the Group; and (iii) recognising and acknowledging the past contributions that
the eligible participants have made to the Group.

The Board may at its absolute discretion grant share options under the Share
Option Scheme to any director, employee, officer and/or consultant of the
Group. The Board may in its sole and absolute discretion select and subject to
such conditions (including, without limitation, any minimum period for which
a share option must be held before it can be wholly or partly exercised and/or
any performance targets which must be achieved before a share option can be
wholly or partly exercised) as it may think fit. The exercise period shall not be
more than 10 years.

The total number of Shares in respect of which share options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 141,273,244
Shares, representing approximately 10% of the total number of issued Shares
as at the date of this annual report. The number of share options available for
grant under the New Option Scheme was 141,273,244 as at the date of its
adoption on 8 June 2022 and the end of the financial year ended 31 December
2024, representing approximately 10% of the total number of the issued
Shares as at the date of this annual report.

Without prior approval from the Shareholders, the number of Shares in respect
of which share options were granted and may be granted to any individual in
any 12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. For
any grant of share options to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director, or any of their respective associates, the Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person within
any 12-month period shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued Shares in aggregate
and be with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million unless with the approval of the
Shareholders.
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A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by each grantee accepting the grant of
share options. Share options are exercisable at a price that is determined by the
Board, which will not be less than the higher of the closing price of the Shares
on the date of grant, and the average closing prices of the Shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

While the Share Option Scheme will expire on 7 June 2032, the Company may
terminate the Share Option Scheme by way of ordinary resolution in general
meeting of resolution in Board meeting.

No share option under the Share Option Scheme was granted by the Company
from the effective date of 8 June 2022 to the date of this annual report.

Further details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in note
25 to the financial statements.

PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES

Details of the deed poll in relation to the bonus issue of the PCSs subsisting at
the financial year ended 31 December 2024 are set out below:

On 20 June 2013, the Company executed the deed poll in relation to the
bonus issue of HK$25,092,080 PCSs. The bonus PCSs will be irredeemable
but will have conversion rights entitling the bonus PCS holders to convert into
an aggregate of 250,920,800 Shares (subject to adjustment). The conditions
precedent of the bonus issue of the PCSs are set out on page 9 of the
Company’s announcement dated 27 March 2013. All the conditions precedent
of the issue of the PCSs had been fulfilled on 20 June 2013. As at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, HK$13,436,800 PCSs
had been converted into 134,368,000 Shares, and there were HK$11,655,280
outstanding PCSs which can be convertible into 116,552,800 Shares (subject to
adjustment). For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 27
March 2013.

The Directors considered that the bonus issue of the PCSs was a feasible and
practical solution to restore the minimum public float of the Shares.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance had been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries during the year under review.

There is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year
under review.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group are set out in
note 30 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not enter into any transactions which
constituted connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and for which the Company was required to
comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to any Director or the chief
executive officer of the Company, the following persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive officer of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO or
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at the general meetings of any other
members of the Group:

Chance Again (F3£2)
Chance Again (Notes 2)

BVI Co(Mfizt2)
BVI Co (Notes 2)

ELEREE(FE2)
HSBC International Trustee (Notes 2)

BYELT((Bat]) (HE2k3)
Ms LIU Choi Lin (“Ms LIU") (Notes 2 and 3)

FE (Mit4)
Caiyun (Note 4)

ZERKEE (M)
YHCT (Note 4)

Crown Investments (¥ 5)
Crown Investments (Notes 5)

Metro Holdings Limited ([ Metro ) (Fff3£5)
Metro Holdings Limited (“Metro")
(Notes 5)

ONG Jenn %4 (Bt 6)
Mr ONG Jenn (Notes 6)

ONG Sek Hian % 4 (Fif 3t 6)
Mr ONG Sek Hian (Notes 6)

BEXA
KERSB EERRE ARRE S BERGR EERTRS
#A #A %A HERAAH HEAEDL
Total number
of Shares and Approximate
Number of Number of Share Number of underlying percentage of
Capacity Shares held options held PCSs held Shares held issued Shares
(KzE1)
(Note 1)
(@] (@+{b)+c)
(&) (9] &)
(Shares) (Shares) (Shares) NIEE(]
ERERA 332,829,554 - 116,552,800 449,382,354 %% (L) 3181
Beneficial owner 449,382,354 Shares (L)
REEER 332,829,554 - 116,552,800 449,382,354 % (1) 31.81
Interest in a controlled corporation 449,382,354 Shares (L)
(SN 332,829,554 - 116,552,800 449,382,354 (1) 31.81
Trustee of a trust 449,382,354 Shares (1)
EER 338,061,254 - 116,552,800 454,614,054 55 (1) 32.18
Interest of spouse 454,614,054 Shares (L)
ERERA 400,959,840 - - 400,959,840fkk%A (1) 2838
Beneficial owner 400,959,840 Shares (L)
R EER 400,959,840 - - 400,959,840 (L) 28.38
Interest in a controlled corporation 400,959,840 Shares (L)
REEEER 312,734,756 - - 312,734756FRRA 1) 2214
Interest in a controlled corporation 312,734,756 Shares (L)
SEEEER 313,154,056 - - 313,154,056 B D (L) 2217
Interest in a controlled corporation 313,154,056 Shares (L)
S EER 313,154,056 - - 313,154,056 B D (L) 2217
Interest in a controlled corporation 313,154,056 Shares (L)
REEEER 313,154,056 = - 313154, 056fRRA () 217
Interest in a controlled corporation 313,154,056 Shares (L)
EnBAA 2,089,000 - = 2,089,000 RER1D (L) 0.15

Beneficial owner

2,089,000 Shares
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Notes:

(1

(2)

(6)

Save

The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company.

Chance Again is wholly-owned by BVI Co. The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is
wholly-owned by HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Wong's Family Trust. Mr
WONG is the settlor and the protector of the Wong’s Family Trust. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr WONG is deemed to be interested in 332,829,554 Shares held by Chance Again and
116,552,800 underlying Shares in relation to the PCSs held by Chance Again.

Ms LIU is the spouse of Mr WONG. By virtue of the SFO, Ms LIU is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr WONG is interested.

400,959,840 Shares were held by Caiyun, which is wholly-owned by YHCT. Accordingly,
YHCT is deemed to be interested in all the Shares and the underlying Shares held by
Caiyun.

312,734,756 Shares were held by Crown Investments which was in turn wholly-owned by
Metro China Holdings Pte Ltd which was in turn wholly-owned by Metro. 419,300 Shares
were held by Meren Pte Ltd which was in turn wholly-owned by Metro. By virtue of the
SFO, Metro is deemed to be interested in 312,734,756 Shares and 419,300 Shares held
by Crown Investments and Meren Pte Ltd, respectively.

Metro’s ultimate controlling shareholders (as defined under the Listing Rules) are Mr. Ong
Jenn and Mr. Ong Sek Hian, and their aggregate direct and deemed interest in Metro is
approximately 35.398%. By virtue of the SFO, Mr ONG Jenn is deemed to be interested
in the 312,734,756 Shares and 419,300 Shares held by Crown Investments and Meren
Pte Ltd, respectively. Mr ONG Sek Hian is deemed to be interested in the 312,734,756
Shares and 419,300 Shares held by Crown Investments and Meren Pte Ltd, respectively. In
addition, Mr ONG Sek Hian beneficially owned 2,000,000 Shares.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person (other than

a Director or chief executive(s) of the Company) had any interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Note:

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report have been subject to
rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as total sums in certain tables may not
be an arithmetic aggregation of figures preceding them.
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COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

To protect the Group from potential competition, Mr WONG entered into
a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) with the
Company pursuant to which he represents, warrants and undertakes to the
Company (for itself and for the benefit of the other members of the Group),
among other things, that other than through the Group, neither he nor any
of his associates is currently interested, involved or engaged, or is likely to be
interested, involved or engaged, directly or indirectly, in any business which
is or is about to be engaged in any business which competes or is likely to
compete directly or indirectly with the Group’s business. Details of the Deed of
Non-Competition have been set out in the paragraph headed “Non-Competition
Undertakings from Mr WONG” in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders and the Scarborough Group” of the prospectus of the
Company dated 11 March 2011.

The Company has received the annual confirmation from Mr WONG in respect
of his compliance with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition.

In order to ensure compliance by Mr WONG of the Deed of Non-Competition
and to manage any potential conflict of interests arising from the business of
the Controlling Shareholders and to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders,
the Company has adopted the following corporate governance measures (the
“Corporate Governance Measures”):

(@ the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed, on an annual
basis, the compliance with the undertakings by Mr WONG under the
Deed of Non-Competition;

(b)  Mr WONG provided all information requested by the Company which
is necessary for the annual review by the independent non-executive
Directors of his compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition such as: (i)
information on business opportunities including project names, amount
of investment and the geographical location which may be identified
by him or any of his associate(s); and (i) information on any property
developments conducted by him or any of his associate(s) during the year
or a negative confirmation, as appropriate;

(c) the Company disclosed decisions on matters reviewed by the independent
non-executive Directors relating to (where applicable) (i) compliance
and enforcement of Mr WONG's non-competition undertakings; (ii) the
exercise of the pre-emption rights where a business opportunity is referred
to the Group; and/or (iii) any decision on the enforcement of breaches of
his non-competition undertakings either through the annual reports of
the Company, or by way of announcement to the public;
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Mr WONG made an annual declaration on compliance with his
non-competition undertakings in the annual report of the Company
and ensure that the disclosure of details of his compliance with and the
enforcement of his non-competition undertakings is consistent with the
principles of disclosure in the Corporate Governance Code contained in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules;

Mr WONG abstained from voting in all meetings of the Shareholders and/
or the Board where there is any actual or potential conflicting interest;

the Board has a balanced composition of executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors so
that there is a strong element on the Board that can effectively exercise
independent judgement. With expertise in different professional fields,
the Company believes that the independent non-executive Directors have
the necessary caliber and expertise to form and exercise independent
judgement in the event that conflicts of interest between the Group and
the controlling shareholders arise;

in the event that potential conflicts of interest materialise, that is,
where a Director has an interest in a company that would enter into an
agreement with the Group, the Director(s) with an interest in the relevant
transaction(s) would not be allowed to attend the relevant Board meeting,
and would be excluded from the Board deliberation and abstained from
voting and would not be counted towards quorum in respect of the
relevant resolution(s) at such Board meeting;

in the event that potential conflicts of interest materialise, the
controlling shareholders would be required to abstain from voting in
the Shareholders’ meeting of the Company with respect to the relevant
resolution(s); and

the Group is administratively independent from the controlling
shareholders as it has its own company secretary, authorised
representatives and administrative personnel.

The Directors consider that the above Corporate Governance Measures are
sufficient to manage any potential conflict of interests between the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates and the Group and to protect the
interests of the Shareholders, in particular, the minority Shareholders.

The Directors confirm that each of the Corporate Governance Measures has
been performed satisfactorily during the financial year ended 31 December
2024.



ESWESE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

BFHEBEERESR

AEBEHIFTARBEREMERF  ARETE
AR RANER (BRRYREBEAEX
FEE) AEEGREZERBRASKERE
BER  UEERAEEETHRXZMEBIGN
BERRERLER -REBEFAN - NEEL
THRBAREEREMHEEERERTZENN
BOERIOER -

REBRREKRR
AEEBNETERRERENER LR
NEREABNHTATE - LRBMEREE
NBREREIR  EBEELRE - AEEE
A A E B R R (NFD 2 R ARR) 15T AR
REME URERSZ2ERERRENER
BREKRNTE -

AEESIRRANERERE Lo —F 8
MEIRRIEHERITE)  ABYHRSIRFAHEERE

o

BRFHE

W o

HEAEEETITWEE
AEEHEEEIREZENBENEE - A5 H
BAEE TREE - LUGEREHCXEEN
PEXHRGR TEREE - AF ~EE
BEVBEEBINRFESHNERENES I
FEREZESRTNANBTERNER -

FLSHAFHRNERE HERER

AEBE NG R E TS MBS 78 BF
BURERT -BEESFRIGKTAREE
SEBTE - B BREAREENEBEK
NHERNGERSEHRBHENER - &
SERMBREE - AERSHENERSE
RAFHNESRES [BRETE] K-

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

135

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to ensure adherence
to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those have a significant
impact on the Group. The Group would seek professional legal advice from
its legal advisers to ensure transactions and business to be performed by the
Group are in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. During the
year under review, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with any
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Acting in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and to
adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving
and waste reduction. The Group has implemented internal recycling programme
for office consumables such as toner cartridges and paper to minimise the
operational impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time and will
implement further eco-friendly measures and practices closely enhancing
environmental sustainability.

For details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report in
this annual report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S EMPLOYEES

The Group believes that employees are important and valuable assets. The
Group will provide trainings for employees to enhance their knowledge in
corporate values and culture and to implement them thoroughly. Meanwhile,
the Group accelerates development of young leaders and nurtures them
in establishing study-oriented teams and keeps them abreast of updated
knowledge and timely development.

The Group also aims to provide competitive and attractive remuneration
packages to retain the employees. Management reviews annually the
remuneration package offered to employees of the Group. Meanwhile, for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contributed to the success of the Group’s operations, the Group adopted the
Share Option Scheme. Information about the scheme is set out in the paragraph
headed “Share Option Scheme” in the Directors’ Report of this annual report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group values long standing relationships with its suppliers and customers.
The Group aims at delivering high quality properties and services to its
customers and developing mutual trust and enhancing communication and
commitment between the Group and its suppliers, especially the commercial
banks and financial institutions as the Group's businesses are capital intensive
which require on-going funding to maintain sustainable growth.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there are no material events
affecting the Group after the end of the reporting period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed, together with the management and
external auditor, the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group
and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

WONG Chun Hong
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Top Spring International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Top Spring
International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 150 to 272, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code"”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman
Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2(b) to the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group incurred a
net loss of HK$1,896.6 million (2023: HK$900.3 million). As at 31 December
2024, the Group’s current bank loans and other borrowings amounted to
HK$2,659.6 million, including bank loans and other borrowings outside of
Chinese Mainland of HK$2,122.5 million. However, the Group only had cash
and cash equivalents of HK$376.9 million, including those situated outside of
Chinese Mainland of HK$115.1 million. In view of the continuing deterioration
of the property market, tightening of the financing environment and exchange
restrictions for remittance of funds out of Chinese Mainland, the Group have
challenges in realising cash from sale of its properties, securing additional
financing, renewing existing bank facilities and borrowings and remitting
funds from Chinese Mainland in a timely manner to meet its loan repayment
obligations. These conditions, along with the matters as set forth in Note 2(b)
indicates that a material uncertainty exists on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going
concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

REYENEE
Valuation of investment properties

2GR BEBAN T 12 R TR 2() »

Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(j).

BB NAREZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BPRFEREDENGEETORAIEFEENTRE

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment properties included

BREITEHE
The key audit matter
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group held BEREEEEETEREMENIABBENKE

a portfolio of investment properties located
in Chinese Mainland with a fair value of
HK$6,378.4 million which, in aggregate,
accounted for 38% of the Group’s total
assets. These investment properties principally
comprise residential, retail and office premises.

EREERESERIIDYEMLERMR R R
HEBLEE  FHREDER_Z_WEF
+ZA=+—HmMAREE-

The fair values of the investment properties as
at 31 December 2024 were assessed by the
management based on independent valuations
prepared by a firm of qualified external
property valuer.

obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared by the
external property valuer engaged by management and on which the
management’s assessment of the fair values of investment properties was
based;

RSN A EMNAEEYETENERE  SRERFEMND - A
REBREFNTH I RIB I

assessing the external property valuer’s qualifications, experience and
expertise in the properties being valued and considering their objectivity
and independence;
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ARETEE G KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

REYENGE
Valuation of investment properties
DT A R IRE N it 12 R S5 BR M 2() °

Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(i).
HEEtEE RANESTMAEEZEE

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

ERMABORGEEIROBET - BIMNBY XA E R REFER
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The determination of these fair values involves
significant management judgement and
estimation, particularly in relation to selecting
the appropriate valuation methodology,
capitalisation rates, market rents and average
market price of the comparable properties.

HREMEBESROEERR - FilZ
WELBMN - MK MEEREDENMGE
BEAR T =IE -

We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter because of the
inherent risks involved in estimating the values
of the properties, particularly in light of the
current economic circumstances.

BERRANGETEREZMHRER
with the assistance of our internal property valuation specialists, discussing
with the external property valuer their valuation methodology and the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in their valuations;

o FBLEMISABERK LB FIET SR - LAE S T
MBI ER A ER X YEHEERRANEEMEFTRERR (2
FBEREE BROTTHESRALRTISERS) IREHER &
evaluating the external property valuer’s valuation methodology and
challenging the key estimates and assumptions (including capitalisation
rates, prevailing market rents and comparable market transactions)
adopted in the valuations, on a sample basis, by comparison with available
market data and/or government produced market statistics; and

o DHBEFAK BERERIIMSVEGEMRENEEER (BIEARE
MR BHEE) BB A O RB BT ELE -

comparing tenancy information, including committed rents and
occupancy rates, provided by the Group to the external property valuer
with underlying contracts and related documentation, on a sample basis.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(g).
RANB A EEZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of receivables from the third
party without specified dates of settlement included the following:

BREITEHE
The key audit matter
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
certain receivables from the third party without
specified dates of settlement of HK$1,093.7
million which were classified as financial
assets measured at fair value through profit or
loss ("FVPL") in the consolidated statement
of financial position. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group recognised relevant
fair value loss of HK$6.7 million, regarding the
above receivables.

ZECMEESERAANBESHREENE
=hemIAE -ZEeREENGHENRE
ARERABBRBRNGERE  BZ5H
ANBE R AR JZ AR E 5 BOE B T % BUEEER -
HERIEMSBERKN -

These financial assets are classified as level 3
financial instruments in the fair value hierarchy.
The valuations of these financial assets are
derived from valuation models which require a
number of inputs and assumptions which are
not observable from market data and which are
significant to the entire measurement.

BN HEZETREESRNEMREERE
BEEEEMHEEXFKARABURRT
EHHEREESE BERENVBEEES
BAXE WHMBERECEEBHNE
WE=FFENGHEBRRETFE -

We identified the valuation of receivables
from the third party without specified dates of
settlement as a key audit matter because of the
degree of complexity involved in valuing these
financial assets and the degree of judgement
exercised by management in determining the
inputs used in the valuation models which may
have significant impact to the financial results
of the Group.

RRYHEEEERAENMGE

obtaining and inspecting the valuation prepared by management;

ERMABEEER BT  2ERTSARENRE - FHEGHESD
;Jjﬂ;:ﬁﬁﬁ R E L LHEETRANMGTRRELRE KR ER
EEE

with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists, assessing the
valuation methodology adopted in the valuations with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards and challenging
the estimation in future cash flows and discount rates adopted in the
valuations;

BB HEAMGT > Th EREGEHARGEER P RS
WA ARKRBE SRS  WR2ERZNMBARRL  HEEBBREBAX
e RaERENRKRIEDERE &

evaluating the Group’s estimated future cash flows from the debtor used
in the valuation model which include reading the terms set out in the
respective agreements and challenging management’s assumptions in
respect of the ability of the debtors to pay and timing of settlements with
reference to the debtors’ financial condition; and

S2ERTERENRT  E EEERGES M EREREEMR
RArEEZEBASBRBRENKET MY -

assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in relation to the key inputs and assumptions adopted
in the valuation with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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[k SRR
Assessment of impairment of goodwill
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Refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(1).

BB B
The key audit matter
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As at 31 December 2024, goodwill arising from
the acquisition of the educated related service
in 2018 amounted to HK$40.7 million.

EREGFREAT —AEESEFENR
CEAEM((REEEEN]) GROIERR
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Management performed annual impairment
assessment of goodwill based on discounted
cash flow forecast prepared for each cash-
generating unit (“CGU") to which goodwill
is allocated. The impairment assessment is
carried out by management with reference to a
valuation report prepared by an external valuer
appointed by management.

REMBREERERAPRERBIEHERXR
HE - F R RERESENEHMEHEA
BEX FBERIEREGM®E -

The preparation of discounted cash flow
forecasts involves the exercise of significant
management judgement, in particular in
determining the appropriate short-term and
long-term revenue growth rates, profit margin
and discount rates.

BN ET O EEZSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB EEEREETHNEAEFEENATSIE
Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of goodwill included the
following:

e THREEEMRENGHER Z2ERTFHENNER FTHERE
EEBUNBREEZReELEMNEEDR
obtaining an understanding of the management’s impairment assessment
model, evaluating the identification of the CGU and the allocation of
assets to that CGU with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

o MEERBEZENIINLEMANER KB REEMH
assessing the qualifications, experience and expertise of the external
valuer appointed by management;

o HEBEMWMARNLENE UFERBKZSHARBRREE S ¥E -
BBERTERIEAEL L  HRERBREFAPARANEZEME R
BRCHEREWAERERFEXEEE) REEE
discussing future operating plans with management and challenging
the key estimates and assumptions adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecast, in particular in relation to revenue growth rates and profit
margin, by comparing these with historical results, economic and industry
forecasts;

e HEBENFRNMESAEH 2D EETERTE - RGL
B m e RRERREEESLL
re-performing calculations made by management in arriving at the year
end assessments of recoverable amounts and comparing the calculated
recoverable amounts to the actual carrying amounts;

o BBYHHN F—FENURRSAEAMERAFEENER ETEHL
EH - ARHEEEERAERER T SN MR E ERIE
performing a retrospective review by comparing the prior year’s
discounted cash flow forecast with the current year’s results to assess the
reliability and historical accuracy of management’s forecasting process;
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[k 9z AR
Assessment of impairment of goodwill
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Refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(f).

BRETER
The key audit matter

HRREEFEM AW ESENTEAE
BRI WEKERBREELERHAS R
fhat EEBMERVAEEEBREGHRR -
MBMETEERET hEEREEE -
We identified the assessment of impairment
of goodwill as a key audit matter because the
assessment of the recoverable amounts of CGU
can be inherently subjective and requires the
exercise of significant management judgement
and estimation which increases the risk of error
or management bias.

BB NAEREZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ERMAFEEERHET - BERERTEEMA] LR R AR EET
AR R R E

with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists, evaluating the
appropriateness of the discount rates by benchmarking against other
comparable companies in the same industry;

HEIERRX(DEARRRERETAAF ARG RE AR R) ETH
RS WEBERETHEENTERESEENNRERERE
BEFEERE: &

performing sensitivity analysis of key assumptions, including growth
rates and discount rates applied in the discounted cash flow forecast
and considering the resulting impact on the impairment assessment and
whether there were any indicators of management bias; and

2ERTEERNER AR EEENRBREN TGRS
HRPHIRER

assessing the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of management’s impairment assessment of goodwill with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
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HRETEE®
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Assessment on net realisable value of inventories

DR A  EHZMT 17 R &5 E M7 2(0)

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(o).

BB B
The key audit matter
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As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate
carrying value of the Group’s properties under
for development (“PUD"”) and completed
properties for sale (“Completed Properties”)
(together “Inventories”) totalled HK$4,924.7
million.

ZEWMETEZBEMNRY - REREEH
FEREEDSE -

These principally comprise residential and
commercial properties in Shenzhen, Tianjin and
Hong Kong.

FERKAMET SR FENREEINE 17
BERMBEHRERNAI IR FERERETE -
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The calculation of the net
realisable value for Inventories at the financial
reporting date is performed by management.

BN ET O EEZSE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BT EEFEN A Z R FERRNETIZF B
Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of inventories included
the following:

o HEMGHRERZEFENEEEIE  BERHEAMAANTEAET
E’JIKW*B% il 2 RET R E M
assessing the design and implementation of key internal controls over the
preparation and monitoring of management budgets and forecasts of
construction and other costs for each Inventories;

. LM’EEMH‘K;TT‘ 5 ST B AR R - jfiﬁiﬁq@@%ﬂ‘%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%‘?%fﬁ
ERNEERRMRZEFERTBANEREE
conducting site visits to Inventories’ sites, on a sample basis, and
discussing with management the progress of each Inventories visited
and the development budgets reflected in the latest forecasts for these
Inventories;

o ZERMTEHEANENR  FREBERTEFTENATZRFEMRK
MIEETENBE N
evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies adopted
by management for assessing the net realisable value of the Inventories
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;

o DA A MM ERMANBARAGT RBRRNSEN - REEFIF
EERMBFABRUAEHEE  HERHFEEETSASHEER &
SEARNEEREAEETHER  UHAFERKAE S5EK
MERAEREEENRESRETLR
assessing the reasonableness of the key estimates and assumptions
adopted in the valuations, on a sample basis, including those relating to
average net selling prices and estimated construction cost, by comparing
net selling prices with market available data and the sales budget plans
maintained by the Group, and comparing estimated construction cost
with the Group’s latest development budget and signed construction
contracts;
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FERETEE® KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

FEFEEN 2B FE
Assessment on net realisable value of inventories
R A B RA Mt 17 R @5 R M7 2(0)

Refer to Note17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(o).
BRETSE RANBTMAERZEE

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

A 7 B4 % 5 58 B e ) 35 9 9 TR AR DA
R EENRMARFERR FHEEFE
B B IR R (B I BN E IR B B R A AT e
The calculation of the net realisable value of
Inventories involves significant management
judgement and estimation in preparing and
updating estimations of the costs to complete
each PUD as well as in assessing the expected
future net selling prices for Inventories.

HREFEEYH BSENEZMN URMGFH
BFEmr SR FERYRONESRR &
BMmEEN G FEN A Z R F AR BRET
EDER

We identified the assessment of net realisable
value of Inventories as a key audit matter
because of the significance of Inventories to
the Group and because of the inherent risks
involved in estimating net reliable value for
Inventories.

KRS EFENGTRERAE ERENKRMBEEETLER I
KEEZE_Z_ME+_A=1t—BHE4ANKEAE_ZT_=F+_H
=T HOREETLR U EEEETR RIEEBIRAER
54

comparing the estimated construction costs to complete each Inventories
with the Group’s latest budgets and comparing the costs incurred to 31
December 2024 with budgets as at 31 December 2023 to assess the
accuracy of management’s forecasting and budgeting process; and

BEEEEETOBRESN - URE@RMEGT RBRREFIHES
RUBEEENE 2SR FERESAHER - WEBEBRE RER
IR RSP AR SR FEEEENEERBEARRANTR
inspecting sensitivity analyses prepared by management for the extent
of changes in key estimates and assumptions that, either individually or
collectively, would be required for Inventories to be materially misstated
and considering the likelihood of such a movement in those key
estimates and assumptions arising and whether there is any indication of
management bias in their selection.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OUR AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient and appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Ng Yu Hei.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BE_Z-WF+-A=+—HILFEBTIIFR)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

WA Revenue 4 1,369,285 954,319
HERA Direct costs (1,486,059) (1,208,094)
EX| Gross loss (116,774) (253,775)

KEMENMHEER) E  valuation (losses)/gains on investment

properties 12 (1,195,925) 14,376
E A Other revenue 5 99,642 158,795
E M ESEFRE Other net loss 6 (173,145) (39,695)
HEREHEAS Selling and marketing expenses (257,583) (76,519)
THREX Administrative expenses (197,822) (176,820)
BHMHE ﬁﬂg”ﬁ ?ﬁ’\jﬁ HRLEE TR Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment
i ACIVOERINSEY loss) on trade and other receivables 27(a) 2,066 (85,225)
REXRBELNER Loss from operations (1,839,541) (458,863)
BRE A Finance costs 7(a) (303,166) (319,999)
DIEBEE R EIEE Share of losses of associates 15 (4,149) (57,615)
FRBLAIE B Loss before taxation (2,146,856) (836,477)
FriS %t Income tax 8(a) 250,237 (63,853)
FEBE Loss for the year (1,896,619) (900,330)
BT AL Attributable to:

LK%E?*EE%%&%IH*ﬁ Equity shareholders of the Company
N e
RBFARBREES (RAT]RB 404 holders of bonus perpetual

BENHHA subordinated convertible securities
("PCSs") (1,832,632) (876,893)
FEPE AR Non-controlling interests (63,987) (23,437)
FEBE Loss for the year (1,896,619) (900,330)
BREB(ERT) Loss per share (HK$)
BEARREE Basic and diluted 11 (1.20) (0.57)

FIS8E 272 B FEAKZ S8 3K — 55 The notes on pages 158 to 272 form part of these financial statements. Details
5o BN AR RS E MoK AR R FESHFE  of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of
AR B BERHIFE26(0) © PCSs are set out in Note 26(b).
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GeBEsERkEMEERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-Z-WE+-—A=+—HILFE GUBTIITR)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FEEMEEKE BRRRESR
DERER)

A& T2 EFT D EERBH
HH -

RGYE - BEREEREEE

Loss for the year (1,896,619) (900,330)

Other comprehensive income for the year
(after tax and reclassification adjustments)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:

Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and

RIREWMHEZ BOEGKBR equipment upon change of use to investment
properties 11,007 9,365
HR&REE BICEMENEM  Deferred tax liability arising on revaluation gain
WREENEEHIBEAE on change of use to investment properties (2,752) (2,342)
8,255 7,023

A& REEF DB E Rz
HYEA

MBI IN B N R VB B R Y

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries (209,954) (250,246)

FEHM2EKE  MEBRAEHR

Other comprehensive income for the year,

oo, Petofincometax 0 WEERCIUSEN @ (243223)]
FEX2HEHWSLE Total comprehensive income for the year (2,098,318) (1,143,553)
R AL AL Attributable to:

AR B 2 AR R B ok A AT IR Equity shareholders of the Company and holder

MRESFEA A of PCSs (2,023,465) (1,116,388)
FEPE IR = Non-controlling interests (74,853) (27,165)
FEXHEHWSLE Total comprehensive income for the year (2,098,318) (1,143,553)

158 272 B THAARZ S B @RER—55 °  The notes on pages 158 to 272 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZTZE+=ZA=+—8 GABETIIR)
At 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ERBEE Non-current assets
wEYE Investment properties 12 6,378,394 8,105,892
ME - RER&E Property, plant and equipment 12 97,417 138,126
6,475,811 8,244,018
EmLEE Intangible assets 3,769 3,769
SRS Goodwill 13 40,736 40,736
i RN = OF - e Interests in associates 15 3,320 158,358
BERBHILEAAEBEAKR  Financial assets measured at fair value

(TEBREREAAMBEAN  through profit or loss (“FVPL")

RDFENEREE 16 1,155,250 1,202,818
H b U FRIA Other receivables 18 = 314,675
BT IEEE Deferred tax assets 8(d) 125,054 112,663

7,803,940 10,077,037
REBEE Current assets
FEREAME LM Inventories and other contract costs 17 5,077,341 6,300,697
BIBEBHIEAEEAR  Financial assets measured at FVPL 16

AENEREE 2,893 2,835
B 5 NEAMEWZIE Trade and other receivables 18 1,723,556 1,467,188
T BIIR Prepaid tax 8(c) 2,235 2,141
ZRREI R EEMRER Restricted and pledged deposits 19 1,379,837 1,525,775
HekReZEEB Cash and cash equivalents 20(a) 376,867 665,194

8,562,729 9,963,830
DEABIEHEMNIEEYE Investment properties classified as held
for sale 12 250,000 -
et eieeeeieiieiiiiiiieiieiieeooi.... O0MZ729 9,963,830 _
REBEE Current liabilities
B 5 N E A EN I Trade and other payables 21 2,694,931 2,956,489
RITEREHEMEES Bank loans and other borrowings 22 2,659,573 3,305,907
SHEE Contract liabilities 23 162,169 146,774
HEBRE Lease liabilities 24 5,825 6,072
FETRHIE Tax payable 8(c) 189,537 206,733
___________________________________________________________________________ 5,712,035 6,621,975
REEEFE Net current assets 3,100,694 3,341,855
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e MBI R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZTZWE+=ZA=+—8 BT
At 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FRBEME Non-current liabilities
HITERRHEMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 22 3,820,770 3,948,400
HESE Lease liabilities 24 28,752 28,946
ELEFIEBE Deferred tax liabilities 8(d) 1,030,268 1,318,384
.5 L. SO 5,295,730 _

EEFE NET ASSETS 6,024,844 8,123,162
BARR#HE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
[i@N Share capital 26(c) 141,273 141,273
s Reserves 5,927,463 7,950,928
BATEEBRRR KA Total equity attributable to equity

ARBREBSFHEA shareholders of the Company and

P GRS 4 holders of PCSs 6,068,736 8,092,201
FIERER Non-controlling interests (43,892) 30,961
AR TOTAL EQUITY 6,024,844 8,123,162

EFgN_TRAF=_A-T/\BH#EREE  Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025.
F5g o

HERE MER
Wong Chun Hong Lam Mei Ka Shirley
BE EE
Director Director

158 F 272 BRI AARZ S0 7637~ —305 o The notes on pages 158 to 272 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE_Z-WF+-A=+—HILFEBTIIFR)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Attrbutable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of PCSs

il

18R ESER  ERGR B ERRE  ERER  REEA
Reserve
aising from PRC  Propery Non-
Share Share  issuance of Coptal ~ Exchange ~ statutory ~ revaluation Other  Retained controling Totd
aptal  premium PCSs Tesene resene resenves Tesere Tesere Totdl  interests equiy
fn T i fn ] T f fn r f f
§1000 §1000 §1000 l §000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000
W-BZZE-F-RHES  Balanceat! January 203 213 192,15 165 9310 (@541 59054 404 1386 46734 92380 8126 928,006
CEoCERERY: Changes in equity for 2023:
FRER Loss o theyer - - - - - - - -8 @68 341 G030
Epranz Other comprefensie ncome - - - - (6519 -1 - - B M)
AkGEEE Totel comprehensiveincome - - - - (M651) - 703 - (B76893) (1116388 (27165 (1143593

BRUREERERERZERE  Share optons and awarded shares forfited

andlapsed - - - (9310 - - - - 29310 - - -
ERTOELTRE Transfer to PRC statutory fesenves 2600) - - - - - 8434 - et - - -
tE-FHEAT Disposal o a subsiary - - - - - o) - - m - - -
ERREDRE Dividends approved n espect o the previous year ~~ 261b) - - - - - - - - (501 (1591 - (15200)

WZBoZE1ZA=1-F  Balanceat 31 December 2023
it W23 195,15 11,65 - (1181959 600751 1,37 1138 6545703 8,092,201 309%1 8123162
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mEERBEX
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-Z-WE+-—A=+—HILFE GUBTIITR)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

KAARERARAATEREA SR ARL
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of PCSs
§ixA
ThEES Gl 0%
R  ROEE EEMBR EXRE  EERRE  ERRR  ABRR  RERA IF  FEREE  EEEE

Reserve
arising from PRC  Property Non-
Share Share issuanceof  Exchange  statutory revaluation Other  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium PCSs reserve eserves eserve Teserve profits Totdl  interests equity
S i i i o S o S Lo S i
§1000 §1000 §'000 §/000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000

W-E-ME-F-BHES  Balanceat! January 204 Mm 1952155 11,65 (1,181,959) 600,751 131 1138 6545703 8,092,201 309%1 8123162
“ECRERESH: Changes in equity for 2024:

EEER Loss for the year - - - - - - - (183263) (183263 (63.987)  (1,8%,619)
A2 Aka Other comprehensiie income - - - (199,088) - 8,255 - - (1908%3)  (10866) (201,699
AhREE Totel comprehensiveincome - - - (199,088) - 8,255 - (18263) (03465  (4853)  (2,098319)
ERTNELTRE Transfer to PRC statutoryreserves 26/ = S s s 8455 = = (8455) = = =

WZB-RETZA=1-B  Balanceat 31 December 2024
it W 195155 165 (1,381,047) 609,206 1949 1138 4704616 6,068,736 (#3892) 6,004,844

158 F 272 BRI AARGZ S I 7637~ —305 o The notes on pages 158 to 272 form part of these financial statements.
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RERERER
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

BE_Z-WF+-A=+—HILFEBTIIFR)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

REER Operating activities
CEREIRFTEERS Cash generated from operations 20(b) 587,763 425,089
EfHREA Tax paid (40,643) (72,849)
REEBEFEERESTFE  Net cash generated from operating
activities 547,120 352,240
REEE Investing activities
BEHMESMEEMNK Payment for purchase of other financial
assets (217) (67,465)
HEEMEFMEENFTS  Proceeds from disposal of other financial
IR assets - 89,537
HEBBEBESEANE Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
BEARTENCREE measured at FVPL
B PR 15 308 652 8,000
BF A Interest received 38,107 52,071
HEBE AR ZFI1S5KIE  Proceeds from disposal of associates 61,912 -
EEAVNCEIE=EA Advance to associates = (22,500)
EBERMALDERMEEFRZ Proceeds from repayment of loans to joint
FriSs8 ventures = 35,697
EBEMFE=TREERZ  Proceeds from repayment of loans to third
FriS 508 parties = 9,900
HE—BMEBARZIRE  Net cash inflow from disposals of a
MAEFE subsidiary - 32,262
BEWE BB MEHNTF Payment for purchase of property, plant and
equipment (8,494) (3,059)
HEME  MEREMBEZ  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
FriSs8 and equipment 9,188 2,262
HEREMEZFISIKIE  Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties 28,576 5,917
MEtERANEE Capital contribution to associates - (365)
RETEHFEERESTFE  Net cash generated from investing
activities 129,724 142,257
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mERERER
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HE-Z-WE+-—A=+—HILFE GUBTIITR)
For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

MEEE Financing activities

HIBRITER LR EMEE  Proceeds from new bank loans and other

FriS A borrowings 20(c) 1,704,650 1,142,039

EERTERLEMEE  Repayment of bank loans and other

borrowings 20(c) (2,378,504) (1,437,391)
BNHEEHES Z2EARED  Capital element of lease rentals paid 20(c) (4,507) (9,235)
BNHEERES ZHFEED  Interest element of lease rentals paid 20(0) (1,936) (2,281)
REFEIEAEZR 2 853 Advance from/(repayment) of non-

({B38) IEHERRAERS 278 controlling interests 20(0) 38,080 (13,940)
FRRBR B IRF Release of pledged deposits 118,809 421,584
BNFBEREMEERA  Interest and other borrowing costs paid 20(0) (430,218) (471,150)
MAN A AAE SR EE oK AR Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the

BMRESHFE ARMNBEE  Company and holders of PCSs 26(b) = (15,291)

_BARBABAREFE  Net cash used in financing activities (953,626) (385,665)
HeRBESEEEE Net (decrease)/increase in cash and

(R ) /g cash equivalents (276,782) 108,832
R—A—BWEEK Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

HEZEEEE 20(a) 665,194 579,975
EXgFHNTE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (11,545) (23,613)
R+=ZA=+—H#K Cash and cash equivalents at

REeRALEEER 31 December 20(a) 376,867 665,194

55158 F 272 B WIS AREZ S Rz —2f4% o  The notes on pages 158 to 272 form part of these financial statements.
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RS B A AR MY R
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S ERBIN - LUETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

—REHR

REEBREEER AR ([XR2AR])RE
HERBRRNEF2NE (—AR—F&
Pl= BEERETNR_FTNAFNA
“TREAEHRERSEMKRL AR L
EREMFERAE - ARBBRHR T ——
F=A-+=ATEWBEH) EFEH
ABRBMAARAR ([BRRF]) ERET -
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability on 25 August 2009 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s
shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 23 March 2011 (“Listing Date").

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are property development, property
investment, property management and related services and education
related services in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“the Listing Rules”). Material accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements.
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2 EXRSFHBER®W 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
w)ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂfﬂgﬁ (b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
EZT_WMFE+A=1+— EI JJ: The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
$J§ EOFER N B SO CINN December 2024 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
HWB AR (REIAEE]) &$E referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates.

BNk

REVEHREMAGFEEERESE The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial

BRARE HATEERBRNATX statements is the historical cost basis except that the following

WETBRFEENEAAREBEY assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in the

R accounting policies set out below:

- REVE BEREREDE —  investment properties, including interests in leasehold land and
MEE T REFHEZR A buildings held as investment property where the Group is the
SEAREYXENEMMAA registered owner of the property interest (see Note 2(i));

A (BBIMTEE2())
- HMEBEERERBRAES (2 —  other investments in debt and equity securities (see Note 2(g)).

BABTEE2(g) °

FEREHRRDEEREAMERR Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying
REERBEEKNANEEETRE (2 amount and fair value less costs to sell (see Note 2(aa)).
B 7 2(aa)) ©

EZREABNBRE LGB The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
REKEEEELHE  H5 ER requires management to make judgements, estimates and
Rk EHE  HHAERBRETE assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
BERERKFIEHMMNEE  BFE - amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
WARY &5 - EHt RIAH and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
BERABTEBMNEAEBERLTR various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
REEBMNZEAMARASER - M circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
FRiG#E R EHE B RI A EIA judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
B i 38 H b 2R ES E’Jé?&éﬂa readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
FREENKE BER&RAEER R these estimates.
Rt EHaEt o
EA—ME AFREAREREHESEN - The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an

G hET uﬂ%iﬂ’ﬁﬁf nTE’J ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
Hﬂ MEETXE AEHEEBITRE the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
ZHMEARER g sHE u‘l' # 15T that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
HERRARBHEYEELETZZ A revision affects both current and future periods.
BE(EH ZIEET iR AR R EA R A

e
BIEERRE AN B REEAFRFAR Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
TEE BT 5 R B B R 2/ # LA have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources
RAGET T E B =) E 2R M of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

AE3 A
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) PAFMRAVARBEE (1)
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(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(Continued)
Material uncertainty related to going concern

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group incurred a net loss
of $1,896.6 million (2023: $900.3 million). In particular, a reportable
segment loss for property development segment was $592.8 million
(2023: $537.7 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's current bank loans and other
borrowings amounted to $2,659.6 million, including bank loans and
other borrowings outside of Chinese Mainland of $2,122.5 million.
However, the Group only had cash and cash equivalents amounted
to $376.9 million, including those situated outside of Chinese
Mainland of $115.1 million. In view of the continuing deterioration
of the property market, tightening of the financing environment
and exchange restrictions for remittance of funds out of Chinese
Mainland, the Group have challenges in realising cash from the sale
of its properties, renewing existing bank facilities and borrowings
and remitting funds from Chinese Mainland in a timely manner to
meet its loan repayment obligations. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and therefore,
the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company have
given consideration to the future liquidity of the Group and its
available sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern. The
directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared
by management, which covers a period of at least 12 months from
31 December 2024. Certain plans and measures have been or will be
taken to mitigate the liquidity pressures and to improve its financial
position which include, but not limited to, the following:

(i)  Management is negotiating with the banks and a shareholder
for renewal of existing bank facilities and the borrowings. From
1 January 2025 to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the Group has renewed the existing bank
facilities of $320.6 million, drawn down new bank loans of
$146.7 million and settled the current bank loans of $593.4
million. For the remaining balances including majority of bank
loans and shareholder loan outside of Chinese Mainland as
mentioned above, no commitment or agreement has been
reached yet.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
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(Continued)
Material uncertainty related to going concern (Continued)

(i) The Group is seeking potential buyers to acquire its properties
and investments outside of Chinese Mainland.

(ili)  The subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland are exploring ways to
transfer funds to the subsidiaries in Hong Kong to partially
repay the loans outside of Chinese Mainland, but they are
subject to the approval from the State Administration of
Foreign Exchange.

(iv)  The Group will continue to implement measures to accelerate
the pre-sales and sales of its properties under development
and completed properties, and speed up the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds and other receivables.

(v)  The Group will continue to take active measures to control
administrative costs and maintain containment of capital
expenditures.

The board of directors are of opinion that, assuming success of the
above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for at least the next twelve
months from 31 December 2024. Accordingly, the directors are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as to
whether management of the Company will be able to achieve its
plans and measures as described above. Should the Group fail to
achieve a combination of the above-mentioned plans and measures,
it might not be able to continue to operate as a going concern, and
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments that might be necessary should the Group
be unable to continue to operate as a going concern.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements for the current
accounting period:

o Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements —
Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (*2020
amendments”) and amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation
of financial statements: Non-current liabilities with covenants
(2022 amendments”)

e Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases. Lease liability in a sale and
leaseback

o Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and
HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: Disclosures. Supplier finance
arrangements

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period. There is no
material impact by adoption of the amendments to the Group.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income
and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains or losses)
arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either at fair value or at the NCl’s
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI
are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between NCI and the
equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of NCI and
other contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with Notes 2(s) or (t) depending on the nature of the
liability.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and
other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary is
measured at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(n)),
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
classified as held for sale) (see Note 2(aa)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Associates

(f)

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the
financial and operating policy decisions.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group classified as held for sale) (see Note 2(aa)). They are initially
recognized at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequently,
the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income (“OCI”) of those
investees, until the date on which significant influence ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity method,
together with any other long-term interests that in substance form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate (after applying
the ECL model to such other long-term interests where applicable (see
Note 2(n)(i)).

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted
investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is no
evidence of impairment.

Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses and is tested annually for impairment
(see Note 2(n)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in securities, other than
investments in subsidiaries and associates, are set out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment. The investments
are initially stated at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured at FVPL for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see Note 27(g). These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.

(@

Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments
of principal and interest. Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective interest method
(see Note 2(x)(ii)(c)), foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) —
recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest and
the investment is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss and computed in the same manner as
if the financial asset was measured at amortised cost.
The difference between the fair value and the amortised
cost is recognised in OCI. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in OCl is recycled
from equity to profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities

(Continued)

(ii) Equity investments
An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL, unless
the investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition the Group makes an irrevocable election to
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in OCI. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’s perspective. If such election is
made for a particular investment, at the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
is transferred to retained earnings and not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other income (see Note 2(x)(ii)(b)).

(h) Derivative financial instruments

(i)

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. At the end of each
reporting period the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Investment property

Investment property is initially measured at cost, and subsequently at
fair value with changes therein recognised in profit or loss.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is recognised
in profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is
recognised in accordance with Note 2(x)(ii).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

(k)

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation (see Note 2(k)) and impairment
losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)):

interest in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see Note 2(m));

—  right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold properties
where the Group is not the registered owner of the property
interest (see Note 2(m)); and

—  furniture, fixtures and other equipment.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items
(major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is recognised in profit or loss. Any related revaluation
surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained profits
and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
(i) Ownership and leasehold interests in land and buildings

Depreciation is provided on the cost of the leasehold land of
properties over the unexpired terms of lease. Costs of buildings
thereon are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives,
being no more than 50 years after the date of completion.

(ii) Furniture, fixtures and other equipment

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of furniture,
fixtures and other equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or loss
as incurred. Development expenditure is capitalised only if the
expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is
technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are
probable and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources
to complete development and to use or sell the resulting asset.
Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Capitalised
development expenditure is subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation any accumulated impairment losses.

Other intangible assets, including patents and trademarks, that are
acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)).

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed
at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
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(m) Leased assets
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At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract
is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(0]

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for leases that
have a short lease term of 12 months or less, and leases of
low-value items such as laptops and office furniture. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value item, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-
lease basis. If not capitalised, the associated lease payments are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is recognised using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability,
and are charged to profit or loss as incurred.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets (Continued)

(0]

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes
2(k) and 2(n)(iii)), except for the following types of right-of-use
asset:

—  right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property are carried at fair value (see Note 2(i)); and

—  right-of-use assets related to interests in leasehold land
where the interest in the land is held as inventory are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value (see
Note 2(0)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for separately from
the right-of-use assets in accordance with the accounting
policy applicable to investments in non-equity securities carried
at amortised cost (see Notes 2(g)(i), 2(z) and 2(n)(i)). Any excess
of the nominal value over the initial fair value of the deposits
is accounted for as additional lease payments made and is
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if
the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets (Continued)

(@

(ii)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease
modification, which means a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for
in the lease contract, if such modification is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case, the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as
the present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.

As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether each lease
is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified
as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets
to the lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with Note 2(x)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group
applies the exemption described in Note 2(m)(i), then the
Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECL"s) on:

—  financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents, restricted and pledged
deposits, trade receivables and other receivables,
including those loans to associates that are held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest); and

- lease receivables.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Generally, credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls between the contractual and expected
amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following
rates if the effect is material:

—  fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof;

—  variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest
rate; and

- lease receivables: discount rate used in the measurement
of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs that result
from default events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months);
and

—  lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected lives of the
items to which the ECL model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at
12-months ECLs:

- financial instruments that are determined to have low

credit risk at the reporting date; and

—  other financial instruments (including loan commitments

issued) for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default
occurring over the expected life of the financial
instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when measuring ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment, that
includes forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly if it is more than 1 year past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a
loss allowance account, except for investments in non-equity
securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the
loss allowance is recognised in OC| and accumulated in the fair
value reserve (recycling) does not reduce the carrying amount
of the financial asset in the statement of financial position.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial
asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

—  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

—  the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on
terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation;

—  the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease
receivable is written off to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
otherwise determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written
off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss
in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the
holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at fair value,
which is determined by reference to fees charged in an arm’s
length transaction for similar services, when such information
is obtainable, or to interest rate differentials, by comparing
the actual rates charged by lenders when the guarantee is
made available with the estimated rates that lenders would
have charged, had the guarantees not been available, where
reliable estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with
the Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where
no such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

The amount initially recognised as deferred income is
subsequently amortised in profit or loss over the term of the
guarantee as income.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract and remeasures the above liability at
a higher amount when ECLs on the financial guarantees are
determined to be higher than the carrying amount in respect
of the guarantees.

A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that the specified
debtor will default has increased significantly since the
guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is measured.
The same definition of default and the same assessment of
significant increase in credit risk as described in Note 2(n)(i)

apply.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Continued)

As the Group is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the specified debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated
based on the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the Group expects
to receive from the holder of the guarantee, the specified
debtor or any other party. The amount is then discounted using
the current risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash
flows.

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its non-financial assets (other than property carried
at revalued amounts, investment property, inventories and
other contract costs, contract assets and deferred tax assets) to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows
of other assets or cash-generating units (“CGU"s). Goodwill
arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use
is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an
asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts
of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For
other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent
that the resulting carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see Notes
2(n)(i) and (iii)).

(o) Inventories and other contract costs

(@

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value as follows:

—  Leasehold land held for development for sale

The cost of leasehold land, which is held for development
for sale, represents the cost of acquisition and the
premium, if any, payable to the relevant government
authorities. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to management estimates based on prevailing
market conditions.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)

(@

Inventories (Continued)

Properties

Cost of properties comprises specifically identified cost,
including the acquisition cost of interests in freehold and
leasehold land, aggregate cost of development, materials
and supplies, wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing costs
capitalised (see Note 2(z)) and any other costs incurred
in bringing the properties to their present location
and condition. In the case of properties developed by
the Group which comprise of multiple units to be sold
individually, the cost of each unit is determined by
apportionment of the total development costs for that
development project to each unit on a per square foot
basis, unless another basis is more representative of the
cost of the specific unit.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
less any estimated costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in selling the property.

Low value consumables and supplies

Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

(ii) Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not capitalised as inventory
(see Note 2(0)(i)), property, plant and equipment (see Note 2(j))
or intangible assets (see Note 2(1)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract, e.g. sales
commissions, are capitalised if the costs relate to revenue
which will be recognised in a future reporting period and the
costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)
(ii) Other contract costs (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Otherwise, costs of fulfilling a
contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant
and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation of capitalised
contract costs is recognised in profit or loss when the revenue
to which the asset relates is recognised (see Note 2(x)).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 2(x)). A contract liability is also recognised if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such latter cases, a corresponding receivable is also recognised (see

(q)
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Note 2(q)).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective

interest method (see Note 2(x)).

(q) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration and only the passage of time is

required before payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing component and other
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost (see Note

2(n)(@)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

(s)

(®)

(u)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
property pre-sale proceeds held by solicitors that are held for
meeting short-term cash commitments and other short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL (see Note 2(n)(i)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequently, these borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense
is recognised in accordance with Note 2(z).

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related
service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount
expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee and the obligation can be
estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are expensed as the related service is provided.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds as required under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(u) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans (Continued)

The employees of the Group participate in retirement
plans (defined contribution retirement plans) managed by
respective local governments of the municipalities in which
the Group operates in Chinese Mainland. The contribution to
the retirement plan is calculated based on fixed rates of the
employees’ salaries cost and charged to profit or loss as and
when incurred, except to the extent that they are included in
the cost of inventories not yet recognised as an expense. The
Group has no other obligation for the payment of retirement
and other post-retirement benefits of staff other than the
contributions described above.

(ii) Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based
payments granted to employees is measured using the
binomial lattice model. The amount is generally recognised as
an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which
the related service conditions are expected to be met, such that
the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of
awards that meet the related service conditions at the vesting
date.

(v) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in
OCl.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable on
the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustments to the
tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes
any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are
met.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:

—  temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and
that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

—  temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries and
associates to the extent that the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

—  taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition
of goodwill; and

—  those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws enacted
or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model
rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
separately in relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused
tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based
on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the
amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise
a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on
the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of
future taxable profits improves.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

(w)

Income tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with Note 2(i), the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets
at their carrying value at the reporting date, unless the property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases,
the measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are
met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying
products or services are sold, based on historical warranty data and a
weighting of possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the present value
of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and
the expected net cost of continuing with the contract, which is
determined based on the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation
under that contract and an allocation of other costs directly related
to fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is established, the Group
recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that
contract (see Note 2(n)(iii)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(x)

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset is
recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be virtually
certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the
sale of properties, the provision of services or the use by others of
the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions and
recognises revenue on a gross basis. In determining whether
the Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers
whether it obtains control of the products before they are
transferred to the customers. Control refers to the Group’s
ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the products.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties
such as value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(@

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@)

(b)

(©

Sale of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties developed for
sale in the ordinary course of business is recognised when
property is delivered to customers in Chinese Mainland or
when legal assignment is completed in Hong Kong, which
are the point in time when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain substantially all
of the remaining benefits of the property.

Advanced payments received on properties and prior
to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
statement of financial position as contract liabilities (see
Note 2(p)).

To the extend that the advance payments from customer
are regarded as providing a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method during the period between
the payment date and the date of delivery of property
in Chinese Mainland or the completion date of legal
assignment in Hong Kong. The discount rate applied is
reflective of the rate in a separate financing transaction
between the group and the customer at contract
inception. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it
is eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 23, Borrowing
costs, in accordance with Note 2(z).

Property management and related services income

Property management and related services income is
recognised when services are provided.

Education related services income

Education related services income is recognised when
services are provided.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)

() HEFITHHBA(E) (i) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(d) FrERRIAEMAIITHE (d) Other practical expedients applied

TZ

REEBEATIIRIITHE The Group has applied the following practical expedients:

HEE:
PYEEE KAk For property management and related services
WA LA R R 3UER A income and education related services income that
—FXEROHE had an original expected duration of one year or
HERBWAMNS less, the Group has not disclosed the information
REE I EBRIRER S related to the aggregated amount of the transaction
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EANRSERR
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price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations in accordance with paragraph 121(a) of
HKFRS 15. In addition, the Group does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component as the period of financing is
12 months or less in accordance with paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15.

The Group has recognised the incremental costs of
obtaining contracts relating to the sale of completed
properties and services as an expense when incurred
in accordance with paragraph 94 of HKFRS 15, as
the amortisation period of the assets that the Group
otherwise would have recognised is within the same
reporting period as the date of entering into the
contract.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income

(@)

(b)

(©

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an
integral part of the total rental income, over the term of
the lease. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the
date on which the Group’s right to receive payment is
established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method. The "effective interest rate” is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. In calculating
interest income, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset
is not credit-impaired). However, for financial assets
that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired,
then the calculation of interest income reverts to the
gross basis.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income (Continued)

(d)  Service income for carparks and apartments

Service income for carparks and apartments is recognised
when services are provided.

(e) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred.

(y) Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective
functional currencies of group companies at the exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at the
reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based on
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange
rates at the date of transaction. Foreign currency differences are
generally recognised in profit or loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill
and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The
income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCl and accumulated
in the exchange reserve, except to the extent that the translation
difference is allocated to NCI.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y)

(2)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially
such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the
cumulative amount in the exchange reserve related to that foreign
operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal. On disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that foreign operation that have been attributed to the
NCI shall be derecognised, but shall not be reclassified to profit
or loss. If the Group disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary
but retains control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative
amount is reattributed to NCI. When the Group disposes of only part
of an associate while retaining significant influence or joint control,
the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(aa) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal group comprising assets and
liabilities, are classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that
they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through
continuing use.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Any
impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and
then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro-rata basis, except
that no loss is allocated to deferred tax assets, employee benefits
assets, financial assets (other than investments in subsidiaries
and associates) and investment properties, which continue to be
measured in accordance with the Group'’s other accounting policies.
Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale or held for
distribution and subsequent gains and losses on remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated, and any
equity-accounted investee is no longer equity accounted.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(bb)Related parties

(a)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (bb)(a).

A person identified in (bb)(a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(cc) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical accounting judgements
in applying the Group’s accounting policies are described below.

(a) Valuation of investment properties
As described in Note 12, investment properties are stated at fair
value based on the valuation performed by an independent firm of
professional valuers.

In determining the fair value of investment properties, the valuers
have based on a method of valuation which involves, inter alia,
certain estimates including current market rents and market price for
similar properties in the same location, and condition, appropriate
discount rates and expected future market rents.

In relying on the valuation report, management has exercised their
judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Valuation of receivables from the third parties

As described in Notes 16 and 27(g), receivables from the third parties
are measured at FVPL and classified as level 3 financial instruments
in the fair value hierarchy.

In determining the fair value of receivables from the third parties, the
Group has based on valuation models which require a number of
inputs and assumptions which are not observable from market data
and are significant to the entire measurement. Management has
exercised their judgement and is satisfied that valuation models are
reflective of the features of receivables from the third parties. Given
the uncertainties in determining the inputs used in the valuation
models, the estimated fair value may change at the end of each
reporting period. Any increase or decrease in estimates would affect
income statement in the future years.

Impairment of non-current assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets, interest in associates and goodwill
may not be recoverable, the assets may be considered impaired
and are tested for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised
when the asset’s recoverable amount has declined below its carrying
amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In determining the recoverable amount
which requires significant judgements, the Group estimates the
future cash flows to be derived from continuing use and ultimate
disposal of the asset and applies an appropriate discount rate to
these future cash flows.

Provision for PRC LAT

As explained in Note 8(a), the Group has estimated, made and
included in tax provision for PRC LAT according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual
PRC LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by the tax
authorities upon completion of the property development projects
and the tax authorities might disagree with the basis on which the
provision for PRC LAT is calculated. Significant judgment is required
in determining the level of provision, as the calculation of which
depends on the ultimate tax determination. Given the uncertainties
of the calculation basis of PRC LAT as interpreted by the local tax
bureau, the actual outcomes may be higher or lower than those
estimated at the end of the reporting period. Any increase or
decrease in the actual outcomes/estimates will impact the income
tax provision in the period in which such determination is made.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
(e) Deferred tax liabilities

The Group has leased out certain of the completed properties to
third parties whereby the directors consider that such arrangement is
not temporary. In the circumstance, the Group has decided to treat
those properties as investment properties because it is the Group’s
intention to hold these properties in long-term for rental income
and/or capital appreciation.

Under HKAS 12, deferred tax is required to be measured with
reference to the tax consequences that would follow the manner in
which the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of the assets
in question. In this regard, HKAS 12 has a rebuttable presumption
that the carrying amount of investment property carried at fair value
under HKAS 40, Investment property, will be recovered through sale.
This presumption is rebutted on a property-by-property basis if the
investment property in question is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

In this connection, the Group has reviewed its investment property
portfolio on a regular basis and has concluded that as at 31
December 2024, the Group has determined that each of these
properties are held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time and consequently the presumption
in HKAS 12 is rebutted for these properties. As a result, the Group
has continued to measure the deferred tax relating to these
other properties using the tax rate that would apply as a result of
recovering their value through use.



mEMBRRMEE
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B BB A

LAETTEIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3 BErHERMGE @

(f)

(9)

BRELEHRREE

BB AEERBSHRS EMK
BEERMHOBE  RIFEHERK
FEEEREEN S A ERNRE -
ETETERREERAER BH
ERBAMENBSREERBA
SELZERFNBRR FEESRT
EEANRENHE - ZEBRREH
BTV 2 B KR 8 T HERE
JERIRE EREE - 172 RK
FREFM -

BEEFEEERLHNRE

o0 B 5E 2(0) PR - AR SR BOR R AF
FMEL ERMERGFES =TT
ES DN SUNE T el
REBRIE - REAKBIHAL
BRREBEMENLE AEEHRE
B EEMENRIRAREEZ
WIEAS S| BB AR B (AR ©

i & T X AN 48 0 280% 85 & BB A
A EMARFECEIYE
ARGHREVERGEEEMERE
HEE ZEREFTZERHE R
et - AR R & EE - BIZ
FYEMREERBERABMG
S AR AR IE T A -

8 7 AP B P 1 ) 3 T 55 R B K% {1
MEBRFIEEER KA R
ERAERTEERNRHENREH
RFfEEHE - BENEMAEREE
FERKRFENES -

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

195

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

(f)

(9)

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised and measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period. In determining the carrying amounts
of deferred tax assets, expected taxable profits are estimated
which involves a number of assumptions relating to the operating
environment of the Group and require a significant level of judgment
exercised by the directors. Any change in such assumptions and
judgment would affect the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets
to be recognised and hence the net profit in future years.

Determining the provision for diminution in value of
inventories

As explained in Note 2(0), the Group’s land held for future
development, properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s recent experience and the
nature of the subject property, the Group makes estimates of the
selling price, the costs of completion in case for properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling the properties.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in net sales
value, provision for completed properties held for sale, properties
held for future development and under development for sale may be
resulted. Such provision requires the use of judgment and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, the
carrying value and provision for properties in the periods in which
such estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.

Given the volatility of the property market in Chinese Mainland and
the distinctive nature of individual properties, the actual outcomes in
terms of costs and revenue may be higher or lower than estimated
at the end of the reporting period. Any increase or decrease in the
provision would affect profit or loss in future years.
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4 WARDBHEE 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(a) WA (a) Revenue
WAEEHEERA -HaBA - Revenue represents income from sale of properties, rental income,
FANEREMEEERBEARSH income from provision of property management and related services
We A DA R B 42 4 20 & 4B 78 AR 75 B R and income from provision of education related services earned
R A (EFNBRIEER R LA Y during the year, net of value added tax and other sales related taxes
EREREATOIM) - and discounts allowed.
FHAASEETEXBNE —FFE Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed
HEERHIFE4(0) ° in Note 4(b).
(i) WADH (i) Disaggregation of revenue
HEFITHNBRAREETEE Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
m R R DA major products or service lines is as follows:

EBPEMEERE159%  Revenue from contracts with

HERNWEEFITH customers within the scope of
HI A HKFRS 15
—MEEE — Sales of properties 806,752 405,477
—EEEREBREUWA  ~ Property management and related
services income 293,294 287,352
—H B RBARBBA — Education related services income 46,102 44,245
1,146,148 737,074
H i RIRAUA Revenue from other sources
REREMFENHEERE Gross rentals from investment
properties
— [E 7E S BUR B T & — Lease payments that are fixed or
HERR depend on a rate 212,174 204,844
—TEURAIEBFEE - Variable lease payments that do not
AIEHEENR depend on an index or a rate 10,963 12,401
____________________________________________________________________________ _2_2_3_,13_7 217,245
1,369,285 954,319
EoHBRIEMETSE S EE Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
FaRIHHBA D5 R ER divisions and by geographic markets are disclosed in Notes 4(b)
B 2 4(b) (i) K 4(b)iii) ° (i) and 4(b)(iii) respectively.
rEEz2RFHBZTL I The Group's customer base is diversified and no individual
EERNEFPHNZSEBBAE customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the
BRAHtOIZ—(ZE== Group's revenue (2023: Nil).

FiE) -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S BERBEIN - LETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4 WARDEHHRE @
(a) WA (&)

(i) FHRARBIRKE B LR
BEREFEFITHNBA

RZEZWOFEF+ZA=+—
H A5$ERBAEHHBHE
421,520,000 Tt (ZE ==
£ : 605,077,000/ 7T) FEHI R
BERAFBEALEELRHE
PN B BTN AT R G R
BBRA - ZeEBEEDEHEE
AHMFEED  Fit - A%
EEFFERNEARENZ (R
Bt EE2000)) ° AR E KR A%
A T2 TR HERIBHAUA -
IRTFERRTUWERGED
RTY¥MmE  ZWEERE
REKRI2EAZE36MHEA NS
i T % = R RERR TR E LA o

REBEREMEERE KA
AR 7% LA X 20 B 8 B8 AR 7% & A
BEEMBREEREISHE
121 BRI 1THEE 5% -
Hitr Pl ERTEEAEE
ERITHETIE KRG A
k#BERBRBEE L (REH
HRAE—FREE) BTINHT
BAEER KB EIEHA

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)
(ii) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising

from contracts with customers in existence at the
reporting date

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregated amount of
$421,520,000 (2023: $605,077,000) under the Group's
existing contracts expected to be recognised as revenue in the
future upon delivery of properties to customers in Chinese
Mainland or upon the completion of legal assignment in
Hong Kong. This amount includes the interest component
of properties sales contracts under which the Group obtains
significant financing benefits from the customers (see Note
2(x)(i)). The Group will recognise the expected revenue in
future when or as the work is completed or, in the case of
the properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale, when the properties are assigned to the
customers, which is expected to occur over the next 12 months
to 36 months.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121(a) of HKFRS 15 to its property management and related
services and education related services such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts for property
management and related services and education related
services that had an original expected duration of one year of
less.
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(B S ERBIN - LUETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4 WARDEHRSE @)
(b) 2EEHwE
AEBBBEAMBALBE RN (ER
MR RHEB DD EERLE
B AEERREANAERRES
BEAREBABREANERES
RREFHHONBERNTR 2
Bl LA T PO SR 45 5 26 o B E AR 5
HAHHEUBR TIREDE

- MEBR:ZOMBRABEARE
EERBEDE -

- DERE:ZoWBELAR
5 8 RBEACBREE
R & WAL R RENY
EHETER REBEBRFH
BREMEEGZFURHEA
WhEE -

- DEEERMEBERE &9 H
TERAREENBEEREE
ERTEMENERLEFLE
HMEEERBERE AR
REBRAREEERS

- HERERY: ZAREER
BERMUABSHERE RER °

() 2%EE BERERE
A EDBRARSEDARERE
REEMS  AEENSEST
BRERABRATEEERE
BEDHEENEE BENR
BfE:

DHMEEBRENBLEE
BREE FRBDEENRD
BE HERBEQARMERS
TEREREE=FMNEKKIEA
MEMEERERE FAMNHE -
BRERBEEREMBOREE
RO DB BEREEMN D E
MEERBRENE S MEAM
e RIBREER EA RS AR
BREEMRITREMES -

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines (products and services)
and geography. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the following
four reportable segments. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segment:

(@

Property development: this segment develops and sells
residential and commercial properties.

Property investment: this segment leases shopping arcades,
club houses, serviced apartments and car park units to
generate rental income and to gain from the appreciation in
the properties’ values in the long term. Currently, the Group's
investment property portfolio is located entirely in Chinese
Mainland and Hong Kong.

Property management and related services: this segment
mainly provides property management and related services
to purchasers and tenants of the Group’s self-developed
residential and retail properties and decoration services to
group companies.

Education related services: this segment mainly provides
education related services and products to students.

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources among segments, the Group's senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets, non-
current and current assets with the exception of interests in
associates, other financial assets other than receivables from
the third parties, prepaid tax, deferred tax assets and other
corporate assets. Segment liabilities include trade and other
payables and lease liabilities attributable to the operating
activities of the individual segments and bank and other
borrowings managed directly by the segments.
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4 WARDE®RE @)
(b) DEHE (&)

(i)

IHWEE BEEREEGE)

WARRXIBREZE D BEL
E’JH&)\&E%%“*%EEE’J%SE
DEEREDE °

WESHBMATAMNGER
5B T4 FA 2 EBITDA | - BD 40
BRAE - BIE - TEREHEA
KRR  -EHELAE
EBITDAR - AKX B AT &5t
I 45 1 Bk I 4 AR R B A (A
Al ERIIE B (40 5 1h B &
AR AFBERE - Hal AR
W FEAREEMENGHE
g B &EMEKRIER
BEEERR  CREEBE) UK
Hih @ sk ¥R Y) (EE—

BE_Z_NFR-_FT_=%
TZA=1t—BLEFE R&H
FTAEERSETRERASR

ABETTEIRD B R0 &
REMEEPITHRRAD I -
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(@

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to revenues generated by those segments and
the expenses incurred by those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA" i.e. "adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA,
the Group’s earnings are further adjusted for items which
are non-recurring or not specifically attributed to individual
segments, such as share of profits less losses of associates,
other revenue and net income and valuation change on
investment properties, reversal of impairment loss/(impairment
loss) on trade and other receivables and other head office or
corporate expenses.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers,
revenue from other sources as well as information regarding
the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group's
most senior executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance

E’rﬁz?ﬁﬁﬁ’]”&)\&ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ = for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is set out
HMEDHHEREN T - below.
NEEER )
hE8R hERE BB EBHE
Property management and Education
Property development  Property invest related services related services Total
CECRE CRCF CECRmE “BCRE CFC-F CRCME CRCCE CBOpE -
204 03 204 204 03 204 03 04
i n n i n 1 n 1
§/000 §1000 §/000 §1000 §/000 §1000 §/000 §/000
REASZEHUA Revenue from extemal customers 806752 405477 I3 2745 B4 732 460 445 1369285 954319
SHBIA Inferseqment revence = S RN B 410 - -S4 B3
REABUA Reportable segment revenue 806752 405477 250407 269446 302499 333469 46100 44245 1425760 1,052,637
BEAB(EB)/BA Reportable segment loss)profit
(BZEBITDA) (adjusted EBITDA) (592819)  (537731) 138020 112289 (3197) (5219 1855 479 (468440)  (455,926)
HEADEE Reportable segment assets TS84 8977400 8167899 10081675  AIL700 363283 79751 158877 16306584 1958123
RENHER Reportable segment iabilities 8334989 9394558 254694 15809 353930 401,780 61,839 4019 9005452 10,0245
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4 WARDE®RE @)
(b) 7 ERHRE (&)

(i) REDSBRA -BH EER

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or

EENHEER loss, assets and liabilities
—E_MF
2024
Fix
$'000
N Revenue
HwE D EWA Reportable segment revenue 1,425,760 1,052,637
BRI A EH Elimination of inter-segment revenue (56,475) (98,318)
FEa A (M) Consolidated revenue (Note 4(a)) 1,369,285 954,319
BB Loss
RKEREEINAZTFH Reportable segment loss derived from
WED RSB Group's external customers (468,440) (455,926)
FEAG B & R RIS 1B Share of losses of associates (4,149) (57,615)
Hip e AR FE1E Other revenue and net loss (73.503) 119,100
H 5 & H At e U R IERE Reversal of impairment loss/
EiER e CREEE) (impairment loss) on trade and
other receivables 2,066 (85,225)
& R 8 Depreciation and amortisation (19,297) (19,503)
A& B Finance costs (303,166) (319,999)
BEYENGEE(BIE),/  Valuation (losses)/gains on investment
e properties (1,195,925) 14,376
RAOBBIRPERT Unallocated head office and
corporate expenses (84,442) (31,685)
B RIAR G B Consolidated loss before taxation (2,146,856) (836,477)
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4 WAR

7 EEE @

(b) &S (45)

(i)
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

WEDPWA -ERE BEER (i) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or
EENYERE) loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)
—E-MF
2024
Fx
$'000
EE Assets
WEDHEE Reportable segment assets 16,306,584 19,581,235
RN L O 7 Interests in associates 3,320 158,358
BREBRIEANEE Financial assets measured at FVPL
ARG ENEREE 64,401 67,231
AR Prepaid tax 2,235 2,141
BEEFIBEE Deferred tax assets 125,054 112,663
AOBBE RPEEE Unallocated head office and
corporate assets 115,075 119,239
REBEE Consolidated total assets 16,616,669 20,040,867
=L Liabilities
WEDHEE Reportable segment liabilities 9,005,452 10,002,455
FERTEEIR Tax payable 189,537 206,733
FEERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 1,030,268 1,318,384
AOBBERPEEE Unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities 366,568 390,133
=N N=R Consolidated total liabilities 10,591,825 11,917,705
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4 WARDE®RE @) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) 2 EE/E (&)

(i) WEEHR
TREHEBOAEERA I
REPHUA K (i) A< & B o &
BVEE BE RBEQF
R R M B U S =75 3R (T4
EXRBEE] MIBEUEE
B BPHMIRMLE HIRER
HERBAXNEMNMLE - 15
EIEMBEENMIZALE IR
BEEERME (HWAKEY
ERME - BENERE) K2
AR HMAEBRVEE BER
ERE=TTREB) LBEmE
(s B E R B ER) 0B

e

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(iii) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external
customers and (i) the Group’s investment properties, property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill, interests in
associates and receivables from the third parties (“specified
non-current assets”). The geographical location of customers
is based on the location at which the services were provided
or the goods delivered. The geographical location of the
specified non-current assets is based on the physical location
of the asset, in the case of investment properties and property,
plant and equipment, the location of the operation to which
they are allocated, in the case of intangible assets, goodwill
and receivables from the third parties, and the location of
operations, in the case of interests in associates.

RE R Chinese Mainland
£ Hong Kong
Hity Others

RENREFHBA EEXRDEE
Revenue from external customers Specified non-current assets

—E-m&E —E-=F —E-NE —E-=F
2024 2023 2024 2023
Tr T Tr T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
773,103 655,500 7,569,985 9,120,621
596,182 298,819 47,260 779,161
- - 133 196

1,369,285 954,319 7,617,378 9,899,978
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5 OTHER REVENUE

IRITH BUA Bank interest income 37,835 50,671
E A F B A Other interest income 37,002 50,721
RBHKNATESREERN Interest income on financial assets
FEWA measured at amortised cost 74,837 101,392
FHEARRABIRBEEA Service income for car parks and
apartments 15,525 28,974
AT 8 B (B3 G)) Government grants (Note (i) 1,044 10,122
Hh Others 8,236 18,307
99,642 158,795
B3 Note:
0 BE-—T-mER-—E-——&f—f=+— (i) Government grants for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023

BUEFENBRNHEBESERFSBIIETH

AR S 22E -

H 5518 F 58

BBERRAABEARTERN

6 OTHER NET LOSS

Fair value loss on financial assets

represented unconditional cash awards granted by government authorities.

eMEEZANBEEER measured at FVPL (8,370) (102,082)
N BEFR Net exchange loss (2,974) (17,369)
AR AR M B BB T Additional compensation income received

LT B & BB SR B U A from Hong Kong’s government for

land parcels in Yuen Long - 81,981
HEBE NN EETFE Net loss on disposal of associates (107,224) -
HEYE - BERZEZEEFEE Netloss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment (9,625) (1,668)
HEREMEZBEFE Net loss on disposal of investment

properties (46,532) -
HE—MEEB AR Z W FHE Net gain on disposal of a subsidiary = 12,964
Hth Others 1,580 (13,521)

(173,145) (39,695)
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7 BRBAIE R

BRIATEIE R HRIA T B R/IEZIIK :

7 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

(a) RAE AL A (a) Finance costs
RITEFRREMEE Interest on bank loans and other
B borrowings 452,833 470,391
HEBGEF R Interest on lease liabilities 2,343 2,281
FEA IEFE AR A 2R SR IE Y Interest on amounts due to non-
B controlling interests 3,331 3,671
HEMEERA Other borrowing costs 22,576 15,785
20(c) 481,083 492,128
AHEEERREIDA  Accrued interest on significant
FEETFLE financing component of contract
liabilities 3,348 2,371
484,431 494,499
W BEAMER9EEE (MI5E)  Less: Amount capitalised (Note) (181,265) (174,500)
303,166 319,999

M EEXNABRIENT33%E9.0% (ZT==
F:07%ZE11.0%) WEFERERE -

Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalised at rates ranging from 3.3% to 9.0%
(2023: 0.7% to 11.0%) per annum.
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7 BRTAIEE @ 7 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

(b) EI A (b) Staff costs
e ITEMEMFIZE Salaries, wages and other benefits 187,301 208,283
) & BB FUR IRET B K Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans 9,576 10,284
196,877 218,567
—E_IE
pLip2:t
T
$'000
(c) HfEE (c) Other items
8 K i Depreciation and amortisation
—Ff - HEREMETEE — furniture, fixtures and other fixed
assets 7,681 6,214
—EAEEE — right-of-use assets 11,616 13,289
19,297 19,503
BEEWMEMAR Cost of properties sold 1,175,745 919,566
REMENHES KA Rental income from investment
(FI5E4(a)) properties (Note 4(a)) 223,137 217,245
W B Less: Direct outgoings (14,301) (15,872)
208,836 201,373
1% ELEN BN & Auditors’ remuneration
—BZRE — audit services 4,800 4,950
—H A AR — other services 1,675 1,639
6,475 6,589
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8 FEH 8 INCOME TAX
(@) (Ek) GTAREEEROMEH (@) Income tax (credited)/charged to consolidated statement of profit or
& loss represents:

BN EA%E 18 Current tax
EMEH (TLEREH]) Corporate Income Tax (“CIT")
—AREERE — Provision for the year 6,022 14,416
—h B FE — PRC Withholding Tax 6,863 -
—BAFEREBETE — Under-provision in respect of

prior years 552 62

13,437 14,478

b ERR ([ L IEEB ) BB Provision for Land Appreciation Tax

("LAT") 2,228 3,045

. -

ELEBLR Deferred tax
TS EEMEE RED Origination and reversal of

temporary differences (265,902) 46,330

(250,237) 63,853
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(a)

8 FIs®H »

(%)

BEEBRAES ((RBELEE])
EREMSHRAUNRN - NEH
BAGMNEBRAHERHAENS
EER PSR

ZE_MEMNEENCHBBIRT
NEEFERTAFA165% (ZF
T =F :165%)FTHE  EAREE—
RHB A RIBRIN - XA R = WARF
BB EHETHEER QA < ¥
REXRKBARA - B2,000000%
TLERR BN IEZ825% HF - Hik
JERTR AT EE16.5% ° &R M
BRARIZEAFSHEBERE_ZT
Z=FHRRMTRETHE -

CEMBHRBENEAEERFTH
A S B R R A AT ERR R & R
MHEERCEMSHBERTE
MizSEMETRBEFBEB@AASEH
RARBAPEE HE_FT_MF
T+ A=t HALFERNERLE
FIEMBEAR25% (ZE-=4:
25%) °

AEFERPEAMBEEERMEREN
MEREMBFAENRENERE L
I3 (B 18 E LA 30% = 60% H) 2 E T
TG IR ER - MREEBR
Bl LHIBER IR B EMERS
SRIERL AT 0L B S (B 48 Lt {5 PR 4
HESH BEEXARABAER
MEBERAL)GE -

TR E £ B W B A A S O B
BARRMEEBZERARTHI5%
BB o

8
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INCOME TAX
(a) (Continued)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin Islands
("BVI") and the Cayman Islands, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the BVI and the Cayman Islands.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 is calculated at
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime. For this
subsidiary, the first $2 million of assessable profits are taxed at
8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. The
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this subsidiary was calculated
at the same basis in 2023.

The provision for CIT is based on the respective applicable CIT rates
on the estimated assessable profits of the subsidiaries in Chinese
Mainland within the Group as determined in accordance with the
relevant income tax rules and regulations of the PRC. The applicable
CIT rate was 25% for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
25%).

LAT is levied on properties developed and investment properties
held by the Group in Chinese Mainland for sale, at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, which
under the applicable regulations is calculated based on the proceeds
of sale of properties less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use right, borrowing costs and all qualified property
development expenditures.

The withholding tax arose from the 5% of dividend paid from
subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland to its holding company
in Hong Kong.
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8 mMEHRwW 8

(b) Fr18 %R(Tfﬁﬁ)/ﬁﬂiiéﬁ%&ﬂﬁﬁmi
FERMSRTBEYRNT

INCOME TAX (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/expense and accounting
loss at applicable tax rates:

(c)

R 25 Al 5 18 Loss before taxation (2,146,856) (836,477)
BRI B IER B &R IE (ZBRMM  Notional tax on loss before taxation,
ALEREREAEADETE) calculated at the rates applicable
to the jurisdictions concerned (553,643) (157,192)
TR E Effect of non-deductible expenses 22,478 10,087
BERTBANTZE Effect of non-taxable income = (8,639)
BRBEFERERRIEEE Effect of prior years’ unrecognised
VR tax losses utilised (9,980) (19,585)
RERREEENZE Effect of tax losses not recognised 193,765 44,874
AERERHEEZENTE Effect of temporary differences not
recognised 88,057 193,738
TR B Provision for withholding Tax 6,863 -
TR ER LAT 2,228 678
THIREREENRELEHRIESZZE  Deferred tax effect on LAT provision (557) (170)
BAFERETRE Under-provision in respect of prior
years 552 62
EWAEH (ER) FX Actual income tax (credit)/expense (250,237) 63,853

A MBIR R BN IR

(c) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents:

FEASBLIE Prepaid tax:

EMSH cIT 864 737

T HbIE (BT LAT 1,371 1,404

2,235 2,141

BEABE : Tax payable:

EMEH T (150,053) (156,598)

TR Withholding tax (29,726) (36,072)

TR ER LAT (9,758) (14,063)
(189,537) (206,733)
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8 FBHw 8

(d) ERRBELEHRELEERAR
PR 6 B 5 AR % P B 2R A R FE B
BRE(AE) AREBD RFARN
ZEm

his

INCOME TAX (Continued)

(d)

bl
FENTE
it
Depreciation
allowances in
excess of
related
depreciation

T

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the year are as follows:

ABafN  THAER
AMEE B
A2 EREZR TR R

Fairvalue  Temporary

Impact of adjustment  differences Other
interest  Revaluation  on business onlAT  Unusedtax Distributable  temporary
capitalisation of properties combination  provision losses profits  differences
T T T T ] T T

Note

BUTEAELMELRA:  Deferred tax arising from:

§000

§/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 ! §/000 §/000

KZE-ZF-f-B At 1 January 2023 296,172 55,085 781,167 126,947 (3.946) 46,130) 15,144 (34028 1,190411
REERAR/GIA) Charged{credted) to proftorloss—~~~ 8f) 3588 238 8,15 (3017) I (27.900) 1073 9345 46330
HE-HNERA Disposalof a subsidiary - - (39 - - - - - (39
REBZERETNG Charged to other comprehensive income - - 230 - - - - - 234
kA Exchange adjustments (8,545) - (21982 (3,558) 107 118 (1.262) 735 (33383
RZEZZETZAZT-B At31December 2023 and

RZE-mF-A-B 1 January 2024 323,509 11428 769,646 120312 (3,393) (72,848) 14,955 (23948 1,205,721
RERPAR/ GIA) Chrged!(credited) toprofitorloss &) 289 4639 (286379) 3718) 21 (18191) (1,053) 3857 (26590
RERZENEAR Charged to other comprehensive income = = 2752 = = = = = 275
Exiz Exchange adjustments (11,50 - (23,075 (3956) 69 920 i 165 (37,357)
RZE-ME At 31 December 2024

T2A=+-H 304,831 82,067 462,944 112,698 (1,210) (90,119) 1393 (19,926) 905,214

FEVBRRARAD R Net deferred tax assets recognised
ERERIEE EFE in the consolidated statement of
financial position (125,054) (112,663)
FREMBKARAE ERD Net deferred tax liabilities recognised
EERIE B (EF 58 in the consolidated statement of
financial position 1,030,268 1,318,384

905,214 1,205,721
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(RS AHEHEIN

LAETTAIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

8 Fis#H &)
(e) RERELEHRIEBEEE :

()

WARR THIER BROBELERIEE
=3

8 INCOME TAX (Continued)

(e) Deferred tax assets not recognised:

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

—E-MF

2024

Fx

$'000
AHREREER Deductible temporary differences 2,679,449 2,313,610

KE)HEBIIAEEE Unused tax losses

— &% (FEEG) — Hong Kong (Note (i) 246,054 151,680
— R B A (B R i) — Chinese Mainland (Note (ii)) 1,583,277 1,167,628
4,508,780 3,632,918

FeE

() RERTBBER  ADBBBEE
R LD

(i) ARPABABRANERELEFEL
NEEEHER RS AFANRRD
BN RBAHBEBER_FT_RF
E-T-NFHREIE -

F 70 AJ BE I B 5 oK 2K AR AR &L R
AR 3 AT F0ORL L A 1 R R OR
BRANEBERATHA  WAKEY
RELE T M R B &Y AT R E B
ZERAPAHABBERBELTH
HEE -

AERELEBREEE
TEMBHRBEREERMAEE
AREAERCER - NF—
B — B FTE £ & F [ H A B E
ER e NGV R S EE - §
10% B9 TE 080 (BR JE B 16 40 =K 15 =%
SR MR ZZBEENF—AF—
BRIES & D IREF BIER B H
MZTBIOEL o B E AP B A R F S
MBI BLHERER@RN  FEF
B A D E25% KA EEFHEE
BREEMGEREBIEZHEAA]
AIZA5% MK THENRE - (R IE
HA 5 A AR B P 3 B B R B ) AR B
A 2 IN BB ERR A 7] 2K A% B
B S STEYFE 0% 13,923,000 78 7T
AEETEBREE THBE A E
NRAR=—BEENF—A—BEFME
B MT7,453,0008 T (ZEBE ==
£ : 111,035,000/ 7T) 1F & T 7
HEEREGE RRARAEE LT Z
EWB AT ERE  WRER
AR REK T EDIRZERF -

()

Notes:

(i) The unused tax losses do not expire under the current tax legislation.

(i) The unused tax losses can be carried forward to offset against taxable profits
of subsequent years for up to five years from the year in which they arose.
The unused tax losses expired between 2025 and 2029.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses of certain
subsidiaries as it is not probable that sufficient future taxable profits
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences
and unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised:

The Corporate Income Tax Law and its implementation rules
impose a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by a treaty or
agreement, for dividends, distributed by a Chinese Mainland resident
enterprise to its immediate holding company outside the Chinese
Mainland for profits generated beginning on 1 January 2008 and
undistributed profits generated prior to 1 January 2008 are exempt
from such withholding tax. According to the China-Hong Kong tax
arrangement and its relevant regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax
resident which is the “beneficial owner” and holds 25% or more of
a Chinese Mainland enterprise is entitled to a reduced withholding
tax rate of 5%. Except for $13,923,000 of withholding tax that
is expected to be paid when distributing the dividend from the
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland to its immediate holding company
outside Chinese Mainland, the Group did not provide for deferred
tax liabilities on profits generated by certain of its subsidiaries in
Chinese Mainland after 1 January 2008 amounting to $77,453,000
(2023: $111,035,000) since the Group controls the dividend policy
of these subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable
that these profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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9 EEME 9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
1R I1E F B A B K F) 2 383(N) 1§ M A A (3 Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong
BEENRERN ROIE28 - EFEME Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
WENT : Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
e EHR RIRETE
E=Hwe ENER R
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions
Fr Fr T
$'000 $'000 $'000
—EomE 2024
BITEE Executive directors
=EBE Wong Chun Hong - 1,508 - 1,508
H5BR Wong Sze Yuen - 672 18 690
MER Lam Mei Ka Shirley - 2,427 18 2,445
FHTES Non-executive directors
PR ok Kui Qiang = = = =
HEEX YIP Hoong Mun 300 = = 300
BUFHTES Independent non-executive
directors

BE#E (W-_F WM&  Chan So Kuen (appointed on

NA=ZTHEZT) 30 September 2024) 72 = = 72
BHM(R-ZF=MNF  Cheng Yuk Wo (resigned on

NA=ZTHET) 30 September 2024) 228 = = 228
Mz Wu Si Zong 300 = = 300
PR % Chan Yee Herman 300 = = 300

1,200 4,607 36 5,843
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9 BEEME®

9 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

BIRETE
EVREA %
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors'’ benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions
T T Tt
$'000 $'000 $'000
—E-=HF 2023
BITEE Executive directors
=5EE Wong Chun Hong - 2,925 - 2,925
=R Wong Sze Yuen - 1,248 18 1,266
MER Lam Mei Ka Shirley - 2,998 18 3,016
FHITEE Non-executive directors
B2 Kui Qiang - - - -
EBEX YIP Hoong Mun 304 - - 304
BUFHTES Independent non-executive
directors
e Cheng Yuk Wo 304 - - 304
RIWR Wu Si Zong 304 - - 304
R Chan Yee Herman 304 - - 304
1,216 7,171 36 8,423
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10 REFHFMA L 10 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
hEmEEFMNALTED MEBE(ZZE== Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2023: two) are
FMEB) EENHFHHEBEAMFE - K directors whose emoluments are disclosed in Note 9. The aggregate of
ERATEVET BRI T - the emoluments in respect of the remaining individuals are as follows:

e EMREMEF Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,299 6,204
RIRET B K Retirement scheme contributions 18 18
5,317 6,222

FiismEHMA TFRAR T ¢ The emoluments of the above individuals with the highest emoluments

are within the following bands:

—E-MEF

2024

A
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
1,000,001 7t — 1,500,000 7T $1,000,001 - $1,500,000 1 -
1,500,001 7t —2,000,000 7T $1,500,001 — $2,000,000 1 1
2,000,001 7t —2,500,000 7T $2,000,001 - $2,500,000 1 1
1

2,500,001 7t —3,000,000 7T $2,500,001 - $3,000,000 =
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11 BREE

(a) BREXEIE
BREXNBEERAR A ERBRERE R
KATBMBEFEHFFEAEGER
1,832,632,0008 L (ZE = =% :
876,893,000/ 7T) X FNE #17H
3 b9 A% €81,529,286,000 f% (=
T~ =4 :1,529,286,000 %) 5t &
R

11 LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to equity shareholders and the holder of PCSs of
the Company of $1,832,632,000 (2023: $876,893,000) and the
weighted average number of 1,529,286,000 (2023: 1,529,286,000)
shares in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

EFIIRE Weighted average number of
shares

BETERRK Issued ordinary shares 1,412,733 1,412,733
BITAR (S —EEBRKA Effect of bonus issue of shares (with

AHMRES) T E PCSs as an alternative) 116,553 116,553
R+ A=+—B8meE Weighted average number of shares

T BB at 31 December 1,529,286 1,529,286

(b) BREBEEE (b) Diluted loss per share

REE_ZT_NFR_FT=_=
T-AZ=+—HLEEE WERT
TN BEEELBR - Bt
REERFNEGREARFER -

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. Accordingly, the
diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per share.
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N KREYELRYWE -BEN 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
B PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

RAELHR
REERET HipEEf BB RER
fiet 4 BRNNE HfpEEEE
Ownership
interests in Furniture,
leasehold land fixtures
and buildings held  Other properties and other Investment
for own use  leased for own use fixed assets Sub-total properties
T Tr Tr Tr I
$'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000
AAGMEE: Cost or valuation:
RZZ-mE-A-H At1 January 2024 121812 67,991 115419 311,282 8,105,892 8417174
EXAE Bxchange adjustments (1,554) (1312) (3,766) (6,632) (236,742) (243374)
E Additions 87 8,300 8,407 16,79 - 16,794
ENE BERZEEAE  Transfer from property, plant and equipment
CYE to investment properties (28833) = - (28833) 30277 1,444
BETHEABELENE  Transter to investment properties clasified as
Bz held for sele - - - - (250,000) (250,000)
il Disposals 37113) (15,919) (4,028) (43,720) (75,108) (118,828)
MEES Changein fai value - - - - (1,195,925) (1,195,925)
RoFomE At31 December 2024
t2F=1t-A 73,719 59,060 116,032 248,891 6,378,394 6,627,285
i Representing:
A Cost 73,79 59,060 116,032 248,891 - 248,891
e Valuation - - - - 6,378,394 6,378,394
73,719 59,060 116,032 248,891 6,378,394 6,627,285
ZHEURAE: Accumulated amortisation and
depreciation:
RZB-RE-A-A At 1 January 2024 (35,736) (38,901) (98,519) (173,156) - (173,156)
ERA% Bxchange adjustments 1,99 615 3,104 517 - 5117
Epzih Charge for the year (2.730) (8,880) (7.681) (19,297) - (19.297)
ENE BERZEEAZ  Transfer from property, plant and equipment
TENE 1o investment properties 9,563 - - 9,563 - 9,563
HERER Written back on disposals 8918 15919 862 25,699 - 25,699
RoFomE At 31 December 2024
. fcAEeemoooo (1793 (31.247) (102,234) (151,474) - (151474)
RERE: Net book value:
ek At 31 December 2024
t-F=1t-A 55,806 27813 13,198 97417 6,378,394 6,475,811
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12 REMWERYWHE - BFER 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
Bt ) PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Ownership
interests in Furniture,
leasehold land fivtures
andbuildingsheld ~ Other properties and other Investment
forownuse  leased for own use fived assets Sub-total properties
T T T T
§/000 §000 §1000 §/000
AAG{EE: Cost or valuation;
RZBZ=%5-A-A At 1 January 2023 150,193 99,728 115,906 365,827 8297230 8,663,057
ERHE Bxchange adjustments (4129 (1,29) (296) 8.387) (224,455) (23284)
HE Addtions - %7 3,059 4,046 - 406
E0E BERAEEAE  Transfer from property, plant and equipment
TEnE 1o investment properties (18,19) - - (18,196) 3,12 4926
ik Disposals - (31,428 (580) (32,008) (4,381) (36,389)
MrEER Change in fair value - - - - 14376 14376
St At31 December 2023
+ZA=1-H 12181 67,991 115419 311,282 8,105,892 8417174
f: Representing;
A Cost 12181 67,991 115419 311,28 - 31,28
[5E Valuation - - - - 8,105,892 8,105,892
12181 67,991 115419 311,282 8,105,892 8417174
ZHEHRAE: Accumulated amortisation and
depreciation:
RZEZ=%-A-A At 1 January 2023 (37,531) (58,860) (96,042) (192,439) - (192,439)
ERA% Eichange adjustments 912 469 300 4,601 - 4,601
Epzih Charge for the year (3.550) (9,739 (6,214) (19,503) - (19,503)
g% BERAEEAZ  Transfer from property, pant and equipment
RENx 10 investment properties 4439 - - 4439 - 4439
HEREE Witten back on disposals - 2929 517 29,746 - 29,746
RIBIZF At31 December 2023
B _%;E_:__Jr_*_? ___________________________________ (35,736) (38901) (98,519 (173,156) - (173,156)
RERE: Net book value:
i At 31 December 2023
+ZAZ1-H 9,136 29,09 16,900 138,126 8105892 8,244,018
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N BRENERNWE BER
== )
(a) BREVERDBABELER
EMENAAEBETE
() AREEZR
TH2NAEBREVERS
FEARKELERBMERRE
HR IR S RS B A R
BE - WIRBEEM RS %
BIE13RALBEFENTE
PAZELARBEZR - HE
AR BEHEOBINTI2BE
{875 52 168 7R B 8 A B 49 T
EREAESUETHT -

- F-RMHEE:EERFE—
RBARBFTENRARE
B BNt E R HERR
mZHEREERBER

- F_RHEE-FAE-RK
BABBTENAAE
(ERN NS 30}
BERGABEBERAERA
TAI RN EZH A
& o THERH ABEE
ERIBMHER K E A
&

- F=RMEE:EZATAE
ENEERHABEIEN
NAfEE

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale

(@

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties and investment properties classified as
held for sale measured at the end of the reporting period on
a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are
not available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs
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N KREYELRYWE -BEN 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,

B8 IC)) PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
() REVERDPERFTHEHER (a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
EYENAAEBENE (B and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)
(i) A2REEZHK(E) (i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

R-E-MF R-EB-ME+-A=1+—-A

+=A=+-8
BOAEE

Fair value at

31 December
2024

Tr

$'000

AREEHESER
Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2024 categorised into
£ ot E=H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Tr Tr Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000

HERLLEETE

Recurring fair value measurement

BENE-TENL

Investment properties — Chinese

Mainland 6,378,394 - - 6,378,394
DEEFBEHERE  Investment properties classified as
NE-FE held for sale - Hong Kong 250,000 - - 250,000

i
tZA=t-
E'] g

Fair value at

31 December
2023
T

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2023 categorised into
EF—H E-H F=&
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

T T T

BEMALERHE

Recurring fair value measurement

BREME-FERME  Investment properties — Chinese
Mainland

Investment properties — Hong Kong

RENE-BR

$'000

1,179,892
326,000

$'000 $'000 $'000

1,779,892
326,000
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N ERBREVERYE BEK
B

(a) gﬁ%%&m SRARFEHER

(@

(i)

MENQREEFE ()

$§‘%ﬁﬁﬁ&§#@¥&ﬁ{’ﬁﬁ

A=+— E%Eﬁ%ﬁ HE
TERBLAEMITRAEE
AERERERARET  Z
BIEMITHE TZh ARSI
EMEgg s HAHBHNGHE
L EEAGEERENER
RE—HEAMER R E -
EBEEMEEEET AEBE
BERERE B HETHER
MEBERE R EESEREZA
Egmi&ﬂ'u?uﬂﬁ °

ERE=RDIAEBETENEN
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12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2023: Nil).

All of the Group’s investment properties and investment
properties held for sale were revalued as at 31 December
2024. The valuations were carried out by an independent firm
of surveyors, APAC Appraisal and Consulting Limited, who
have among their staff Members of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors with recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued, on a market value basis.
Management of the Group has discussion with the surveyors
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed at each reporting date.

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

fER% TUERRAYE B il £3=E
Valuation techniques Unobservable input Weighted average

Investment properties Commercial  Income capitalisation method Expected market rental (RMB/ RMB38 to RMB207 RMB107 (2023: RMB109)
- Chinese Mainland WAEK R sg.m./month) (2023: RMB44 10 RMB375) ARE1077

REWE-EHAR-RERY BEmAES (ARETL/ AREBREAREWIT  (ZECZE:ARK1097)

¥rr/R) (Z2_=%:
AREUTEARETST)
Capitalisation rate 4.43% 10 6.70% 5.96% (2023:5.76%)
B % (2023:3.50% t0 7.50%) 596% (ZE==F :576%)
443%%6.70%
(ZZZZF:350%%7.50%)

Investment properties Carpark - Direct comparison method Average market price RMB50,000 to RMB140,000 (2023: RMB111,893
Chinese Mainland BEREE (RMB/unit) RVIB30,000 to RMB135,000) (2023: RMB112,833)

RENZ-FE5-PEMM THTE AR50,000722 AR % 140,000 ARE 118937

(AR, &lr) T (Z3z=%:
(Z22=%F: ARH8000TE AREN28337)
AR 135,0007C)

Investment properties classified Direct comparison method Average market price HKD25,000 HKD25,000
asheld for sale Commercial -~ ER & (HKD/sq.ft.) (2023: HKD52,734) (2023: HKD52,734)
Hong Kong (2023: Investment TAmE(EL/FAR) 5,000 0008
properties Commercial - (ZZ=ZF:5)734%7) (ZZZZ5:5734%7)
Hong Kong)

’ﬁﬁ¥¢ﬁ§m}§%%

-BRAE-FE(E-
£ RENE- ﬁﬁﬁ@-
&%)

Investment properties Storey Direct comparison method Average market price RMB59,220 RMB59,220
commercial apartment EELHE (RMBSsq.m.) (2023: RMB65,630) (2023: RMBE5,630)
building - Chinese Mainland THHE (AREL/Thk) ARB59207 AEH59.2207T

RENZ-SERBLEAR-
HEM

(ZBZ=F: A\RBes630m)  (ZEZ=F: ARE656307)
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NRERENERNE BEK

B

() REMERSBERFHEHER

BEMENAAEETE®

(i) AEE=RAAEEFEHEN
(%)
BREMEUNPEALREL
AR EBETIERRAEARL
FRERLBRZEBKES K
AFBR (BMBEMEESEA
BN BN RIEBFTK
EBREESZALBRYENED
HEE KEZSOHHEER
BEAKBEMEREN G BRI
EMEE - ZHEZEINME
MIRET TS - RERNE
AERERBTFOERRIBE
UERBFPEREHFE - AR
EBEFEEGHATSES LT
VTS EEEMRR MEER
(ES=FiE] -

ﬁAilﬁ EZ—%%:ﬁ& nEE

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(i)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(Continued)

The fair value of investment properties located in Chinese
Mainland and Hong Kong is determined using income
capitalisation method or direct comparison method by
capitalising the net rental income allowing for the reversionary
income potential of the properties, or by reference to recent
sales price of comparable properties on a price per square
meter basis, adjusted for a premium or a discount specific to
the quality of the Group’s properties compared to the recent
sales. The valuation takes into account expected market rental
of the properties. The capitalisation rates used have been
adjusted for the quality and location of the buildings and
the tenant quality. The fair value measurement is positively
correlated to the expected market rental and average market
price, and negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate.

The movements during the year in the balances of these Level
3 fair value measurements are as follows:

KEYZE Investment properties
n—HA—H At 1 January 8,105,892 8,297,230
BREAYE WELEE Transfer from property, plant and
equipment 30,277 23,122

EREDBERIFELHED Transfer to investment properties

LAY classified as held for sale (250,000) -
& Disposals (75,108) (4,381)
RERERNEE Valuation (losses)/gains recognised in

(&18) /W profit or loss (1,195,925) 14,376
PE i A Exchange adjustments (236,742) (224,455)
R+=-—A=+—H At 31 December 6,378,394 8,105,892
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N EREVERYVE BER
B8 1E))

() REMER DI BERFEHER
BYMENDAEBENE @R

ERE=HAREEENER
(#8)

(ii)

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(Continued)

DERBIFIFL EREYE

Investment properties classified as

held for sale
w—HA—H At 1 January - 20,679
BERAREME Transfer from investment properties 250,000 -
HeE Disposals = (20,212)
& H Exchange adjustments - (467)
W+=—A=+—H At 31 December 250,000 -

BREWMEN DA BEABRE
AEEXRENREDENG
B (E18) 25| BB R ER -

BE_ZT_NF+_A=+—
BIEFE RAEDE BER
BREEBRERENERRNFER
MEMEAREERHAAE
B U % 411,007,000 7 7T (=
T~ =4 :9,365,000/&7T) °

RZE—_WmF+_A=+—
H 2EARBELENEKEY
%%ﬁ#?%%ﬁ%%% ¥iN

SEEEFR T _MNF+—
H——'—_:EEET_LTZ%N J//(thii

250,000,000/ T EZE Y
¥ -ZBERGEHPR-_ZT_-H
FE5ERK o

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised
in the line item “valuation (losses)/gains on investment
properties” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a fair value gain
of $11,007,000 (2023: $9,365,000) upon the transfer from
property, plant and equipment to investment properties had
been recognised in other comprehensive income for the year.

As at 31 December 2024, the investment properties classified
as held for sale represented commercial properties located in
Hong Kong. The Group and the purchaser entered into an
agreement on 25 November 2024 with a consideration of
$250,000,000 to dispose the properties. The transaction is
expected to be completed in 2025.
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NEREVERYE -
B8 IC))

(b) EREEE

RZB-_MOF+-_A=+—0" &
MREE D ENERAEEENERT

FESHWAT

R B EE L&
FIFEREBTHOMARE
st (RITERATIR)
e TNEES - (HEEG3)

B = &

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets

As at 31 December 2024, the analysis of the net book value of right-
of-use assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:

Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings held for own use, carried at
depreciated cost in Chinese Mainland,
with remaining lease term of: (Note(i))

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,

—50F s F - 50 years or more - 16,940
—10E 504 2 [H — between 10 and 50 years 55,806 75,196
55,806 92,136
HiFHSES A& (3T Other properties leased for own use, carried
ERATIER) (M 5E (i) at depreciated cost (Note(ii)) 27,813 29,090
83,619 121,226
REEREMERN TG E Ownership interests in leasehold investment
Em (RAEBENE) W properties, at fair value, with remaining
SBRTHEAA lease term of:
—50F s - 50 years or more 372,741 2,001,210
—10&E 504 2 A — between 10 and 50 years 6,005,653 6,104,682
6,378,394 8,105,892
ROBEABIEHENTE  Ownership interests in leasehold investment
?xéf%%ﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬁ%% = properties classified as held for sale, with
MERTHEA remaining lease term of:
. 0ES0Fem  sbetweeniOandSOyears ... 250000  ........T.
6,712,013 8,227,118
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N ERBREVERYE BEK
B
(b) FREEE (&)
EHHEENHAYXEES
HRMT

v B

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in
profit or loss is as follows:

REELREFEEREFTH

Ownership interests in leasehold land

kR and buildings held for own use 2,736 3,550
HEFEERNEMYE Other properties leased for own use 8,880 9,739
11,616 13,289

HEAFEZHNE (7)) Interest on lease liabilities (Note 7(a)) 2,343 2,281
FREHHEE 2R Expense relating to short-term leases 501 193

RER EAEEERER 8,300,000
BT (ZZF = =4 :987,000/87T) °
RBEHALY  ZeBEEEELLH
ENRZEMAFIEA -

Tﬁ%iﬁi\mﬁ @ & E A EE E
DT 2 F 1B D B E R FE 20(d) K
24o

() REELHRFFERBFN
FrE s
AEBEREBZEAMEELRE
B ARBRZEMERER (B
AR RO E
) EMBER A - —RM
NRBWE LA ZMER AR
TESZEYEES  MRIE
TR SRR BT BN -

(i) HEARZEMYE
AEERRBHEHRESRE
REMNEER/ERBEMA
ENEN -HEBENLRH
2ENF -HENFREESSF
EMARRTSHES - HE
TEERER AT EEENK -

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were $8,300,000
(2023: $987,000). This amount relates to the capitalised lease
payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities are set out in Notes 20(d) and 24, respectively.

(i) Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held
for own use

The Group holds several properties as its offices. The Group is
the registered owner of these property interests, including the
whole or part of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property
interests from their previous registered owners, and there are
no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the land
lease.

(ii) Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as
its warehouses and offices through tenancy agreements. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 2 to 22 years. Lease
payments are usually increased every year to reflect market
rentals. None of the leases includes options or variable lease
payments.
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N REVERYVE BRER
B

() REM=E
AEERBEEAEHAREDE -
ZEME-—RONTRB—=2_1+=
FUBRBRENAEGRREN D
BMZHREE HENRBESSE
EIARRTISEE -

RERE B AR B AR B AT HH
LG AT R R W e R AT
BEENFAT :

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(c)

Investment property

The Group leases out investment property under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 22 years, with
an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all terms
are renegotiated. Lease payments are usually increased every year to
reflect market rentals.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group
in future periods as follows:

—FR Within 1 year 188,958 209,660
—FREREMFA After 1 year but within 2 years 137,889 164,619
MEBEBE=FRN After 2 years but within 3 years 85,550 114,942
=FBERFR After 3 years but within 4 years 39,020 63,269
MEZEBERFR After 4 years but within 5 years 23,149 21,746
hEE After 5 years 27,038 19,359

501,604 593,595

AEENETREMEARE ML
W RAEFEAAEBRRARGRITEN
BRFIEENME22

The Group's certain investment properties and other land and
buildings were pledged to secure bank loans, details of which are set
out in Note 22.
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13 & 13 GOODWILL

B K BRE{E

Cost and carrying amount 40,736 40,736

HESELENV (B2HE) NRE
A

EEBREHRE A HRYHEETRER
Ao RRBEERNIB (L EE IR SR
AEBAERAR ((HEFEHER) D
wEN T REBEREE(ERBEED &
B rEERBERBERAR ([FMEBKE
BMRSELBEUMNATKRESE KF
ZAWEEELIREE TEUEERR
EE -BRAELERARBEEEELE
MBRERFHRNOMBEEERNRR
HenERA EREXTEBBREEL
BUKEXHBHBATENRAFHEER
RoBRDEABRRRIL RRERET
EPREEEEUAS NABLEZE
RIFHSERR

RETHERENS BFNRARS
RETRIEEEEIENTEAE L -
HipE ZEREFIMT

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwiill

Management performed impairment testing on goodwill at the each
reporting date. The recoverable amount of CGU of Creative Education
Holding Company Limited (“Creative Education Group”) determined
based on the value in use (“VIU”) calculation by the directors of the
Company with the assistance of an independent valuer, Ravia Global
Appraisal Advisory Limited (“"RAA"). Their recoverable amounts are based
on certain similar key assumptions. The calculation use after-tax cashflow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. The growth rates do not exceed the long-term
average growth rate for the related industry in which the CGU operate.
The discount rates used are after-tax and reflect specific risks relating to
the relevant industry and the CGU itself and macro-environment of the
relevant region.

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, the forecasted
cashflows of the first year are estimated based on financial budgets
approved by the management. Other key assumptions are set out as
follows:

e IR Annual growth rate of revenue 2.3%-7.0% 2.5%-6.0%
EME (=T D) Gross margin (% of revenue) 82.4% 79.5%-79.9%
REPE R & Long-term growth rate 2.5% 2.3%
PRz AR IR X After-tax discount rate 16.0% 15.4%
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13 BEuw)
HRESELEN (BEEHE) WEE
AIE (&)
BAKE S ERESEEEN Y EEE
HEEPFEENT

13 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (Continued)
Details of the headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts

deducting the carrying amount of the CGU are set out as follows:

FZE Headroom

76,201 43,344

EEECHBERNEARETHRED
e TREH A EBERRBKFENF
EREX RHERXEBRITARD

RERED :

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment
test of goodwill. The following table sets out the hypothetical changes
to annual growth rate, long-term growth rate and after-tax discount
rate that would, in isolation, have removed the remaining headroom
respectively:

FHEERFHD Decrease in annual growth rate 7.9% 4.6%
RARG R &R D Decrease in long-term growth rate 48.1% 25.9%
B 7 1% BE 3R S8 0 Increase in after-tax discount rate 22.9% 10.5%

K2EBIUAEREXMHERMRLETE
BABPALBEEETH I RE S EE -
RZE-_WFE+=_A=+—H ' A27
EEETHEARHEELRE-

By reference to the recoverable amounts determined by directors of the
Company with assistance of RAA, an independent qualified professional
valuer, as at 31 December 2024, the directors of the Company determined
that no impairment of goodwill was required.
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14 ARBATNKRE 14
TEERIITSYEAEEMLE &
KB ERHE AT RS - B RAHEAN -
sl BRI & @m -

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class
of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

REEHE
UREALE
Place of
incorporation/
establishment
and operation

BRARA/

aME ARG

Particulars of

FrE R L6l
Proportion of ownership interest
FEEY H—F
ERER WEAR
Group's ¥5

AR
BR

WEAR AR and type of issued capital/ effective Heldbythe  Heldbya FE#%
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
Top Spring Real Estate (Shenzhen) HE R AR 653,060,000 70 100% - 100% WEEEREE
Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB653,060,000 Property development
REFHE (RN BRAE Mainland* and investment
Dongguan SZITIC Property Development ~ H Bl AR 20,000,000 100% - 100% WEEEREE
Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB20,000,000 Property development
(REMAEREHEREERAF)  Mainland' and investment
Changzhou Top Spring Landmark Real Bl Rk 62,450,000 7 100% - 100% WEEEREE
Estate Co., Ltd. Chinese US$62,450,000 Property development
(RMAEHEEEERAF) Mainland’ and investment
Top Spring Realty (Chengdu) Co., Ltd. ~ REIAM 17,860,000 % 7T 100% - 100% WEEEREE
(REEE (KB BRDA) Chinese US$17,860,000 Property development
Mainland* and investment
Top Spring International (Yuhang) i E Ay 2,050,000 7 100% - 100% WEEEREE
Landmark Co., Ltd. Chinese US$2,050,000 Property development
(REER (R BEERDRA) Mainland’ and investment
Tianjin Hyperion Construction Co., Ltd. ~ FREIA” AR 50,000,000 58% - 58% MEEERRIZE
(RESEERRBBAA) Chinese RMB50,000,000 Property development
Mainland” and investment
Tianjin Hyperion Investment RE R AR 100,000,000 7 58% - 58% MEEERRIZE
Development Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB100,000,000 Property development
(RESEEREZRBRBAA) Mainland” and investment
Tianjin Jin Jun Investment Development SR EI A AR #75,000,0007 58% - 58% MEEERRIZE
Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB75,000,000 Property development
(REREREERERAF) Mainland” and investment
Nanjing Top Spring Water Flower B b AR 160,000,000 70 100% - 100% WEEEREE
Property Development Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB160,000,000 Property development
(ARREKETEHRERS Mainland" and investment

BRAR)



228 HEEMEBERAT T _MNFR

frE MR
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

14 RBATNKRE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

REEHE

UREALS FAEEE LAl

Place of Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/ BRITRE/  AEEH B—F

establishment T ERFE ERER HAAE WEAR
and operation Particulars of Group's %5 o2l
WEAR AR and type of issued capital/ effective  Heldbythe  Heldbya FE#%
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activity

Nanjing Top Spring Real Estate Co., Ltd. ~ FEI4” AR 15,000,000 7 100% - 100% WEEEREE
(ARREEEBARARA) Chinese RMB15,000,000 Property development
Mainland* and investment
Shenzhen Water Flower Commercial RERS AR 5,000,00070 100% - 100% #NERE
Management Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB5,000,000 Property investment

(RYUMKEEEERERRR) Mainland"

Shenzhen Water Flower Commercial &’ AR%28,000,0007C 100% - 100% MERE
Property Management Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB28,000,000 Property investment

(RUMKEEENEERERAF)  Mainland'

Huge Source Limited 0 10 RER 1 70% - 0% MEERRRKE
(RMERAR) Hong Kong 10 shares Property development
and investment

Shanghai Pengxiu Business Consultancy — *FEIAI:” AR %50,000,000 7T 70% - 100% WEERRRE
Co,, Ltd. Chinese RMB50,000,000 Property development
(LEBFRBEEAERAR) Mainland* and investment
Shine Long Limited EBRIHE 787 70% - 0% MEBEREE
(REBBAT) The British Virgin 78 shares Property development
Islands and investment
Shanghai Pengyi Business Consultancy ~ FF BT AR %30,000,000 7T 70% - 100% WEERRRE
Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB30,000,000 Property development
(DERREBZAERAF) Mainland’ and investment
Progress Link Limited EBRIHE 787 70% - 0% MEBEREE
(ERBRRT) The British Virgin 78 shares Property development
Islands and investment
Shanghai Pengji Business Consultancy ~ FF BT AR 100,000,000 7T 70% - 100% WEERRRE
Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB100,000,000 Property development

(LEBERBEARRAT) Mainland” and investment
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14 RBRARANRE® 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
REEHE
UREALS FAEEE LAl
Place of Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/ BRITRE/  REEH H—F
establishment TMERFE EBRER HAAH WEAR
and operation Particulars of Group's %5 o2l
WEAR AR and type of issued capital/ effective  Heldbythe  Heldbya FE#%
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
Shenzhen Zhong Yi Ming Hao Real REIR AR 260,000,000 7T 100% - 100% WEEERE
Estate Development Company Limited ~ Chinese RMB260,000,000 Property development
(AT aE R ERE Mainland’ and investment
BRAR)
Creative Kindergarten Holdings Limited &5 1,000,000 5 {7 100% - 100% #MERE
(MBYHEREEERAR) Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares Property investment
Creative Education Holding Company &8 100 R 1A 100% - 100% HEEBES
Limited Hong Kong 100 shares Education related
(MBERERLRA)
Great Property Corporation Limited 5% (330 100% - 100% WEEEREE
(ERBELEBERLA) Hong Kong 1 share Property development

and investment

Great Prosper Development Limited 55 2kt 100% - 100% WEEEREE
(BEERERLA) Hong Kong 2 shares Property development
and investment

Faith Luck Corporation Limited BE 1B G 100% - 100% WEEEREE
(fFEBRAT) Hong Kong 1 share Property development
and investment

Rapid Sight Limited 0 15 ikfn 100% - 100% WEERREE
(LEBRRF) Hong Kong 1 share Property development
and investment

8 INEBERE g Wholly foreign-owned enterprise
2 FINEERNDEEDRE & Sino-foreign equity joint venture
BRAT : Limited liability company
BEERA RZTE-_MER=-T== The directors consider that no individual NCl is material to the Group as at
T-A=1t—8 BEHAKEMEE 31 December 2024 and 2023.

A 1] 1B S PR AR 2
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15 REFE QR WES
SRR VS PN L N
BREFAEDAABOHENT :

AR ER 3L R
BXH

Place of
incorporation

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Details of the Group’s interest in the associates, which is accounted for
using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, are as

and business

Shenzhen Green Port Co., Ltd. HE R
(R RREEDRE 2 Chinese
BRLAE) Mainland

Jiangxi Lemeng Commercial HE R
Management and service Co., Ltd. Chinese

(TREENEERRBERAF) Mainland

PrEBERRY/IFLTRAREE B
BLET 5 ME

REBEE-Z-_MF+_-_A=+—HBILF
B AEBHEMRBEE QR BIHEK
ERAR(HEK]) REREEER QA
(B 218 461,880,000/8 T (=
T=F ) -

follows:
FERRER L
Proportion of ownership interest
KEHE H—E
BERTR RS =P NG| WEAR
BRERAFEE %5 55
Particulars of issued effective  Heldbythe  Heldbya FE#%
and paid up capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
AE#50,000,0007 43% - 43%  fHfERE
RMB50,000,000 Supply chain
AE#20,000,0007 33% - 3% MEERE
RMB20,000,000 Property investment

All of the associates are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market
prices are not available.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group disposed two
associates, namely Great Billion Corporation Limited (“Great Billion")
and Wealth Channel Holdings Limited (“Wealth Channel”), at a total
consideration of $61,880,000 (2023: Nil).
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15 REE QT RER )

RZB-_=F+-R=+—B&EKkzH
BEHRBEZ SBREAER AR
KR e B HmRANREE 2 HIIREENT :

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of Great Billion as at 31 December
2023, adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and a
reconciliation to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed below:

EP vt Gross amounts of Great Billion
MENE E Current assets 1,477,896
ViEIR=RE Current liabilities (32,872)
EnEBE Non-current liabilities (1,808,330)
& At Deficits (363,306)
T EERBEBRENTSE: Included In the above assets and liabilities:
RekReEMEEAR Cash and cash equivalents 181
WA Revenue -
BEREEBEENEBER Loss from continuing operations (396,695)
EHEREREE Total comprehensive income (396,695)
REEBR Bz ¥R Reconciled to the Group’s interest in Great Billion
Fkz(BE) BEFERRA Gross amounts of Great Billion’s net (liabilities)/assets (363,306)
REEZBERER Group's effective interest 10.0%
REBEERKCEEFE Group’s share of Great Billion’s net assets -
REBEBIERIKZREERETE Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of

) shareholders’ loans in Great Billion (Note) 138,767
REERRDZREE Carrying amount of the Group’s interests 138,767

REBEE-Z-_NMF+-_A=+—HLHF
B SERREKEZNEABELE2®A
UG 25 48158 4 3,825,0008 7L (— T — =4 ¢
39,669,50078 7T) °

During the year ended 31 December 2024, loss and total comprehensive
income for the year attributable to the interests in Great Billion is

$3,825,000 (2023: $39,669,500).
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15 REEE N TN RER )
ERIZEE SR A AT M @EEHR -

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

AEBEEGEEBIFFER
BEAREERFEW

Aggregate carrying amounts of the
Group’s share of net assets of

BRERE individually immaterial associates 3,320 4,178

REBEEIEREER Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share
@ () of shareholders’ loans (Note) = 15,413
3,320 19,591

AEBEEEZEMEREEE

R NCIF k]

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s
share of those individually immaterial

associates’
FEEEREER=ERE Loss and total comprehensive income
for the year (324) (17,946)
M RZTZ=F  RBAEBHOGR  HK Note: In 2023, in accordance with the terms of the cooperation agreement, both

REBROBRRERBRENFRE LI R
RIBERGRAZERERREETER -
ZEERRBERRZZESFHEH2%
iR MREEFNESELGRITREERK
X FHEEMNZEERNEEREETH
- BAFEIRBERR RINEER
Ribafk AR AEERTT AER Bt -
i SR E R AN R B 0B R B 2 BRAS IR
B2 AMRED D - R T ARER

shareholders to Great Billion and Wealth Channel have provided loan capital to
Great Billion and Wealth Channel in proportion to their shareholdings and under
equal terms. The loans are unsecured and interest bearing at Prime rate minus 2%
per annum, whereas Prime rate is the HSBC Best Lending Rate. Repayment of any
amount of the loan requires both parties’ approval and is subject to Great Billion
and Wealth Channel having sufficient assets after taking into account the external
financing and accumulated profits. Accordingly, the shareholders’ loans form an
integral part of the Group’s equity investment in associate and is recognised as
such.
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16 ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%&é NAEEAKRE 16 FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVPL

JERNHY Non-current 27(q)
*#FH’IE,\, BIFE L — Unlisted equity securities not held

N for trading 36,611 36,836
—RHFEH — Trading securities (ii) 24,897 27,560
— B E =5 I — Receivables from the third parties (i) 1,093,742 1,138,422
1,155,250 1,202,818

BN &R Current 27(g)
— I LEHRAEF - Unlisted equity securities 1,875 2,021
— BB EMR — Wealth management products 1,018 814
2,893 2,835

B3 Notes:

() ERE="FREIERAABEEHRTH (i) Receivables from the third parties are classified as level 3 financial instruments in
F3IZeMIT A ZEeREENBHEIIN the fair value hierarchy. The valuations of these financial assets are derived from
HEEERG ZRAFTEREEERT valuations models which require a number of inputs and assumptions which are not
%%ZFZ%HXE’]%J)\%ZF&TE’ 5% WHEBE observable from market data and which are significant to the entire measurement.

ZHEZ-FAN - BEBRIB }AZ’R REEBEA During the year, the fair value loss on financial assets measured at FVPL amounted
E§E+§ NERMEEREEQAABEEER to $6,691,000 (2023: $92,779,000).
6,691,000/ 7T (=% = =4 : 92,779,000
JT) °

iy MRZZB-EOFE+-A=+—H0 RFEFHE (i) As at 31 December 2024, trading securities were pleded as security for the other
EARER H M EEMER  FHEEHNM T borrowings, details of which is set out in Note 22.

22 -
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17 FEREMEHNRAK 17 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS

MIEER Property development
FERFEERPHEEL M Leasehold land held for development for
sale 145,636 145,174
TR Property under for development 2,707,927 3,981,122
FEBRTIME Completed properties for sale 2,216,776 2,167,989
5,070,339 6,294,285
HAth & KK AR Other contract costs 265 450
5,070,604 6,294,735
Hih % Other operations
REEEFEDREER Low value consumables and supplies 6,737 5,962
5,077,341 6,300,697
(a) HREAI VT ABENFTESTE (a) The analysis of amount of inventories recognised as an expense and
DT - included in profit of loss is as follows:
—E_mfF
2024
Frx
$'000
FEEREE Carrying amount of inventories 680,041 356,786
T E MU Write down of inventories 495,704 562,780
1,175,745 919,566
FEERTMERGFEERIYE The amount of property under for development and completed
KRB — FERBHAIRENKES properties for sale expected to be recovered after more than one
3,642,393,000 L (Z T =~ =4 : year is $3,642,393,000 (2023: $4,115,996,000). All of the other
4,115,996,000 % 7t) ° FT A H At 17 inventories are expected to be recovered within one year.

EFRHR—FAKRE -

The Group’s certain properties under for development for sale and

AEFBETHEEETMERSE completed properties for sale were pledged to secure bank loans
BERTIMEERBURSRITER and other borrowings, details of which is set out in Note 22.

REMEE  BREFITHRNME22
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17 FERHEMENRE @) 17 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS
(Continued)
(b) HEBRTIWHNEREEITET (b) The analysis of carrying value of land held for property development

for sale is as follows:

F AR B 3 ) 84 S AH R R In Chinese Mainland, with remaining
lease term of
—10FE50F 2[4 — between 10 and 50 years 2,696,346 2,714,701
REBNSR TNHER In Hong Kong, with remaining lease
term of
—10F 2504 2 f# — between 10 and 50 years 145,636 145,174

2,841,982 2,859,875

(0 EHRAE

RZFE-—WMF+=_A=+—H &
WA LHR AR T HERE
MIEEHEERS B MZRED
HERDEHRPRAEBE RN RS
BEMDATERTYMET L EE RS
& HIBC AN A AR B 1 3K 8 W s TR R
HETGABaRTERAIHER
EHASTIM—D - FREERZET
TR E ALK A€ 58 5 3,700,000 78
JL(ZZ = =4 :2,608,000/87C) °

NEBERRESYHHRE LS
Bﬁ%%&mTﬁ%ﬂﬁi i 2%
BITHEREENBHEARER
{4 HBEHMER RS A - A
SERELIMENBEERRY
mA%F?W$FF$%% REFY

P E B AL A KRR TR R
—FERKE -

(c) Contract costs

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2024 relate to the
incremental sales commissions paid to property agents whose
selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties which are still under
construction at the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised
as part of “selling and marketing expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which revenue from the
related property sales is recognised. The amount of capitalised costs
recognised in profit or loss during the year was $3,700,000 (2023:
$2,608,000).

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 94 of HKFRS
15 and recognises the incremental costs of obtaining contracts
relating to the sale of completed properties and services as an
expense when incurred if the amortisation period of the assets that
the Group otherwise would have recognised is within the same
reporting period as the date of entering into the contract.

All of the other capitalised contract costs are expected to be
recovered within one year.
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18 EZREMEWRE 18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

EUE 5 BR X (FNBRES 1B E) Trade debtors, net of loss allowance 51,453 56,612
H b pe s 2008 (F0kR E 1R B4ES)  Other debtors, net of loss allowance (i) & 27(a) 524,898 503,374
S R —F 1B T UEIAFIE  Less: amount to be recovered more
than one year - (314,675)
524,898 188,699
WK A ERNSBEE  Financial assets measured at
amortised cost 576,351 245,311
EeRENFOA  Depositsandprepayments M .. 1147205 1221877
1,723,556 1,467,188
B aE - Notes:
(i) Hb e RoE (NG B ) B8y m T - (i) The details of other receivables (net of loss allowance) are set out below:

—E-mE

ME=FRHER Loans to third parties (a) 297,395 298,869
Hit Others 227,503 204,505
524,898 503,374
RN —F — — =4+ .
@ R=B-DOE+=A=+—0" K (@)  Asat 31 December 2024, all of the balances were secured, interest-bearing

4t =W s 1 Rl &
ED”?EEE 5 1R &fﬁﬂ*g%;ﬁ: from 8% to 15% per annum and recoverable within one year. As at 31
gf’f“ ’ {Iﬂﬁi\iiﬂqw@ ° Eﬁ: December 2023, apart from the loans to third parties of $201,869,000
F_=FFT_A=1T—R BRA%= which were secured, interest-bearing at 13% per annum and recoverable

B /4 L5 S (i 8 E
?ﬁmt\gm iO1 '8610000/%572( AN after one year, all of the balances were secured, interest-bearing from 8% to
BAEM  RERE13%EE - BA 155 e,

R—FREED) N MEEHRERE
IR RFEFE8%N E15%ETE °
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=+ . :
18 B 5 K& H th B WU TH (#) 18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Bzt (48) Notes: (Continued)
(i) RERBEAREFBHINGAT : (i) The details of deposits and prepayments are set out below:
—BomE
2024
Fr
$'000
e B s {5 FR A 9 TR A 3R Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights 726,955 751,229
€2/ ES:0NEANE e Prepayments for acquisition of properties 30,000 30,000
TR AT Prepaid value-added tax 274,230 295,729
HAth Others 116,020 144,919
1,147,205 1,221,877
(i) BRECHIT (i) Ageing analysis
RI|EF - EWE SEX (B EBEE) As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade debtors (net of
BIEE RSN ER ST loss allowance) based on invoice date was as follows:
—E-mE
2024
Fr
$'000
—fEAR Within 1 month 26,395 29,042
—Z=f@A 1 to 3 months 12,294 13,527
==R"AAR 3 to 6 months 9,350 10,287
NEAE—F 6 months to 1 year 3,414 3,756
51,453 56,612
ERASEEABREUARE S REMERK Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade and
REELENEARENE - FFBERRK other receivables are set out in Note 27(a).

+27(@a) °
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19 ZRF R EEFEFK

19 RESTRICTED AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

PR #1775 (B EEG)) Restricted deposits (Note (i) 13,366 13,780

BRI ETEE Property pre-sale proceeds held by
P45 K3 (B E (i) solicitor (Note (i) 34,577 13,654
24 #7720 (B R (i) Pledged deposits (Note (iii) 1,331,894 1,498,341
1,379,837 1,525,775

Wi

(ii)

(iii)

RIBERZERERALN  AREETET
WERAEIEE NP EAMLHE R REREE
RITRPHIFRE TS EANFR - PILATaE
1) A R 7 S22 ) B R (R PR N IR SR AR AR Y R
ERFAEBBAETE TEE - ZFERE
P AMER e R PR A KT R AER AR -

REZEBREREETTYENOBBERER -
BERNFEAZMEBHAERFNERE -
BERRBANEAXNEYERREENE
THEERAKREE T HREEHERTARE -

EHERERIERNEEIER TRITUERR
TR E M TF 3K ° 1¥3£1,331,008,000% 7T (=
T = =4 :1,497,557,000 7 7T) B K3 LAER
BR—FEREENRTREE BRHER
TENEE °

AEBRETROTFRELEFERATER
MR LR

Notes:

@

(ii)

(iii)

In accordance with relevant construction or redevelopment contracts, certain of
the Group’s Chinese Mainland subsidiaries with property development projects
are required to place at designated bank accounts certain amount of deposits
for potential default in payment of construction costs payables to the relevant
contractors or fulfill certain obligations to the relevant government. Such guarantee
deposits will be released after the settlement of the construction costs payables or
fulfilment of the obligations.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations governing the pre-sale of
residential properties in Hong Kong, prepayments by customers are held by firms of
solicitors as stakeholders. The amounts can be released to the Group for meeting
certain prescribed costs associated with the property development or if certain
conditions are fulfilled.

Pledged deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group. Deposits amounting to $1,331,008,000 (2023:
$1,497,557,000) have been pledged to secure bank and borrowings repayable
within one year and are therefore classified as current assets.

The Group’s certain bank deposits which were pledged as securities in respect of:

—E-—mE

2024

Frx

$°000
SRITERRE Bank loan facilities 1,331,008 1,497,557

BITER T AEEVEERD Mortgage loan facilities granted by the
RBESRRE banks to purchasers of the Group’s

properties 886 784
1,331,894 1,498,341
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20 BE R B EEEIEE LUK 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
HttREREZHR CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) ReRBELEEBEREE: (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

RIFITHRE R FHERE

Cash at banks and on hand 376,867 665,194

RZFE-_WMF+=A=+—H 'R
BRITHNREAFHESBEHRASE
B T B B A RAR R
IR T M 18 38 B 4B R SO AR U 4
ERITHERPHHNBEWMEMENRIE
#FE1,418000B L (ZE =4
12,228,000 L) ° Z EHF RN ES
EERITHER T RERBED
XHAEBEEBEREMBREINE
HE - ZFFHBERBEEY T
B ESE TR E R EE B
BRER o

RZE_WFF+=ZA=+—H " HF
HANitiRITHE S RIREEEEE
£261,780,0008 0 (Z T ==
485,884,000 7T) © [ H # B A
B & € 7838 57 P B P9 kb BRFT B AN AY
B 5 PR il o

At 31 December 2024, cash at banks and on hand included
proceeds from the pre-sale of properties totalling $ 1,418,000 (2023:
$12,228,000) placed in designated bank accounts by certain of the
Group’s Chinese Mainland subsidiaries in accordance with relevant
documents issued by local government authorities. Such deposits
can only be used for purchases of construction materials and the
payments of construction fees of the relevant property development
projects when approval from the designated bank is obtained.
Such deposits will be released after the completion of the relevant
properties or obtaining the legal title of the completed properties.

At 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents with banks
in Chinese Mainland amounted to $261,780,000 (2023:
$485,884,000). Remittance of funds out of Chinese Mainland is
subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the government in
Chinese Mainland.
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20 RERNIREEEEHUK 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

HtREREER @) CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
(b) BEAIEEEKSLHELRS MY (b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash generated from
R operations:

4 A1 5 48 Loss before taxation (2,146,856) (836,477)
KA T IREE Adjustments for:
F B WA Interest income 5 (74,837) (101,392)
=N Finance costs 7(a) 303,166 319,999
r & K % 5 Depreciation and amortisation 7(0) 19,297 19,503
WEMERNGE Valuation losses/(gains) on
&8, () investment properties 12 1,195,925 (14,376)
HE—HRB a8 Net gain on disposal of a
W #5558 subsidiary 6 = (12,964)
LAEBIEZ I A SLEE A Fair value loss on financial assets
RArEMEmEED measured at FVPL
RAEBEEE 6 8,370 102,082
RARTEAMMIR A EA Additional compensation income
BT Y B ) 8 S received from Hong Kong'’s
HERA government for land parcels
in Yuen Long 6 - (81,981)
7 & HUR Written down of inventories 17(a) 495,704 562,780

B 5 K& H fth FEUGRIE Y Reversal of impairment losses/
EEIERE REE impairment losses on trade

8 and other receivables 27(a) (2,066) 85,225
HEWE  MENEZEN  Netloss on disposal of property,
B85 % plant and equipment 6 9,625 1,668
HEREMEZEEFE  Netloss on disposal of
investment properties 6 46,532 -
DA N R E 1B Share of losses of associates 4,149 57,615
b X 5185 58 Net foreign exchange loss 6 2,974 17,369
LEELEE Changes in working capital:
FEREMELDKARLD  Decrease in inventories and
other contract costs 711,703 151,953
B 5 K& H fth FEULFRIE Decrease in trade and other
Vo receivables 449,140 210,468
2R 7RO Decrease in restricted deposits 96,807 35,924
B 5 K& H fth FEAF /I8 Decrease in trade and other
e payables (549,253) (144,294)
AHaEEM Increase in contract liabilities 17,383 51,987

BEEBRELER® Cash generated from operations 587,763 425,089
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200 RERBEEEEEHUR
HtBEEREBER &)

(0 MEFDRELENAGEHKR

20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities
TRFMANEBEREFTDMELEN The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
BEZE  REReRIERSET - financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

RERDMELNABDARESR
BIARKRERENAEENGS
ReREBERIVBRABEZDAFR
TREMEIE -

Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing
activities.

RITERR B ER
Hitfe & HESE BENE
Bank loans Amounts
and due to
other Lease non-controlling
borrowings liabilities interests
(WF22) (Kzk24) (MzE21)
(Note 22) (Note 24) (Note 21)
T i r
$000 $'000 $'000
W=Z2-ME-F—8  At1January 2024 7,254,307 35,018 1,018,256 8,307,581
HERSRESRD: Changes from financing cash
flows:
MERTERREM Proceeds from new bank loans and
ERGiteES other borrowings 1,704,650 - - 1,704,650
BRFTENREM Repayment of bank loans and other
DS borrowings (2,378,504) - = (2,378,504)
REFZRER BT Advance from non-controlling
interests - - 38,080 38,080
ERAEREMNER Capital element of lease rentals
£ paid - (4,507) - (4,507)
BREERSMALE Interest element of lease rentals
#9 paid - (1,936) - (1,936)
BRFIE Interest paid (430,218) = = (430,218)
BERSTELHAS  Total changes from financing cash
flows (1,104,072) (6,443) 38,080 (1,072,435)
ERHR Exchange adjustments (181,292) (4,641) (2,089) (188,022)
At Other changes:
RERE (ML 76) Finance costs (Note 7(a)) 475,409 2383 3,331 481,083
REENTIHAEE  Increase in lease liabilities from
REREEM entering into new leases during
the year - 8,300 - 8,300
NS E Change in interest payables 35,991 - (3,331) 32,660
Eh2ges Total other changes 511,400 10,643 = 522,043
RZZ-mE At 31 December 2024
+=RA=+-H 6,480,343 34,577 1,054,247 7,569,167
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20 RERNIREEEEHUK 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

HtREREER @ CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)
() METRFEENEEHER ) () Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (Continued)

5 BERE ErE
Bank loans Amounts
and due to
other Lease non-controlling
borrowings liabilities interests
22) (Fiyt24) (FrE21)
(Note 22) (Note 24) (Note 21)
i T Fr
$'000 $'000 $'000
R-B-Z£-F-R  Atflanuary 203 7,665,899 46,485 1038430 8,750,814
HERERELD: Changes from financing cash
flows:
MERTETREM Proceeds from new bank loans and
ERATETE other borrowings 1,142,039 - - 1,142,039
BEFTENREM Repayment of bank loans and other
FE borrowings (1,437,391) - - (1,437,391)
BEIHRIERNTIE  Repayment of non-controlling
interests - - (13,940) (13,940)
ERAERENER Capital element of lease rentals
#9 paid - (9,235) - (9,235)
BEREERSMAR Interest element of lease rentals
#9 paid - (2,281) - (2,281)
BRHE Interest paid (471,150) - - (471,150)
BERSTREZYAS  Total changes from financing cash
flows (766,502) (11,516) (13,940) (791,958)
ERRE Exchange adjustments (133,929) (3,219) (6,234) (143 ,382)
Hit#e Other changes:
BERE (ML 76) Finance costs (Note 7(a)) 486,176 2,281 3,671 492,128
REENTIHAEE  Increase in lease liabilities from
REREEM entering into new leases during
the year - 987 - 987
Eff g2 Change in interest payables 2,663 - (3,671) (1,008)
At EBRE Total other changes 488,839 3,68 - 492,107
R-BzzZf At 31 December 2023

+ZA=t-AH 1,254,307 35,018 1,018,256 8,307,581
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20 RERNIRELEEEHUKR 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

HtREREBER @ CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

d) HERSRLARE (d) Total cash outflow for leases
HHEFABRESRERZ2XERN Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise
TEIBMHER the following:

RELEREBREN Within operating cash flows 693 193
REEBReREN Within financing cash flows 6,443 11,516
7,136 11,709

ZESBEE T SIEAH These amounts relate to the following:

ENHEERS Lease rentals paid 7.136 11,709
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BEZREMEBNRE

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

B 5 FE A Trade payables 0] 217,518 235,706
Hih R R R E B Other creditors and accrued charges (ii) 1,276,584 1,536,656
FET IE IR R R 2R SR IR Amounts due to non-controlling
interests (iii) 1,054,247 1,018,256
HekEMmES Rental and other deposits 88,705 89,316
REH R H A A TR Value added tax and other tax
payables 57,877 76,555
2,694,931 2,956,489

A
i
BTT
BRS
BEE -

@

(ii)

(iif)

ZHREMENZEESR —FER
CBREMAE S Kk H iz £ 88,705,000
(ZZ — =4 :89,316,000/& 7T) 7@
—FRiEE -

RBEHR - FTAE S REMENRIEANE
ZRNFARBERAHANRESTOT

All trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one
year, except other rental and other deposits of $88,705,000 (2023:
$89,316,000) are expected to be settled after more than one year.

Included in trade and other payables are trade payables with the following ageing
analysis based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

—EMmEF

2024

Fx

$°000
—fEARA Within 1 month 67,965 73,648
—Z==f@A 1 to 3 months 45,273 49,059
=EXEA 3 to 6 months 44,160 47,853
NERE—%F 6 months to 1 year 37,595 40,739
B —F Over 1 year 22,525 24,407
217,518 235,706

HEETERMNRKRZTE Y XM
f&1E1,005,958,000/ L (=T = = F :
1,042,128,000 7% 7T ) &+ A E A & 15 BR 5% K% F&
B EHERN—FRERBRMHEEYE

o
HE

R-B-_ME+—A=1+—8  BEMNIEE
P& #E 25 7K I8 58,892,000 T (- T — =4 :
71,933,000 7T) IREF435% (Z T ==
F:435%) 518 EERRABRERERI
T AEIEE - 2 BT AREREE -

(ii)

(iif)

The estimated value of future settlement properties to be compensated to residents
of $1,005,958,000 (2023: $1,042,128,000) is included in other creditors and
accrued charges and is expected to be settled within one year by delivering the
respective properties.

As at 31 December 2024, apart from the amounts due to non-controlling interests
of $58,892,000 (2023: $71,933,000) which are interest-bearing at 4.35% (2023:
4.35%), unsecured and repayable on demand, all of the balances are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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22 RITERKREMEE 22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
RZZ-—_WF+=-—A=+—8" T8 At 31 December 2024, bank loans and other borrowings were analysed as
REREMEESTMOT follows:

RITER Bank loans
— & A (i) — Secured (ii) 5,720,996 6,490,657
Hifg & Other borrowings
— 78 5 (i) — Secured (iii) 759,347 763,650
6,480,343 7,254,307
R-_E_WN&E+-_FA=+—H BTE At 31 December 2024, bank loans and other borrowings were repayable
REEMEENERBRAOT as follows:
—E-MF
2024
Fx
$'000
—FRIBXFARBES Within 1 year and included in
current liabilities 2,659,573 3,305,907

—FRABIFTAFERBER:  After 1 year and included in non-
current liabilities:

—FREMER After 1 year but within 2 years 575,420 874,701
MEEBRERN After 2 years but within 5 years 2,208,787 2,468,430
AFiE After 5 years 1,036,563 605,269

3,820,770 3,948,400

6,480,343 7,254,307
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22 RTERREMEE® 22 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(Continued)
B o Notes:
(i) R+-—A=+—8 " RITEFTLRNEFHE (i) At 31 December, the bank loans bore interest at a weighted average interest rate
F569% (ZZT =4 : 6.07%) sF B A A of 5.69% (2023: 6.07%) per annum and were secured by the following assets:
TEEFERKE

Y RS B E T & #9154 Investment properties and investment

L E properties classified as held for sale 6,228,723 6,530,590
Hpth 3 RIEF Other land and buildings 20,671 61,152
FE Inventories 3,484,497 4,149,326
[mEERESY Pledged deposits 19(ii) 1,331,008 1,497,557
EWE Rental receivables 6,643 8,340
#Et Total 11,071,542 12,246,965
i) R-Z-—_mWE+=-_A=+—H HE17T (i)  As at 31 December 2024, the bank loans of $ 2,343,780,000 (2023:
B 32,343,780,0008 7 (Z T ==& : $2,274,579,000) was secured by equity interests in certain subsidiaries within the
2,274,579,000770) AR EE AN E FHEBA Group with the interest of 3.45% to 6.35% (2023: 3.45% to 7.05%) per annum.

AR R A (R - WIRF B E3.45% F
6.35% (T - =% :345%%7.05%):t8 °

i)y R-ZT-—_WE+-_A=+—H (i) As at 31 December 2024, the other borrowings of $737,533,000 (2023:
f& & 737,533,000 L (T - = F: $741,902,000) were from a shareholder of the Group, which are interest-
741,902,000 7T) REAREBE —BKRER - & bearing at 9% (2023: 11%) per annum and secured by equity interests in certain
BEFI% (ZT-=F : 11%) st B UK subsidiaries within the Group. The remaining other borrowings are interest-bearing
SEETHERA 2 REEER - AT HAth at 5% (2023: 5%) per annum and secured by trading securities.

BEIRGES% (ZE =4 :5%) A%

AR 5 & EE o

vy R-ZZ-_MOF+-_A=+—H BIEFHA (iv) At 31 December 2024, none of bank loans of the covenants relating to drawn
ERIMENZHEZRTEREER (ZF down facilities had been breached (2023: $96,249,000).

— =4 :96,249,000/8T) °
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23 EHEE 23 CONTRACT LIABILITIES
—_E_MMF
2024
o
$'000
B T31)18 B 8978 WKIE Receipts in advance in respect of
—EEE — Sales of properties 139,249 134,628
—WEEE RS — Property management services 22,920 12,146
162,169 146,774
HEBRAGHNEBENSEEZEN —K Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities
XAHEFRATE - recognised are as follows:
S Property development

BETORME - NEBE A AR BENARE
T(MIERADERD) S EXTRPE

Depending on market conditions, the Group requires the customers to pay

173 52 B[R P 2 8L 2 A AL (B - B Mk 200E off the full consideration within an agreed time frame while developments
HEEHANBBEREHANBRIVE are still ongoing, rather than on the completion of the relevant properties.
BT WL ANEDR - 1o 2488 Such advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
EEeRERAERBRANERY S AL recognised throughout the remaining property development period for
M AR AEMNZTBEEBEYEZ kT the full amount of the contract price. In addition, the contract liabilities
BOEEHEZEAHANRAEIMNERPESE will be increased by the amount of interest expense being accrued by the
ABEF ST E - ARZERT B A Group to reflect the effect of any significant financing benefit obtained
MRFAEHARNENAESE Bt B from the customers during the period between the payment date and
HE R A 2 B B IR T W) 3R M0 2 6l 4 the date of delivery of property or completion of legal assignment. As this

BREEPRIEM -

accrual increases the amount of the contract liabilities during the period
of development, it therefore increases the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed property is transferred to the customer.

L4 aEEE Movements in contract liabilities

n—HA—H El’]mﬁﬁé Balance at 1 January 146,774 99,056
RENERT AN ARED Decrease in contract liabilities as a result
FARABHE u’]'é &R of recognising revenue during the
year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year (126,862) (74,998)
HKHX%%%’E&%¥ AN Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
BHEHEEEM receiving advanced payments of sales of
properties and properties management 136,073 118,257
BHREFFNEAZBHEL Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
A& accruing interest expense on advances 1,060 1,186
fEHZ% Exchange difference 5,124 3,273
WTZA=+—B8&# Balance at 31 December 162,169 146,774
T8 HA R E{éﬁﬁwﬁ’jl&)\ﬁ’] FON= The amount of contract liabilities expected to be recognised as income
&4 % ,t'j 7 014,000/ T (Z B = =4 : after more than one year is $7,014,000 (2023: $44,646,000).

44,646,000/87T) °
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24 HEAE 24 LEASE LIABILITIES
RBEHR A5BHEEBENTESKRE The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the
AfE AR AT Group’s lease liabilities at the end of reporting periods:
—EoME —E-=F
2024 2023
BEHEANAE HBEAENTLEE ZERENFRE HEEEN
Present value Present value
of the minimum Total minimum of the minimum Total minimum
lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments
Fr T T Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
—FR Within 1 year 5,825 1,816 6,072 8,034
—FHBEMER After 1 year but within 2 years 5,843 7,460 3,122 4,864
MERERLER After 2 years but within 5 years 11,875 14,906 10,156 14,048
hFkE After 5 years 11,034 11,588 15,668 17,009
e . SR 28946 ...

34,577 41,770 35,018 43,955

B RTINS Less: total future interest
HEeE expenses (7,193) (8,937)
HERERE Present value of lease liabilities 34,577 35,018

25 RELZEURKRDAEERMN 25 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

X%

(a) B MEE (a) New Share Option Scheme
RATRY —IEFBRESE (5 The Company has a new share option scheme (the “New Share
BRESTE) - ZErERBEAQA Option Scheme”) which was adopted pursuant to an ordinary
RZEZZFAAANBRERITZBRE resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the Company
RERE LiliR s EBRERERM - held on 8 June 2022. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no share
RZB_OER T _=F+_H option was granted by the Company pursuant to the new Share
=t+—H AR T ERIBEFER Option Scheme.

RERT I h BB R -



TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024 249

e MR
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

26 A& - REERKRE 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(a) EFAKBLHNES (a) Movements in components of equity
REBGRE#ERSHEKE D NED The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
REKREHZENHERENGE - each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the
mBERK - ARARFYEFLHE consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes
MERE=AK DD MEBFIESH in the Company’s individual components of equity between the
FIGATR - beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

BTkt
TRRES
ROEE EENRE EiRE  REEN
Reserve
arising

from
Share Share issuance Capital  Retained
capital  premium  of PCSs reserve profits
Tr T T T Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

WZB==%-A-8H Balance at 1 January 2023
E3 141273 1,952,155 11,655 29310 2,960,091 5,094,484
CECCERREEY: Changes in equity for 2023;
EERfRzANRESE Profit and total comprehensive income for
the year - - - - 106,345 106,345
BRI RE KA RER Share options and awarded shares forfeited
REIR I and lapsed - - - (9310 29310 -
TEEHENRE (H260))  Dividend approved in respect of the previous
year (Note 26(b)) - - - - (15,291) (15,291)
M=Z-=%+=-B=+-HR Balance at 31 December 2023 and 1
ZECME-A-BiEEH January 2024 141,273 1,952,155 11,655 - 3,080,455 5,185,538
“ECMEEREE: Changes in equity for 2024:
FERERZANEES Loss and total comprehensive income for
the year - - - - (49,989)  (49,989)

M-ZZ-M&E+-F=1+-H Balance at 31 December 2024
i 141,273 1,952,155 11,655 - 3,030,466 5,135,549
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26 A& - RERRE @ 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(b) BRE (b) Dividend
F B R 2 R ERFEE Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company and
IE B A 2= IR R ok A [ holders of PCSs attributable to the previous financial year, approved
f& 7 Z B AR S and paid during the year

F R R 2 EE Final dividend in respect of the

HEEZ RAK B previous financial year, approved
AR & TRk A AT #R and paid during the year, of Nil cent
BEHFZBN (=== (2023: 1 cent) per ordinary share
F 1D and per unit of PCSs - 15,291
() B (c) Share capital
PN
The Company
—E-mE —To=&
2024 2023
BB EE &8 Win 28 S5
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
T Fr T Fir
‘000 $'000 '000 $'000
EE Authorised:
BREE.10/5T
g mR Ordinary shares of $0.10 each 5,000,000 500,000 5,000,000 500,000
ERTRBEN Ordinary shares, issued and
ZER: fully paid:
KR—A—B&K At 1 January and at 31 December
+=-—A=+—H 1,412,733 141,273 1,412,733 141,273
TERRFEAGERARAEIRE £ The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per share at
RERBROE—F - TBREKA meetings of the Company. The holders of ordinary shares and PCSs
KB AR E HIFE A E R are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time. All
BHEROKRE -HARTHNBRTE ordinary shares and PCSs rank equally with regard to the Company’s
EfME A TBREKARRA residual assets.

BEREFHZERERFMA
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26 BA& - REERKRE @
d BEEERARZ

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

IR 10 % B

Bfn et (B Bk B 2 BF & R BDA
REE ARARARMAEREKR
X7k SR AR B E A
RPN TS EIRES e
B)BARMNEER -

BRIFERREASN D IKRERE
ERARARARBAXMNNAE
EBPAHNER TR
B AR R ERAMERBRER
SO IR

BXRRE
EXARFBIERRBEAARES
P R 1% R ) A 0 R R AT R 8 Ak
HE AR B P B 2(u)(ii) P A DA B £
AR RE & 5T B R B
MAORHBAHRAREE -

R

EN FReRaEgINRTM
BmAMELNMAELZH -
ZFEERIEM T2y EHE
FHERRERIE ©

REEE B
TEAERBRE —RERE
AEBBRFERIEAERSER ©

—REEH

—REETA DK BEREZ
FHAREESRETENL
HEDERIMEARETE - — R
BRINER AP &R A
AR SH RAHE R MIBIE A o
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26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands and may be applied by the Company
subject to the provisions, if any, of its memorandum and
articles of association in paying distributions or dividends to
equity shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account unless
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able to
pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve mainly comprises the portion of the grant
date fair value of awarded shares and unexercised share
options granted to employees of the Company that has been
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in Note 2(u)(ii).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(y).

PRC statutory reserves

PRC statutory reserves include general reserve, statutory surplus
reserve and statutory public welfare fund.

General reserve

The general reserve is non-distributable and the transfer to this
reserve is determined by the board of directors in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations of Chinese Mainland.
This reserve can be used to offset accumulated losses and
increase capital upon approval from the relevant authorities.
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26 BRA& - EERBE G
(d) FERMER MRS

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

é:a
E

oA E 1R (4
ETE BRI
BEFRBEARE  AEBBHF
B A B AR CREEINE
TE)BEHEEI0%NGRHEEER
FRBEPRE e EREE) &
NEERBGBFREE BEE%FEE
EHEZHFMELRNS0% A
IF-BREZEBERRRRE
2 AR BRTHETT o

)
1)

FEERE A RREHEAESF
EREE (nE)  LAE6
RIRRIRA KA L ) ) B 2 AT
R 4D 3 IE AR IR B Bl AT Ak
MEEERSRAR T
BREBKIBLINEMEARN
25% °

VIRE L
MEBHFHHBD TRL LR
B E2() TSt R E I -

BITRKATRBRESZFMEEN
f#1E

BT KA MRBSMEER
HERNBTFERERRGEER
BE Rt %EEA)DL%@%RT
BB HEBITHRMD -
TN E+=ZRA=+— EI Z
R %I £ % A 11,655,280
BIL(ZZFEZ=%F : 11,655,280
BT) Al IREREFRRARH 0.1
7 T EER 5 116,552,800 % #7 A%

B (ZZ = =4 116,552,800
% %7 AR (D) B9 & R 1T K A Al
BREE - HE_Z_HMOK—

E_=F+_A=+—HItF
JZ - 3 oK A R R AR AR 25 B oK
AABMBESTAEALBRRE
R o

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

PRC statutory reserves (Continued)
Statutory surplus reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, Chinese Mainland
subsidiaries of the Group (excluding foreign investment
enterprises) are required to transfer 10% of their profit
after taxation, as determined under the PRC Accounting
Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of their registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distribution of a dividend to
shareholders.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to make good previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into share capital
by the issue of new shares to shareholders in proportion to
their existing shareholders or by increasing the par value of the
shares currently held by them, provided that the balance after
such issue is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Property revaluation reserve

Property revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2()).

Reserve arising from issuance of PCSs

Reserve arising from issuance of the PCSs was capitalised from
the share premium account in prior years for the purpose
of issue of new shares upon conversion of the PCSs. As at
31 December 2024, this reserve balance represented the
outstanding PCSs with the amount of $11,655,280 (2023:
$11,655,280) which are convertible into 116,552,800 new
shares (2023: 116,552,800 new shares) at conversion price of
$0.1 per share. There was no conversion to ordinary shares by
the holders of PCSs during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.
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26 BA& - REERKRE @
d) BEEERAZ®E)

(vii) H & 18
HhRFEEREETHERALE
RZEHBARZMoER
REEREFECHZZHE
BIERRHEENBEALFS
BARB BN RE R LT
ETEANGE R ERBE AT
EARIFRIA °

(e) HETDIREE

(f)

RZZE-_NFF+=—A=+—8" &K
ARIAH DR F AR A REN
EEAE(REASHESQARIEARA
AREBERRARMAGE) B
4,982,621,0008 L (ZE = =F :
5,032,610,000787T) °

EXER
AEEEREANTIERRARE
AEBEFBELEXRBOEN KM
REMEFERBBRHES  BK
RO HmIA R SEAM RO HRHE
M YHEBHRAENERREBINA
PRAREARA

AR BT RE MR RIS R R A
B DU S BOK T A
T T e R M R R LR R A
HRMERRE2 2 MREFE
S R A 40 7858 5 5 ) 9 AR
A -

—WITRES  AREIZARELE R
(MBEFERARNBEREEEB
MEDAAR) EEHEARE - Bt
ms AEEHEEFEAETSR
TEFRREMEERE HERAE -
e IR 28 (R B B R Il &%
EEMETARRE IR EEEE

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

253

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(e)

()

(vii) Other reserve

The other reserve represents the difference between the
consideration and net book value of certain subsidiaries for
the disposal of partial interests in these subsidiaries, deemed
contribution from shareholders and the amount arising
from the reorganisation to rationalise the group structure in
preparation for the listing of the Company’ shares on the Stock
Exchange in prior years.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands and the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association, was $4,982,621,000 (2023: $5,032,610,000).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in
order to fund its property development projects, provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by
total equity at the end of the reporting period. For this purpose, the
Group defines net debt as total bank loans and other borrowings,
lease liabilities, amounts due to non-controlling interests (interest-
bearing) less restricted and pledged deposits and cash and cash
equivalents.
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26 A& - RERRE @ 26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
() EXEE®) (f) Capital management (Continued)
R-ZT-_mWFE+-_A=+—8 & The Group’s gearing ratio at 31 December 2024 was as follows:
SEMABRLENT

REEE Current liabilities
RTERREMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 2,659,573 3,305,907
HEBE Lease liabilities 5,825 6,072
JE A SR AR 4 %5 SR IE Amounts due to non-controlling interests 58,892 71,933
2,724,290 3,383,912
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
RITERREMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 3,820,770 3,948,400
HEBE Lease liabilities 28,752 28,946
O .= S 3.977,346
BEHH Total borrowings 6,573,812 7,361,258
o FRH MEEEER  Less: Restricted and pledged deposits (1,379,837) (1,525,775)
RehReEEEE Cash and cash equivalents (376,867) (665,194)
BB EE Net debt 4,817,108 5,170,289
ERAE Total equity 6,024,844 8,123,162

EELE Gearing ratio 80.0% 63.6%




REMBHRRME

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024 255

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

27 B EAKBEENREAMIE 27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

RREE VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AEEREEXBBIEFERER R Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the
FES  FEREBRERR ANEBIEE normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to
RERANERE 2 EBMERERNER equity price risk arising from movements in its own equity share price.
[BLBg o

AEERASHEHERBREASERE The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
32 b %5 R B T ER AR O B S L B B IR R policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
RAEHIER T e described below.

() EREAR (a) Credit risk

ERARBEXZHFTEREGH
EEEHASEMBERNRR
AEENERARRIZRNRES R
H Al U IR - AL EFTH RIER
EREE  THEEEMARNE
RER ~NEERREMREEFE
HEMAENERRRBR L))
HRRZEUF T RAEERSESR
A5 AR /IR 1T M B o

W E 5 MR K H Ath FE WK IR
AEEZEERE2HERERER
(ERBEERAE) NERAER
WEZERFEBERE ARAEE
BECABRELRIARBTITIRAET
Fo@eEEEAEErmR - Bit -
PAZEL HRR 0 4E e B 1R R I I
AEBTRAEFPEELE—TAD -

5 12 4 75 B A 4R L B D 0 £
LR 8 M 2 5 85 20T 0 42 AR S U
BB R -

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Group maintains a defined credit policy and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk.

Trade debtors and other debtors

The Group measures loss allowances for trade debtors at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure
to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors:

BHI 1 FLAR Within 1 year past due
BRI 1 F Over 1 year past due

—Z-MOmF
2024

AHEER fREAE BERE
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T T
$°000 $°000
3.00% 53,044 1,591
100.00% 16,072 16,072

69,116 17,663
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27 B EAKBEENRESAMIE 27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

NAREBEE® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) EHER %) (a) Credit risk (Continued)

FE Uk B 5 B % EL A B WORR R ()

Trade debtors and other debtors (Continued)

—E =4
2023

TR A 1A ARE4AE E R
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T Tt
$'000 $'000
#HEF 1 F AR Within 1 year past due 4.49% 59,275 2,663
mEEBEF Over 1 year past due 100.00% 11,428 11,428
70,703 14,091

BHRERETIREARENERE
BRREDL RFLETLABUR
BR UK 5% 38 1 B HA R R A AR IR -
BB AR R A5 B 8 R Y s OR TR
FHANKERRNBEZRNESR -

ME=ZFRENERZEUZESE
—AEENMERREERE R
BREMR ZEERFENTRE
ARER (FERET AR BERROIER
TUEZEERNEZERER
MieE18 - 2 MIFIE I mA W
RZBE-_WOERZT=_=F+=A
=t+—BNHETTE  ANEERE
ZEEREENERARREFER
G 9 W) 3 R AR AE T R R o

SREMEUKIEMNS AKECH
EHEMBERFRETENEER
B AEEEENEBBREAEN
AT 4 A AE R B E AR
P & KERRRIES G M
RARMBENEHEREENKE
18 o AN 52 B 3t A B U R IR RE RR AR
ERN12EARRERBENERR
1 BR IR E M B UG IR A 15 A LR
B ERREEIE N Rt BER
T EBERBRFEZREAER2HBEME
REBENSETE

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience of the Group.
These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

The loans to the third parties are fully secured by properties and
equity interests held by the third parties. The maximum exposure to
credit risk in respect of the loans at the end of the reporting period,
without taking into account the collateral, and the key terms of
the loans are disclosed in Note 18. The Group considers that the
credit risk arising from the loans is significantly mitigated by the
properties and equity interests held as collateral, with reference to
the estimated market value of the properties at 31 December 2024
and 2023.

For other debtors, regular review and follow-up actions are carried
out on long-aged other receivables, which enable management to
assess their recoverability and to minimise exposure to credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The Group recognises a loss allowance on other
debtors equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the other debtors since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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27 IRk EEREMIA

NAEEE

(a) EHER @)
FE UK & 55 B 2 L 4t B U k0 (/)
R BT 3 20 B 85 ey 75 45 B 4 1 M BT 7S
HE AR O » 7S £ (B0 4 42 4 4 4] L 4
A B {6 A S A R R 15 R LR A0 9
1R o 2% B IS PR AR R 3Rk HART 4
BRBAEARBRNHE 20 b -

FAEME SRR E M B W RIR
RERRERESHIT

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade debtors and other debtors (Continued)

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group as set out in
Note 29, the Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk. The maximum exposure to
credit risk in respect of these financial guarantees at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in Note 29.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade debtors
and other debtors during the year is as follows:

R—A—Hr&EH% Balance at 1 January 131,042 70,379
FREERBAERERE  Reversal of impairment losses recognised

during the year (6,160) (4,683)
FREBRBERBE Impairment losses recognised during the year 4,094 89,908
EHZ% Exchange difference (552) (24,562)
R+ZHA=+—H&#%  Balance at 31 December 128,424 131,042

(b) RBEZER
AEEETHEBMBARART
BREERSEREE (BREKEE
FAmE MRS HFR) - HEARF
ARREFENHAE - AEB R
RREPERRERLRBERRDES
FREERBTEREZ  BRE
FERREHEARTIZSREE
AHREHAMEAEE  UWEME
RARBRERRDHESF L -EF
EEMEEEREZAKERESR
ERA - ZERARER _T_OF
t-A=t—REEL+_EAH
- B S ERECE T 51 8 R g 3t (3]
BRMIEE20)) B RBE S ES
b B H B AR ©

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible for their
own cash management, including the raising of loans to cover the
expected cash demands, subject to approval by the Company’s
board of directors. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The
directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared
by management, which covers a period of at least 12 months from
31 December 2024. Certain plans and measures have been or will
be taken as disclosed in Note 2(b) to mitigate the liquidity pressures
and to improve its financial position.
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities,
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

—ECmE
2024
BNRBRRERE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BE-F BRMEF

—FA5

Within

1 year or
on demand
Tr

$'000

BORME
More than
1 year but

less than
2 years
T
$'000

BOREEF
More than
2 years but
less than

5 years
T

$'000

HBRE

More than
5 years
T

$'000

REE

Carrying
amount
Tr
$'000

FITEHRK Bank loans and other
HifEE borrowings 2,702,316 627,804 2,518,229 1,445,194 7,293,543 6,480,343
HEERE Lease liabilities 7,816 7,460 14,906 11,588 41,770 34,577
BHREM Trade and other
FERTIR payables 1,329,642 88,705 - - 1,418,347 1,418,347
4,039,774 723,969 2,533,135 1,456,782 8,753,660 7,933,267

— 5t
EEX

Within

1 year or
on demand
T

$'000

BROARBHA DR

—T-=F

2023

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BB
BLRME
More than

1 year but
less than

2 years
T

$'000

RiE M F

More than
2 years but
less than

5 years
Tr
$'000

p el

More than
5 years
T
$'000

REE

Carrying
amount
T
$'000

BTERK Bank loans and other
HifAE borrowings 3,450,562 940,500 2,895,356 884,887 8,171,305 7,254,307
HEEE Lease liabilities 8,034 4,864 14,048 17,009 43,955 35,018
BHREM Trade and other
AN payables 1,330,517 89,316 - - 1,419,833 1,419,833
4,789,113 1,034,680 2,909,404 901,896 9,635,093 8,709,158
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27 B EAKBEENREAMIE 27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

AREE® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
() FIEmEM (c) Interest rate risk
F & [\ B 7% BB 5 T 45 I R & B) i o Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of
HemIAMNAARBEEIKRKRE a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
MERB M ER - NEBFF R interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
RXFERNReAREEEHEAR - cash and cash equivalents, restricted and pledged deposits and
XBRGREERFRRZEMEE - borrowings issued at variable rates. The Group’s interest rate profile
EEEEBE 2 AEEFXERER as monitored by management is set out in (i) below.
() e
(i) FEHR (i) Interest rate profile
“E-MEF ==
2024 2023
BRI BB ntE
FIGF R % FHFIE %
Effective Effective
weighted weighted
average average
interest interest
rate % 1 rate %
EEFEEE Fixed rate borrowings:
HE&E Lease liabilities 6.77% 34,577 6.51% 35,018
RITERR Bank loans and other
Hihfg & borrowings 8.30% 899,131 7.93% 1,284,366
933,708 1,319,384
TR EEE Variable rate borrowings:
RITEF K HEAM  Bank loans and other
BE borrowings 5.23% 5,581,212 5.84% 5,969,941
ME=FREEF  Loans to third parties - 3.76% (201,812)
___________________________________________________________________ 5581212 5768129
BEFE Net borrowings 6,514,920 7,087,513
AEBEBH RekBReEE The Group does not anticipate significant impact to cash and
IEE l«X&%ﬁE%U&EﬁﬁT%‘K cash equivalents and the restricted and pledged deposits
EXINEATE REARHE because the interest rates of bank deposits are not expected to
,Hﬂﬁﬂ TERFETg HIRAE change significantly.
ERAEERNRITERREM The interest rates and terms of repayment of bank loans and
%gﬂﬁﬁiﬁ%’\,ﬁﬁﬁéMﬁI 224 other borrowings of the Group are disclosed in Note 22. The
o 7N 55 [ NI 48 £R R AE ] ¥ Group does not carry out any hedging activities to manage its

Ta e 3R BRI 2% [ g o interest rate exposure.
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M RERE (&
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BB EREREBLEA T
FE100EE 2 AEBHKRH
BEBRRBREAERERME
EF TR mMARRR A, 1S
4951,343,000 8 L (Z T ==
£ 47,412,000 7T) °

ERFREDTRT  HRA
SENREREERRFENZE
ERTATAMELMNRER
ENERRGNE  HAKEHN
BIRREE (RREEN) T
B RN EREBCHMEMX
FBANFEERE - DR
T FLAARIERETT -

(d) E¥ER

AEEETRAREERHHETE
MET BEABOIRSAARE
TAR®DEE ARAEERS
BAmHRERE T —RRTHEHA
XARBRITERREMBEBEEASET
(ZExR)HAETHE HAKEER
e AR 38 T IE X% B 5| A Sh
BRI ARBTAIBEAR
BRINE MBS AR LERIH
WA P B N IR T 28 46 B SME B
3R B SR BIR R -

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(i) Sensitivity analysis
At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/increase the Group'’s
loss after tax and retained profits by approximately $51,343,000
(2023: $47,412,000) in response to the general increase/
decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates that in respect of the
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating
rate non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end
of the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s loss after
tax (and retained profits) is estimated as an annualised impact
on interest expense or income of such a change in interest
rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2023.

(d) Currency risk

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in
Chinese Mainland with most of the transactions denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB"). The Group is exposed to foreign currency
risk arising from the exposure of RMB against HKD as a result of
its investment in Chinese Mainland and the settlement of certain
general and administrative expenses and bank loans and other
borrowings in United States dollars (“USD") or HKD. In addition,
RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies and the
conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to rules and
regulations of the foreign exchange control promulgated by the
Chinese Mainland government.
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27 B EREEBEREM I A
AREE®
(d) E¥E &)
() EwEB
THRENREREPEEER
B A 4 (B /R LA B BB AE AR Th AL
AN BN D R A A
HEBEMAZHEERR - 5
2HIME  FAZEKRSEN
BILAIR WA S RE M
GEAMEHERRE -

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)
(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of
each reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised
assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For
presentation purpose, the amounts of the exposure are shown
in HKD, translated using the spot rate at the end of each
reporting period.

Re - BREMERZERER Cash, restricted and pledged deposits 1,442 6,079
RITERKEMEE Bank loans and other borrowings (737,533) =

DHEREENBEELNEER  Gross exposure arising from recognised assets
and liabilities (736,091) 6,079
B NI S BB T E RS  Less: Recognised assets and liabilities

R AETFHERNE denominated in USD recognised in the
REERBE M) entities with the functional currency in
HKD (note) 736,643 -
552 6,079

Be - REMEREERFR Cash, restricted and pledged deposits 1,077 9,454
RITERLHEMEER Bank loans and other borrowings (979,224) -

EHREENRBEELENELER Gross exposure arising from recognised assets
and liabilities (978,147) 9,454
o AT E M A TR EEE R Less: Recognised assets and liabilities

b
=
REAETHERNE

i
EREENBE (M)

denominated in USD recognised in the
entities with the functional currency in
HKD (note) 978,147 -

- 9,454

MiE REXRTHEMERNERT
BT g HB TR 2 H AR
BERELABATE -

Note: It is assumed that the pegged rate between HKD and USD would be
materially unaffected by any changes in movement in value of USD
against other currencies.
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group’s loss before tax that would arise if foreign exchange
rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of the reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant.

—E-EF
2024
SMNEE B %= $BRBE AT P FE == HERDLA
EH (R ) BENEE  H (TR BIENTE
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in foreign Effect on loss in foreign Effect on loss
exchange rates before tax exchange rates before tax
T Tt
$'000 $'000
5% (28) 5% -
(5%) 28 (5%) -
5% (304) 5% (473)
(5%) 304 (5%) 473

SNESRE DT HRIBAEE
RS B He = B0 E R ROF
BERPTEALERITEN
ABTHARENIFTEALE
BEANEITAETEXEY
5%) $RRT AT B R AT E -
WD BB SN R 1 B 75 3
RBERAEEZ2EEME
HERER -

The foreign currency sensitivity analysis is calculated based on
the major net foreign currency exposure of the Group as at the
reporting date, assuming 5% change of HKD held by Chinese
Mainland entities against RMB and USD held by non-Chinese
Mainland entities against HKD on the loss before tax and
excludes differences that would result from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency.
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BAEMEREREEAEERY
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity
investments held for trading and non-trading purposes (see Note
16). Other than unquoted securities held for strategic purposes,
all of these investments are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong. Decisions to buy or sell trading securities are based
on daily monitoring of the performance of individual securities
compared to that of the Index and other industry indicators, as well
as the Group’s liquidity needs. The portfolio is diversified in terms of
industry distribution, in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

All of the Group’s unquoted investments are held for long
term strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed against
performance of similar listed entities, based on the limited
information available to the Group, together with an assessment of
their relevance to the Group’s long term strategic plans.



264 FEEBREEERAT T _NFH

frE MR
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(RS AHEHEIN

LAETTAIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

27 B ERE

ErE€mIA

N AEE
(e) BRAEBHEE (&)

()

R-Z_OFE+-_A=+—H " f

FRERMEBBERTE  Hit L™
KA Eﬁﬂﬁ%‘%ﬁ%?‘é%@i#tﬁ
REAMELRETARTREE L

Ft/ (FF)5% (ZZE=-=%:5%)
(wmEm)  AleBEHAEEKRIEE
18 (R ARE%HF)) #hn, mAanT

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that an increase/(decrease)
of 5% (2023: 5%) in the relevant stock market index (for listed
investments) or the price/earning ratios of comparable listed
companies (for unquoted investments) as applicable, with all other
variables held constant, would have increased/decreased the Group’s
loss after tax (and retained profits) as follows:

—E-=%
2023

HFRIE
BiENYEe
Effect on Effect on
loss after loss after
tax tax
T Tt
$°000 $'000

—E-lmEF
2024
HEBRB%
BRI

A B IR B AR R B Change in the relevant
BENRE equity price risk variable:

Syl Increase 5% (3.126) 5% (3,260)
D Decrease (5%) 3,126 (5%) 3,260
BRESMET BREXBEHABLE The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in the
H B IR T 5 5 sk H {th 45 A = B Group's loss after tax (and retained profits) that would arise assuming

BEEREY MRESEPANE
MAEAEERN RS HHEEEER

< B aHERAESRRNS
BITEAMSIBAKRERREER (X
REEHN) RIS HEEAE R
FHES AERKAKTERNEE
MRAREE/REABEKREMSE
23 AE B R e B0 R R AR B R MR
mE  BFEHMEERFTE -

R =FEMNMIRAREEETT -

BRAABEUINIIRE S B
BEEREEANEE
AEEERARBHERAT RN S
BEENBEER@E BER_F
TMERE_=ZF+-A=1+—
BHAREBEELTESERER -

(f)

that the changes in the stock market index or other relevant risk
variables had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end of the
reporting period. It is also assumed that the fair values of the Group’s
equity investments would change in accordance with the historical
correlation with the relevant stock market index or the relevant risk
variables, and that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2023.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(g) Fair value measurement

(@

Fair value hierarchy

HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement, requires the fair value
of the Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations:

Level 2 valuations:

Level 3 valuations:

Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities at the measurement date

Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not available

Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs
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27 B EAKBEENRESAMIE 27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

RREE® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(9) AAREEGE @) (g9) Fair value measurement (Continued)

() 2AREESHRGE)
RETESRBT A R4 EE
BB T NEE—BMIBERE
REMTR(BEIBRAAR
BESHREIFNHIFLTRA
Er)ETHE R BELE
BEERMNERMBERS - #A
ARBEAEEHHOMNMEE
REDHPBERER SRR
FEREEHRE LAEF
B175 B B|BI R HLfE

Fair value at
31 December
2024
r

(@

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group has a finance manager performing valuations for
the financial instruments, including unlisted equity securities
which are categorised into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy,
with the assistance of external valuers for certain financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the chief
financial officer. A valuation report with analysis of changes
in fair value measurement is prepared by the finance manager
at each interim and annual reporting date, and reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer.

RZE-ME+-A=1-H +-4 s £+-B=1-H
MEEHELER =iF=f B

Fair value measurements MALEE Fair value measurements

as at 31 December 2024 categorised into  Fair value at a5 at 31 December 2023 categorised into
F14 EPE #3831 December L 28 38

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Tr Tr Tr T T T T

$'000

BEMAREE  Recurring fair value

§'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 §'000 §'000 §'000

e measurements

BE: Assets:
~EWE=HFE - Receivables from the third

parties 1,093,742 - - 1093742 1138422 - - 1138422
—FEETRAES - Unlsted equity securities 38,486 - - 38,486 38,857 - - 38,857
-R5ER - Trading securities 24,897 24,897 - - 27,560 27,560 - -
-EB¥ER - Wealth management

products 1,018 - 1,018 - 814 - 814 -

1,158,143 24,897 1018 1,132,228 1,205,653 27,560 814 1,177,279

BEZT-_NMER-T=_=F
+—_A=+—BLEEE %1
BRE2H 2 EWEET - T
REEIROE ALEH - K
SEMNBRERARELERRS
HREAEBENARBESRZ
A E«Jﬁ;%& °©

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of
the reporting period in which they occurred.
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(g) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of wealth management products is the
estimated amount that the Group would receive to sale wealth
management products at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account current interest rates.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

The fair value of receivables from the third parties is determined
using future estimated cash flows to be recovered which takes
into account projects progress presumed or operation forecast
and discount rate is 12% (2023: 12%) based on the average
borrowing cost plus a risk premium of the Group or weighted
average cost of capital relating to the specific business. The
future estimated cash flows reflect potential impacts of
adjustments on the projects’ capacity building areas, land use
index and tax related compensation, etc.

The fair value of unlisted equity instruments was determined
using the price/earning ratios of comparable listed companies
adjusted for lack of marketability discount, of which the fair
value measurement is negatively correlated to the discount for
lack of marketability.

The movement during the year in the balance of Level 3 fair
value measurements is as follows:

w—A—H At 1 January 1,177,279 1,310,980
RiBmP RN FEE Net loss recognised in profit or loss (6,691) (98,575)
PE N E%E Exchange difference (38,360) (35,126)
R+=Z—A=+—H At 31 December 1,132,228 1,177,279
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28 BARKIE
R+ A=+—"HARABITEARAEKEH
B RMR N B ENEA AT ¢

28

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December not provided for in the
Group's financial statements were as follows:

BET4 Contracted for 44,708 60,052
BEEREERTLH Authorised but not contracted for = 164,753
44,708 224,805

BAFREIEEASEHERPYENSR
RAXRAEEERBOKBRAFRE

29 AREBE
AEBAETRITHRAESEMEE R
AV ZEBERMEKB L 2iREmME RHE
R - IREBERIES  MZEEHHERIE
B AAEEBEEEEEHREN
MIZBEFEREZENE A XFRITHE
MEETFIEREI € -  AEBMERIH
HERBERRL AL EZ2EXRWN
SRAREMBEEERERBHEER
BERUAREERE)RAIL -

29

Capital commitments mainly related to development expenditure for the
Group's properties under development and acquisition cost of the Group’s
projects.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans entered into
by purchasers of the Group's properties. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty owned by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks. The Group’s guarantee period
commences from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans
and ends upon the earlier of the buyer obtained the individual property
ownership certificate and the full settlement of mortgage loans by the
buyer.
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29 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

The maximum amounts of guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to the purchasers of the Group’s properties at the end of
each reporting period is as follows:

MALEEYWEERERNILIE  Guarantees given to financial institutions
EREE MRS mgEED for mortgage loan facilities granted to
R purchasers of the Group's properties 164,487 242,297

EEZRR ARAKEAREMEBYE
MAFBERYLERBYE  ARBAE
BRRTXNNEAESE BHAKHE
TARAERAZEERMERZEBE - AR
AEFNTRA HWETEREERITNK -
AR XM A FmEE WA KB
EROKREZBER -

HRARAEERRAFERZIANE
BEE  BWARKREL R % FERER
EEEWA -

The directors consider that it is not probable that the Group will sustain a
loss under these guarantees as the Group can take over the ownerships of
the related properties and sell the properties to recover any amounts paid
by the Group to the banks. The directors of the Company also consider
that the fair market value of the underlying properties is able to cover the
outstanding mortgage loans guaranteed by the Group in the event the
purchasers default payments to the banks.

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect of these
guarantees as its fair value is considered to be minimal by the directors of
the Company.
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30 EXNEBARS 30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
@ RUBHREAHGBEHHEENRZS (@) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
RAEEERIN  REBFERNERTIL T 5 the financial statements, major related party transactions entered by
E-PNEE R the Group during the year are follows:

FER R R A B A Interest expenses to shareholders (i) 81,537 84,424
JiE Ui Bt 2 R R) I B Interest income from associates (i) 3,777 7,141
JEN & &R EHA Interest income from joint ventures (iii) = 5,282
Bt 5 Notes:
(i) BEEIRRFSFAIUEEFFEI1% (i) Interest expenses to shareholders were charged at a fixed interest rate of
(ZZZ=F : 11%)atE - 11% (2023: 11%) per annum.
(i)  FEMEE R RN B WANRERT A (i) Interest income from associates was charged at Prime rate minus 2% per
2% (ZZEZ=F : RREBFHNE annum (2023: Prime rate minus 2% per annum), whereas Prime rate is the
2%)ETE - M EERNESELR HSBC Best Lending Rate.

TREBERFEX -

iy RZTZ=F EREZLEFNIWK (i) Interest income from joint ventures was charged at 15% per annum in 2023.
AAFE15%5HE -

by EEZEBAENEH BRERES (b) Remuneration of key management personnel, including amounts
XATHIFRIE (R E 9B BR) A A paid to the directors as disclosed in Note 9 and certain of the highest
ETEeFRERERRREREEXN paid employees and senior management as disclosed in Note 10, is
BRIEMN T (R EE 108 ER) - as follows:

EEEEREN Short-term employee benefits 11,107 14,591
B A2 12 T Post-employment benefits 54 54
11,161 14,645

HMNRBAEIE TRA] (K Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note 7(b)).

7(b)) °
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31 R FEE MBI ER

31 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

=t £ 373
+t=A=t+-8

31 December

2024
T
$'000

31 December
2023

FT

$'000

EREBEE Non-current assets
RETB A RHRE Investments in subsidiaries 210,748 210,748
W WEREE Property, plant and equipment 828 828
211,576 211,576
REEE Current assets
o pE U R IE Other receivables 12,517,422 12,524,614
HthemEE Other financial assets 26,772 29,581
Be e EEE Cash and cash equivalents 35,525 72,876
12,579,719 12,627,071
REBEE Current liabilities
WOTERRAMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 338,241 922,733
H fth < FRIE Other payables 7,317,505 6,730,376
____________________________________________ 7,655,746 7,653,109
_RBEERE  Netcurentassets 4923973 4,973,962
HEERRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 5,135,549 5,185,538
EEFE NET ASSETS 5,135,549 5,185,538
BRARFE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 26(a)
& < Share capital 141,273 141,273
G Reserves 4,994,276 5,044,265
EReH TOTAL EQUITY 5,135,549 5,185,538
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NEEHREEFIANREBEZ_-ZF 32 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

—WmE+-_A=+—HIEF STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
EAEMRMNEE - MER KRR BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
BURELENTE 31 DECEMBER 2024

HEZSWHHERTZEAE  S5T:6m Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
AEEEMETREBEE-_S-_NF+= issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not yet
A=+—RLEFERRERERZEHM effective for the year ended 31 December 2024 and which have not been
BRERLERMNOE T RSB E adopted in these financial statements. These developments include the
Bl o ZE R BT 5 Al 42 B A & E 45 following which may be relevant to the Group.

BARE T AT R o

RTSBE#HH 2%
RN e B EXR
Effective for accounting
periods beginning
on or after
ERGHEAENFUER)  EFEEG o PE S FHE —ZE-RF—-H—H
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates 1 January 2025
— Lack of exchangeability
EBUBRELANFIRUETRN) 2B T ARBEHBREENZ 75 2HTA - —EZRF—-H—H
HEE— 2B T AR SR E (EETA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Financial instruments and HKFRS 7, Financial instruments: 1 January 2026
disclosures — Amendments to the classification and measurement of financial instruments
HEBUBRELEA S ENNFREBE-F NS ZEZRXF—HA—8
Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 1 January 2026
EARMGRELRNENST - HHHREXZ ZIRFE e e
HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements 1 January 2027
BEAMGRELRNENW  HLNRZAEENE L] - H#EE —E_+F—H—H
HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures 1 January 2027
AEEFFHZEERBEHEERER The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact
MM E - BIBERI AL  RA%SE of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial application.
BAITAAREHGE RV BRRELEX So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
re- significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.



LEMBERE

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024 273

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

HET-A=+-HLFE

For the year ended 31 December

—E-NE —E-=F —E-C —E—F
2024 2023 2022 2021
T T T T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
A Revenue 1,369,285 954,319 3,667,163 638,957 575,051
BEEMA Direct costs (1,486,059)  (1,208,094)  (3,072,932) (318,788) (313,922)
£ /A Gross (loss)/profit (116,774) (253,775) 594,231 320,169 261,129
REMERSEAEE  Valuation (losses)/gains on investment
HENRENED properties and investment properties
HE(FE) classified as held for sale (1,195,925) 14,376 (23,019) 202,341 (77,944)
Hp A Other revenue 99,642 158,795 169,689 175,544 139,945
Hit (F598) /WaF8E  Other net (loss)income (173,145) (39,695) (3,768) 218,551 48,742
HEREHEAX Selling and marketing expenses (257,583) (76,519) (155,425) (82,825) (76,898)
THREY Administrative expenses (197,822) (176,820) (258,101) (332,774) (310,126)
BHREMPEWFIAR  Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment loss)
REFERE/ on trade and other receivables
(REE#R) 2,066 (85,225) (34,843) (9,477) (18,527)
REEBEEN (Loss)/profit from operations
(F1R) /B7 (1,839,541) (458,863) 288,764 491,529 (33,679)
BAKA Finance costs (303,166) (319,999) (324,257) (294,547) (301,811)
[ELE & AR BE Share of losses of associates (4,149) (57,615) (22,234) (1,997) (2,122)
EIEAECEEE Share of losses of joint ventures = - (15,299) (7,397) (8,992)
BRBLAT(B5B) /B (Loss)/profit before taxation (2,146,856) (836,477) (73,026) 187,588 (346,604)
FriEH Income tax 250,237 (63,853) (110,615) (140,874) (20,932)
FE(FR) /BF (Loss)/profit for the year (1,896,619) (900,330) (183,641) 46,714 (367,536)
BT ALER: Attributable to:
ADFERBERAKA  Equity shareholders of the Company and
AREESFFEA holders of PCSs (2,023,465) (876,893) (185,099) 33,432 (283,258)
FIER S Non-controlling interests (74,853) (23,437) 1,458 13,282 (84,278)
EE (BB /BA (Loss)/profit for the year (2,098,318) (900,330) (183,641) 46,714 (367,536)
EREX(BE)/ Basic (loss)/earnings per share ($)
BF (%) (1.20) (0.57) (0.12) 0.02 (0.19)
ShEE (58)/ Diluted (loss)/earnings per share ($)
B (x) (1.20) (0.57) 0.12) 0.02 (0.19)
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mERXEWER CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

HET-A=+-HLFE

For the year ended 31 December

—ECME —T-=F T —T-—F
2024 2023 2022 2021
T T T T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
EE(FR) /BF (Loss)/profit for the year (1,896,619) (900,330) (183,641) 46,714 (367,536)
FEHM2EKE (BB Other comprehensive income for the
REHLERRR) year (after tax and reclassification
adjustments)
A#BETEEF7IEZ  Items that will not be reclassified
BmaEg - subsequently to profit or loss:
REME - BERE Surplus on revaluation of property, plant
REEERRENE and equipment upon change of use to
LEMERES investment properties 11,007 9,365 - 5,619 -
HREEERIREME  Deferred tax liability arising on revaluation
MEREFEER gain on change of use to investment
BEERIEAR properties (2,752) (2,342) - (1,405) -
AR EF AT ltems that may be reclassified subsequently
BwaEA to profit or loss:
ﬁ EMBARKHREE  Exchange differences on translation of
FOBERRELN reclassified to profit or loss upon
[R%i\ disposal of subsidiaries - - (1,034) 624 26
BERINRBRARR Exchange differences on translation
AECENFBRE of financial statements of foreign
RESNELZR subsidiaries and joint ventures (209,954) (250,246) (962,243) 379,050 685,152
EEBEARREE Share of other comprehensive income
i%ﬁ']ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁlﬁ of associates and joint ventures - - - (18,461) 34,047
FEXEKRARH Total comprehensive income
for the year (2,098,318) (1,143,553) (1,146,918) 412,141 351,689
DY PN 1 Attributable to:
ARFIHERBERKA  Equity shareholders of the Company and
THRESHEEA holders of PCSs (2,023,465)  (1,116,388)  (1,137,985) 394,643 421,274
FERER Non-controlling interests (74,853) (27,165) (8,933) 17,498 (69,585)
FEXHUGRARE Total comprehensive income
for the year (2,098,318) (1,143,553) (1,146,918) 412,141 351,689
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

—Bo@E

2024
Tr
§'000

R+=A=1+-H
At 31 December
-

[

2022
T
$'000

kRBEE Non-current assets
RENE Investment properties 6,378,394 8,105,892 8,297,230 8,970,030 7,238,615
Eh%  BER Other property, plant and equipment
RfE 97,417 138,126 173,388 192,006 199,281
6,475,811 8,244,018 8,470,618 9,162,036 7,437,896
BV EE Intangible assets 3,769 3,769 3,769 3,769 3,769
S Goodwill 40,736 40,736 40,736 40,736 40,736
REE R AR R Interest in associates 3,320 158,358 186,912 5,257 7,072
RaghEnER Interest in joint ventures - - - 1,069,950 423,328
EthemEE Other financial assets 1,155,250 1,202,818 1,341,514 1,443,808 1,488,143
H Y B Other receivables - 314,675 289,997 268,023 231,761
ERFREE Deferred tax assets 125,054 112,663 83,293 87,451 85,540
7,803,940 10,077,037 10,416,839 12,081,030 9,718,245
TEBEE Current assets
FEREMALHKAK Inventories and other
contract costs 5,077,341 6,300,697 7,145,866 9,951,592 10,884,496
HEuwemEE Other financial assets 2,893 2,835 31,214 130,858 115,657
B REMEKFE Trade and other receivables 1,723,556 1,467,188 1,578,368 2,152,059 1,654,142
BAHE Prepaid tax 2,235 2,141 2,295 72,320 38,846
XEHREEATR Restricted and pledged deposits 1,379,837 1,525,775 2,057,404 2,862,004 3,046,639
Re kB EEER Cash and cash equivalents 376,867 665,194 579,975 1,077,346 1,653,196
8,562,729 9,963,830 11,395,122 16,246,179 17,392,976
PEARBELEN Investment properties classified as
BEME held for sale 250,000 - 20,679 46,600 70,657
8,812,729 9,963,830 11,415,801 16,292,779 17,463,633
FBHEE Current liabilities
B 5 REMEMNTE Trade and other payables 2,694,931 2,956,489 3,196,329 4,252,279 4,004,074
ERBE Contract liabilities 2,659,573 146,774 99,056 1,927,173 726,231
BOEHREMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 162,169 3,305,907 2,568,827 6,196,768 5,966,708
HERE Lease liabilities 5,825 6,072 10,611 7,581 21,971
ERTHIE Tax payable 189,537 206,733 269,161 217,567 168,259
ERES Bonds payable - - - 249,665 248,552
______ 5,712,035 6,621,975 6,143,984 12,851,033 11,135,795
RBRERE  Netcurrentassets 3100694 3341855 5271817 3441746 6327838
BEERTDAR Total assets less current liabilities 10,904,634 13,418,892 15,688,656 15,522,776 16,046,083
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SEMBRRE @ CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (Continued)

R+=A=+—H
At 31 December
- 113 T_=F —T-C
2024 2023 2022
ST Fr T
$'000 $'000 $'000
k= Non-current liabilities
BITEHREMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 3,820,770 3,948,400 5,097,072 3,649,180 4,495,656
HERE Lease liabilities 28,752 28,946 35,874 39,204 40,684
EEHEAE Deferred tax liabilities 1,030,268 1,318,384 1,273,704 1,464,559 1,355,501
_____________________________________________________________ AB19.790 5295730 6406650 5152943 5891841
EEFE NET ASSETS 6,024,844 8,123,162 9,282,006 10,369,833 10,154,242
BAKHE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
AR Share capital 141,273 141,273 141,273 141,273 141,273
[ Reserves 5,927,463 7,950,928 9,082,607 10,161,553 9,933,656

ARFERRERKA  Total equity attributable to equity
TERBHIEEAEL  shareholders of the Company and
ERAHE holders of PCSs 6,068,736 8,092,201 9,223,880 10,302,826 10,074,929

FERER Non-controlling interests (43,892) 30,961 58,126 67,007 79,313

R TOTAL EQUITY 6,024,844 8,123,162 9,282,006 10,369,833 10,154,242




TOP SPRING

International Holdings Limited

B ¢ 19 % 4 1 A BR 4 W)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(7% B = T Iy e A B4 ] )

Stock Code 5% : 03688

Concept, design and printing: iPRO Financial Press Limited
RETEEME B HEHNRIFRA A

Website: www.iprofpl.com
#83t : www.iprofpl.com



	COVER
	INSIDE FRONT COVER
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
	HONOURS AND AWARDS
	OVERVIEW OF OUR BUSINESS
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
	ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
	DIRECTORS’ REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
	NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	BACK COVER



